MNI3701 – GLOBAL BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

STUDY UNIT 1 – GLOBALISATION OF BUSINESS

1.1.1 OVERVIEW

The modern global business environment can best be described as volatile and chaotic, and turbulence can now be seen as the new normality. Some of the factors contributing to this turbulence are:
· The global business environment is changing fast for many reasons like: 
· The emergence of new economic blocs and super powers 
· Changing consumer preferences and demographics 
· Increased global instability 
· The changing nature of competition 
· Global terrorism 
· Increased risk of doing international business 
· New legal and trade frameworks 
· And the development of new and wireless technologies 

The globalisation of markets refers to the merging of historically distinguishable and separate national markets into one global marketplace. The globalisation of production refers to the sourcing of goods and services from locations around the globe to gain location-specific advantages in labour, resources and capital

Global business (an entrepreneurial activity that cute across international boundaries) involves all commercial activities between two countries either by private companies for profit making or government orgs but profit may not be the motive. Global commercial activities are defined as the movement of resources (raw materials, capital, people and technology), goods (half-finished and finished products), services (accounting, advertising, communications, computer and advisory services, education training) and skills (management and technical) over international borders. Changing consumer preferences is a major driver of change in global business. Globalisation refers to the shift toward a more integrated and inter-dependent world economy including the globalisation of markets and production.

Drivers of globalisation (Pg7)
Globalisation can be defined as the growing interdependence of countries worldwide through the increasing volume and variety of cross-border transactions in goods and services, as well as international capital flows. 
Developments notable for driving globalisation are the significant changes in two main areas, namely:
1. Changes in the political environment 
2. Changes in the technological environment

Changes in the political environment
The changes in the political environment can be credited with two developments:
1. The creation of global economic/trade regulatory bodies - the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) in 1947.
2. [bookmark: bookmark2]The collapse of communism.

The creation of global economic/trade regulatory bodies
Governments restricted access to their local markets by foreign competitors restricting business potential. They used tariffs and quotas to restrict imports and exports. An example was the voluntary export restraints (VER) erected by the United States against Japanese vehicle exports in 1981.
GATT was established in 1948 to prevent the reoccurrence of the devastation of World War II and to reduce protectionism. From 1948 to 1994, GATT served as the conduit through which international trade negotiations and arrangements were conducted. The kingship of GATT saw a period of unprecedented growth in international trade that translated into an improved standard of living across the globe. However, one of the inherent problems in the modus operandi of GATT was its inability to enforce trade rules - it served merely as a negotiation avenue through which trade concessions were sought and obtained. 
	
The Uruguay Round, which lasted from 1986 to 1994, eventually led to the disbandment of GATT and the creation of its successor, the World Trade Organization (WTO). The WTO officially commenced operations on 1 January 1995 under the Marrakech Agreement. Established to ameliorate the inherent weaknesses in GATT, the operational brief of the WTO now covers trade in services as well as intellectual property rights. This development has not only aided international trade and investment, but has also safeguarded the rights and privileges of entrepreneurship, innovation and invention- all that have contributed to the realization of globalisation

The collapse of communism.
Communism is an economic system in which the state owns and controls all the resources and assets of a country, including the production and distribution of goods and services. The main goal of communism was to bridge the class gap between the rich and the poor working class. The essential features of communism were:
1. The abolition of private property and the confiscation of all privately owned property that would then become public property
2. Heavy progressive or graduated income tax 
3. The abolition of all rights of inheritance
4. The confiscation of the property of all emigrants and rebels
5. The centralization of the capital market under the exclusive control of the state
6. State ownership and control of communication and all means of transportation
7. State ownership of factories and agriculture, and the full utilization of state resources
8. Absolute state control of labour, the majority of whom should be deployed to agriculture
9. Economic integration of agriculture and manufacturing, the equitable distribution of social amenities and the total eradication of rural areas
10. Free education for all children in public schools and the abolition of child labour.

The disintegration in the communist world began to unfold as Poland elected its first non-communist president in June 1989. Essentially the fall of the Berlin Wall in November 1989 and the collapse of the USSR under communist President Gorbachev in 1991. It is little surprise, then, that the collapse of the Soviet Union, the largest communist protagonist, acted as a catalyst for the spread of capitalism and the realization of trade liberalisation across the globe

Changes in the technological environment
Evidence suggests that four main components of technological innovation have contributed immensely to the global exchange of ideas and opinions, trade and investments, research and education, as well as the movement of people, products and services. These main components of technological innovation are 
1. E-mail and videoconferencing - the invention of electronic mail (e-mail) has made it much easier for multinational enterprises to communicate, transmit and share large volumes of information. Apart from the costs saved in the process, the speed at which these operations are carried out also saves much productive travel time.
2. The internet and the world wide web - the facilities enable a wider coverage for advertisers and shopping at reduced prices
3. Company intranets and extranets - this facility enables the fast distribution of a large volume of information throughout the organization saving time, cost and more efficiency of the supply chain.
4. The advances in transportation technology - these innovations facilitate long-distance travel in a very short period of time, while guaranteeing comfort and a reasonable level of safety

1.1.2 THE ROLE OF MNE’s IN GLOBALISATION (4.2-Pg13)

Firms begin their overseas adventure through different strategic entry modes. These entry modes range from contractual modes of entry, such as direct exports and licensing, through to equity modes such as strategic alliances, joint ventures or wholly owned foreign subsidiaries. 
The choice of foreign entry mode is one of the core considerations of the investing firm as it should adopt an optimum strategy that is capable of ensuring the maximum realisation of location-specific advantages. 

[bookmark: _GoBack]
The evolution from a local enterprise into a multinational one is in seven phases:
1. International enquiries and networking with regard to expansions abroad - begins when a company receives an enquiry about one of its products directly from a foreign business person or from an independent domestic exporter and importer
2. The appointment of an export manage - As a company's exports continue to expand, the executives decide that the time is ripe to take export management into their own hands so that they no longer have to rely on unsolicited enquiries from abroad. They may decide to assume a proactive rather than a reactive approach
3. The establishment of an export department or direct overseas sales - As export sales continue, the company has difficulty operating with only an export manager and small staff. A fully fledged export department is established at the same level as the domestic sales department
4. The establishment of branches and/or subsidiaries - Further growth in export sales requires the establishment of sales branches abroad to handle sales and promotional work
5. Overseas assembly of components and final products - Assembly occurs abroad for three major reasons: cheaper shipping costs for disassembled products, lower tariffs and cheaper labour.
6. Overseas manufacturing - the company has a well-developed export programme supported by country market studies, promotion and distribution programmes tailored to the needs of each country market, and research aimed at identifying new foreign markets.
7. Integration of overseas subsidiaries - The company's executives begin to view the entire world as their theatre of operations; they plan, organise, staff and control the company's international operations from a global perspective

1.1.3 BORN GLOBAL FIRMS (Pg16)

Going global on business start-up is mostly justified on the basis that the longer a firm waits to initiate international activities, the more difficult it will be to grow internationally
Some of the main factors in the success of born-global firms in international markets are the same factors that have elided the increasing internationalisation of contemporary business ventures. The vanguard of this new internationalisation process is purported to be 
· Increasingly encouraging global market conditions
· New developments in transportation and communication technologies
· The rising number of people with international business experience and expertise. 

The born-global phenomenon can be attributed to the gains of the globalisation process as well as the positive effects of the agencies of globalisation on trade liberalisation.

1.1.4 MOTIVATION FOR EXPANDING ABROAD (Pg17)

Some of the reasons why firms expand abroad include the following:
· The strategic intent of firms to achieve objectives such as increasing their sales volumes through penetration of overseas markets. 
· Firms also venture abroad to reap location-specific advantages. Firms improve profit margins by taking advantage of location-specific advantages such as relative cost structures and attractive demand levels in foreign markets.
· The theory of multipoint competition states that competitors imitate each other wherever they encounter one another in the world market this is intended to outmanoeuvre other enterprises.
· The theory of strategic behaviour reinforces the argument in support of firms following their competitors abroad. Players in an oligopolistic industry are highly dependent on the strategic actions of competitors to formulate their response patterns. If a competitor ventures abroad, others will follow suit lest they risk losing business.
· A supplier-company following its clients when they expand abroad, especially in the case of service provision. Global pressure dictates that suppliers should be closely located to their buyers or risk being substituted with a competitor. 
· A stagnant or saturated national market, or an attempt to reduce the firm's absolute dependence on the home market, coupled with the unique risk associated with the national market, are other motivators leading to international expansion

1.1.5 INTERNATIONAL TRADE THEORIES (Pg18)

The international trade theories are listed and discussed as:
1. Mercantilism.
2. Absolute advantage.
3. Comparative advantage.
4. Heckscher-Ohlin factor proportions theory of comparative advantage.
5. The Leontief paradox.
6. Product life cycle theory
7. New trade theory
8. National competitive advantage

Mercantilism 
This theory is premised on export promotion at the expense of importation. It describes the use of state power and resources to build industry, increase the surplus of exports over imports, and to accumulate stocks of precious metals. The aim was thus to ensure the state's security and prosperity. Some of the goals of mercantilist policies include: 
· Unification of state via protective tariffs and internal trade 
· Provision of sufficient revenue for the state through developing the economy 
· High employment through encouraging trade and increase in money supply 
· Accumulation of treasure and wealth through trade policy 

Absolute Advantage 
Adam Smith (1700’s) theory of absolute advantage focused on division of labour. An example would be restructuring processes such that each worker is performing only one part of a process would result in greater production output. 
This division of labour extended across countries whereby each country should specialize in one product for which it is uniquely suited. Thus, countries could produce more products in total and trade in the goods that were cheaper than those produced locally

Comparative Advantage 
David Richardo’s principles of Political Economy and Taxation (1817-23) advocates that a country produce goods that it produces efficiently and buy those it produces inefficiently. His theory is based on greater production throughout the world as well as encouraging free trade.
The basic message derived from this theory is that potential world production is greater with unrestricted free trade than it is with restricted trade. Ricardo's theory suggests that consumers in all nations can consume more if there are no trade restrictions. This occurs even in countries that lack an absolute advantage in the production of any good. 

Heckscher-Ohlin Theory 
His theory expands on the Comparative Advantage theory but is based on the availability of the factors of production and their availability. Countries should export products that use its relatively abundant factors and import products that use its relatively scarce factors intensively. 
It is not the differences in the efficiency of production that will determine trade relations between countries as they did in the classical theory where it was assumed that technology or labour productivity is different across nations. The factor-proportions theory assumes that no such differences in productivity exist between countries

The Leontief paradox 
Wassily Leontief postulated that since the United States of America (USA) was relatively abundant in capital compared with other countries, it would be an exporter of capital-intensive goods. However, he found that exports from the USA were less capital-intensive than the country's imports. Since this result was at variance with the predictions of the theory, it has become known as the Leontief paradox.





Product Life-Cycle theory 
Raymond Vernon proposed the life cycle theory I the 1960’s-the core of the theory was: 
· For most of the 20th century most of the world products have been developed and sold in USA 
· The size and wealth of the USA has created the incentive to develop new products. 
· While demand for new products grows in the USA, demand in other countries is restricted to high income groups. 
· As demand grows in other countries it becomes feasible for the USA to establish production facilities in those countries. 
· As the markets mature and become price competitive, countires might start exporting to the USA. 
· The USA switches from being an exporter to an importer. 

New Trade Theory 
Economists argued that increasing returns to specialisation may well exist in certain industries. They argued further that economies of scale represent a particular source of increased returns. However, such economies of scale may not be attainable inside the borders of a country, but rather across national borders. In essence, this implies that specialisation in the manufacture of certain goods, for which economies of scale are not achievable in a country but rather internationally, is generally reliant on government support. Aircraft manufacture, specifically large commercial airplanes, is a classic example of such an industry

National Competitive Advantage 
Porter argued that innovations are the driving and sustaining forces of competitiveness. His thesis was that four attributes of a nation shape the environment in which local firms compete and that these attributes either promote or inhibit innovation and the creation of competitive advantage, these are: 
1. Factor conditions - Porter distinguishes between basic and advanced factors in a country. Basic factor conditions comprise natural resources, climatic conditions and basic skills in the workforce, while advanced factor conditions include high-level skills in the labour force, infrastructure and advanced technologies
2. Demand conditions - relate to the degree of healthy competition the firm must face in its local market. Demand is strengthened by a strong local demand for goods and services, and the degree of sophistication of that local demand.
3. Related and supporting industries - Refers to presence or absence of suppliers and service support industries. These factors enhance competitiveness and innovation, product offerings and cost savings amongst local companies. 
4. Firm strategies, structures and rivalry - relate to the conditions in the home industry that either hinder or enhance the firm’s ability to create, organize and manage domestic and international rivalry. 





















STUDY UNIT 1.2 – THE POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT

1.2.1 OVERVIEW

The international business environment is highly complex and requires multinational enterprises to manoeuvre through a system of diverse institutional arrangements. The political systems differ, the regulations and laws governing operations change, the role of the state is different, all of which have profound implications for doing business

1.2.1 THE INTERNATIONAL POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT (Pg29)

The greater a company's level of involvement in foreign markets is, the greater is the need to monitor the political climate. An exporter that is aware of shifts in government attitude will be able to adapt export marketing strategies accordingly.
The implications of government ownership for a company marketing abroad might be that certain sectors of the foreign market are the exclusive preserve of government enterprise or that the company is obliged to sell directly to a state trading organisation. In either case, the company's influence on the market is greatly reduced. Similarly, if an exporter is seeking to establish a subsidiary in a country where there is a high degree of state influence over the factors of production, it should bear in mind that marketing activities in the country concerned may be restricted.
Primary concern to an exporter or foreign investor should be the stability of the target country's political environment. A loss of confidence could lead to a company having to reduce its operations or to withdraw altogether. One of the surest indicators of political instability is a frequent change in regime. It often heralds a change in policy towards business, particularly international business and affecting international firms.
Reflected in a government's attitudes and policies towards foreign business are its ideas about how best to promote national interest in light of the country's economic and political resources and objectives. On the one hand, foreign products and investment seen to be vital to the growth and development of the. On the other hand, products considered by a government to be nonessential, undesirable or a threat to local industry are frequently subjected to a variety of import restrictions such as quotas and tariffs. 

1.2.2 POLITICAL RISK (Pg28) – The PESTEL Model

Political risk can be defined as 'the undesirable impact of political change on the organisation's foreign operations and decision-making process. Political risk is determined differently for different companies as not all of them will be equally affected by political changes. Political risk is of a:
· macro nature when politically inspired environmental changes affect all foreign investment. 
· micro nature when the environmental changes are intended to affect selected fields of business activity only or foreign firms with specific characteristics

A checklist for assessing the political risk of a particular country will include the following aspects:
· Form of government and length of leadership in power 
· Extent of leadership changes and history of government stability
· Volatility of electorate and popular support for leadership
· Role of the military in politics and religious, ethnic or ideological splits
· Amount of political participation allowed or tolerated through demonstrations, lobbies, professional associations and other informal interest groups
· Prospects for domestic political violence and internal security forces per 1 000 of the population
· History of coercion and regional political alliances
· Trade or labour disputes 
· External threats to supplies or markets.



Companies operating in the global market need to remain competitive. This requires not only an understanding of market demand, their competitors and a response to changes in society and the economy. The PESTEL model entails analysing the following factors:
· Political - Companies are influenced by politics and government policy. The degree to which a government intervenes in the economy and how it chooses to do so has implications for business. Political factors include tax policy, labour law, environmental legislation, trade restrictions and political stability. 
· Economic - A healthy, growing economy is a prerequisite for successful business. Factors here include economic growth, interest rates, the exchange rate and the inflation rate.
· Social - This encapsulates demand and tastes related to broad sociocultural characteristics of the population. Factors here include population growth, age distribution and attitudes towards work, religion and language.
· Technological - Technology can create new industries, but it can also destroy existing ones; it can raise or lower the cost of production and influence outsourcing decisions. 
· Environmental - The growing environmental consciousness worldwide has implications for how international business is conducted. Concerns with regard to climate change have increased laws and incentive structures that affect the way in which companies operate. 
· Legal - Various laws and regulations affect the cost of doing business in any particular country. Strict consumer laws, antitrust laws and labour laws, while providing protection for the local populace, do impose costs on business.

The point behind this model is to focus companies' attention on the different macroenvironmental factors that they need to consider when contemplating an international move. It assists companies in translating their global success into the unique local environments in which they operate. 

1.2.3 POLITICAL IDEOLOGIES (Pg33)
Political ideologies are many and varied, the two extremes in a theoretical sense are democracy and totalitarianism. 

Democracy
Is based on the belief that citizens should be directly involved in decision making. Most modern democratic states practice a representative democracy. A representative democracy rests on the assumption that if elected representatives fail to perform, they will be voted out. This representatives can be held accountable for their actions by the electorate.
Sorensen maintains that political democracy can be viewed as a system of government that meets the following conditions:
· meaningful and extensive competition among individuals and organised groups for all effective positions of government power, at regular intervals, and excluding the use of force
· a highly inclusive level of political participation in the selection of leaders and policies, at least through regular and fair elections so that no major (adult) social group is excluded
· a level of civil and political liberties - freedom of expression, freedom of the press, freedom to form and join organisation’s - sufficient to ensure the integrity of political competition and participation

Totalitarian
· communist totalitarianism - a version of collectivism that advocates that socialism can be achieved only through totalitarian dictatorship. 
· theocratic totalitarianism. Theocratic totalitarianism is found in states where political power is monopolised by a party, group or individual that governs according to religious principles. The most common form of theocratic totalitarianism is based on Islam and is exemplified by states such as Iran and Saudi Arabia. 
· tribal totalitarianism. It occurs when a political party that represents the interests of a particular tribe (and not always the majority tribe) monopolises power. This has been a problem in many African countries at various times in their histories.
· Right-wing totalitarianism which allows some individual economic freedoms but restricts political participation. The justification is often an anti-communism philosophy or the idea that political freedom needs to be subjugated to the greater economic good. The former was espoused by the European fascist regimes of Germany, Italy and Spain during World War II, while the latter was reflected in many of the fast-growing East Asian economies


1.2.4 THE ROLE OF THE STATE (Pg34)

Governments are important consumers of goods and services, vital investors in socioeconomic infrastructure, and the largest employers. The state embodies the very essence of the framework in which exchange occurs. It determines the nature of the economic system, and either directly or indirectly defines who produces what, when, how and for whom.

The most rapid economic development post-1960 has been geographically concentrated in East Asia. Many of these East Asian newly industrialised countries (NICs) have followed the Japanese model of development with its reliance on an able state. The East Asian success story is not a function of the extent of state intervention, but of the quality thereof. Even if one believes that it is not advisable or possible for states, in the era of globalisation, to pursue such an active interventionist stance as was adopted in Japan or South Korea, this does not reduce the necessity for a competent state to engage the private sector by providing the institutional framework and overall vision.

In terms of our analytical framework, the state rises to the fore by providing a predictable, stable environment in which markets can flourish. Markets require a strong state to enforce the market solution. The state as the ultimate guarantor of property (and other) rights must be perceived to be consistent and not arbitrary in its performance. In this way, the state can play an important role in 'crowding in' private-sector participation in economic activities by underwriting risk, coordinating investment activities (which often exhibit complementarities), mediating conflict and providing vision.
A country's economic system can be broadly defined as the structure and processes a country uses to allocate its resources and conduct its economic activities. Economic systems accordingly encompass all the mechanisms and institutions that have been established to facilitate the making and implementation of decisions within an economic framework concerning production, consumption, expenditure and income in a country. 






























STUDY UNIT 1.3 – THE INTERNATIONAL LEGAL ENVIRONMENT

1.3.1 THE LEGAL ENVIRONMENT (Pg 35)

The legal environment is derived partly from the political climate in a country. It refers to the rules and laws that regulate behaviour, along with the process by which laws are enforced and through which redress for grievances is obtained. Multinational enterprises need to consider three legal dimensions:
1. the laws of their domestic country
2. the laws of the foreign country
3. International law.
Legal systems vary from country to country. Domestic laws govern marketing within a country. Domestic laws might also constrain marketers in the areas of product packaging, marking and labelling, and contracts with agents.

1.3.2 DIFFERENT LEGAL SYSTEMS (Pg 35)

The legal systems of most of the non-socialist countries can be grouped into common law and code law. 
· Common law is generally based on precedents or past practices. 
· Code law is a comprehensive set of volumes having statutory force and covering virtually the entire spectrum of the country's law. It is established by arbitrary methods, such as a three-day period for cancelling a contract.
South Africa's commercial legal system has been influenced by English law. English cases are regularly cited as authority in our courts in situations where there is no domestic decision on the point and the particular case concerns an area of our.

African legal systems are described as 'mixed' or 'eclectic'. In the absence of particular legislation on a specific issue, a country's residual legal system will be applied and is shaped by each country's unique history. In Africa, a country's colonial past still influences its current legal system. Indigenous legal systems are powerful in Africa and colonial powers were not simply able to displace them. The majority of people tended to continue to be ruled directly by chiefs, which usually meant that African law still regulated private relationships. African legal systems survived despite the fact that the chieftaincy was subject to profound change in that African leaders were now subordinate to the colonial authority. Today, it tends to regulate the private sphere (family and property rights) and operates predominantly among rural people.

Islamic law or the shari'ah also has a long history in Africa. The British and the French both 'respected Islamic law... whenever it was firmly established. Shari'ah came to regulate 'matters of personal status and family law’ among Muslims. It remains a source of law in, among others, Kenya Eritrea, Djibouti, The Gambia, Mauritania, Mali, Tunisia, Somalia, Egypt, Libya, Algeria and Morocco.
African countries retained the law that was adopted as a result of colonisation by European powers. English law or common law prevails in former British colonies like Nigeria, Zambia, Ghana, Malawi, The Gambia, Egypt, Kenya. Tanzania and Uganda. English law is the dominant influence on the laws of South Africa, Swaziland, Zimbabwe, Botswana, Lesotho and Namibia although these countries are often described as being inheritors of Roman-Dutch law. 

French civil law was introduced into the colonies that they governed. Civil law is a source of law in Morocco, Tunisia, Mauritania, Algeria, Central African Republic, Chad, and others. One of the differences between civil and common law systems is the lack of emphasis that civil lawyers place on precedent or case law.

Other colonial powers that had interests in Africa. Portuguese law is influential in Angola, Mozambique and Cape Verde. Spanish civil law has currency in Equatorial Guinea and Morocco, while Belgian law influences Burundi, Rwanda and the Democratic Republic of Congo. Burundi and Rwanda also apply some German law. Italian law is a source of Libyan law and it is interesting to note that the Ethiopian legal code applies in Eritrea.
One of the advantages of investing in Africa is that African lawyers are familiar with the concepts that underpin Anglo-American or European legal systems



1.3.3 LEGAL CONTRACT AND INTERNATIONAL LAW (Pg 36)

Central to all commercial activities is the contract and reduces the possibility of disputes arising between the parties. The purpose of a contract is to specify the respective rights and obligations of the parties to an agreement and outline specific procedures or actions that must take place. 
The principal legal arrangement underlying an export transaction is the export sales contract. In many cases, a contract is entered into once agreement has been reached. It is important to agree at the beginning of the negotiations that all agreements are reduced to writing before contracts are formalised.

When an international commercial dispute occurs, the problem must be settled in one of the countries involved according to the laws and regulations of that country unless the contract states otherwise. If the dispute cannot be settled among the parties involved, resolution can possibly be obtained through arbitration, facilitated by an independent third party. If arbitration fails the option of litigation might be considered. Disputes that go to court usually involve either large monetary transactions or the ownership of patents, copyright or physical property. Court actions can take from a few months to several years and can involve large expenditure in legal fees and lost revenues.

1.3.4 THE LEGAL ENVIRONMENT AND INVESTMENT STRATEGIES (Pg 38)

Companies deal with political and legal issues at different levels as they become more international. In difficult contracting environments, as well as in countries where incentive problems are extreme and the legal framework for protecting investors is weak, entrepreneurs and managers cannot credibly convince investors that their money will be efficiently used and returned to them as high future returns. 

Evidence shows a strong positive relationship between the quality and efficiency of a country's legal system and its level of economic development. In the Soviet Union, state-owned companies were privatised and markets introduced into a legal environment lacking the laws, courts and enforcement powers to adjudicate and enforce contracts. Newly created shares were widely distributed among the population at large, but these soon became nearly worthless as diffuse shareholders came to recognise that managers were expropriating wealth from the company with no legal repercussions. 

There are certain preconditions for the existence of an effective legal system. The system needs to rely on a framework of laws as opposed to ad hoc decision making on every issue;
· Laws must be published or known so that they can be obeyed. 
· They must also be understandable, possible to obey and consistent enough for people to be able to adjust their behaviour in order to comply with them. 
· There must be 'congruence between the rules as announced and their actual administration'.

Most African legal systems have major failings in meeting these basic conditions. Investors are reluctant to invest in economies that lack legal transparency and thereby raise the transaction costs of doing business in those countries. For example, a multinational enterprise would be reluctant to invest in a country with insecure property rights or where the rights of the repatriation of profits are unclear and subject to arbitrary change.












STUDY UNIT 1.4 – THE TECHNOLIGICAL ENVIRONMENT

1.4.1 TECHNOLOGY AND THE KNOWLEDGE ECONOMY (Pg 39)

Technology can be defined as the method or technique for converting inputs to outputs in accomplishing a specific task. Therefore, the terms 'method' and 'technique' refer not only to knowledge, but also to the skills and the means for accomplishing a task. 
Technological innovation, then, refers to the increase in knowledge and the improvement in skills or the discovery of a new or improved means that extends people's ability to achieve a given task.

1.4.2 TYPES OF TECHNOLOGY (Pg 39)

Technology can be classified in several ways;
1. High technology has become like a force of nature. It transforms the economy, schools, consumer habits, the very character of modern life, investors pour money into it; parents urge their children to study it; communities vie to attract its factories; decorators adopt it as a style; politicians push it as a panacea. 
2. Hard technology includes blueprints, machinery, equipment and other capital goods. 
3. Soft technology includes management know-how, finance, marketing and administrative techniques. 

When a relatively primitive technology is used in the production process, the technology is usually referred to as labour intensive. A highly advanced technology is generally termed capital intensive

1.4.2 TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE (Pg 39)

Changes in the technological environment have dramatic effects on business. A company may be thoroughly committed to a particular type of technology and may have made major investments in equipment and training, only to see a new, more innovative and cost effective technology emerge. Advancements in medical technology, for example, have contributed to longevity in many societies. The introduction of robots in many factories has reduced the need for labour, while the use of DVDs and micro-computers has become commonplace in many homes and businesses increasing productivity.

Unfortunately, there is a negative side to technological progress. The introduction of nuclear weapons has made the destruction of the human race a frightening possibility. In addition, factories using modern technologies have polluted both air and water, and contributed to various environmental and health-related problems.

In the arena of global business, technology is important for three reasons:
1. Technology itself has facilitated the process of globalisation and has allowed companies to go international both through their sales and through production.
2. Multinational companies themselves then facilitate inter-country and intercompany transfers of technology. 
3. A country's lack of technological sophistication can act as a hindrance to foreign investment in- raising the costs of doing business there.

Technology is a critical factor in economic development. Because of the advances in international communication, the increasing economic interdependence of nations and the serious scarcity of vital natural resources, the transfer of technology has become critical. It is vital that organisation’s stay abreast of these changes because:
· this will allow them to incorporate new and innovative designs into their products
· It will give them a firmer base from which to anticipate and counteract competition from rival organisation’s. 
· It is essential for attaining a high level of industrial capability and competitiveness. 
· It assist multinational corporations in investing abroad to expand production, marketing and research activities. 
· Governments transfer technology to developing countries to help stabilize economic and social conditions.



In spite of the many differences in social, political, cultural, geographical and economic conditions, some common technology transfers from industrialised to developing countries have taken place. As a result of improved health-care systems, infant mortality rates have been cut, while the incidence of once common diseases, such as malaria and typhoid, has been reduced in Latin America, south-east Asia and Africa. Similarly, agricultural technology has increased agricultural productivity.
However, in most developing countries, technology has made little impact on the production systems, income distribution and living conditions of the majority of the population, this is because:
· It is a complex, time- consuming and costly process. 
· The successful implementation of such a process demands continuous communication and cooperation between the parties involved. 
· It cannot be effective if it experiences conflict with the economic and social needs of the recipient country. E.g. The agricultural development of north-eastern Brazil was largely financed by international banks and financial organisation’s in the 1960s. Much of this region had been inhabited by Brazilian aborigines, but it was owned by a small number of wealthy landowners. The introduction of large-scale mechanical agricultural technology in areas of the tropical rainforest of the Amazon has caused serious environmental damage such as erosion of tropical topsoil, the destruction of the natural environment of numerous birds and animals, as well as the displacement of a large number of local inhabitants of the forests.
· Technology transfer may become a serious source of conflict between donor and recipient countries. The recipient country may feel that the donor is trying to dominate it through technology, capital and production. Dependence on foreign technology can be viewed as a serious threat to economic independence. 

Countries that export technology may experience different problems. For the seller of technology, the technology transfer can result in unemployment in the home country and future loss of technological superiority. For example, Japan transferred modern steel production technology to South Korea in the early 1970s. As labour and production costs in Japan increased, the Korean steel industry began to take over a significant portion of the previously Japanese-controlled international market. Some Japanese executives are now complaining that the cost of technology transfer has been much greater than the income received through the sale of technology.

Technology can be transferred from person to person, industry to industry and government to government. Contacts among students from different countries are also a means of technology transfer as are journals, books, technical and professional publications, trade magazines and product pamphlets. Multinational corporations play an important role in transferring information and technology from the parent company to subsidiaries in other countries and training foreign employees.





















TOPIC 2 – THE GLOBAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
STUDY UNIT 2.1 – THE GLOBAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

2.1.1 THE DYNAMIC OF THE GLOBAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT (Pg 54)

The basic proposition is that economic integration usually manifests in the development of regional trade blocs. Information is provided on the analytical basis for measuring such economic integration with specific reference to the effects of trade creation and trade diversion. To arrive at a clear understanding of the context of our discussion in this chapter, we first need to provide a few definitions of terminology. These are:
· Economic - Of or relating to an economy, the system of production and management of material wealth; Of or relating to the science of economics; and Using the minimum of time or resources necessary for effectiveness.
· Integration - The action of incorporating a racial or religious group into a community; and the act of combining into an integral whole.
· Trade - The commercial exchange (buying and selling on domestic or international markets) of goods and services; The skilled practice of a practical occupation; and A particular instance of buying or selling.
· Bloc-A group of countries in special alliance; and by way of example: The European Union is the world's biggest trade bloc, accounting for 20% of global imports and exports.
· Free - Able to act at will; not hampered; not under compulsion or restraint; Not held in servitude; not fixed in position; Costing nothing; and Not subject to or restricted by some regulation or constraint; exempt: a free market.
· Area - A particular geographical region of indefinite boundary (usually serving some special purpose or distinguished by its people or culture or geography); A particular environment or walk of life; and The extent of a two-dimensional surface enclosed within a boundary the area of a rectangle

2.1.2 ECONOMIC INTERGRATION (Pg 55)

Economic integration means the grouping of countries by agreement or treaty, usually on a regional basis, to form a trade bloc that secures benefits for the participating member states through a meaningful reduction in or total elimination of tariffs and non-tariff barriers in the cross-border movement of goods, services, capital and labour.
The main advantages of economic integration is to promote interregional trade in goods and services. By removing trade barriers, countries are better able to move tradable merchandise across borders. Evidence suggests that trade in goods and services has increased steadily since 1948, especially between the GATT/WTO member countries. There is a strong relationship between trade and real economic growth

Economic integration manifests at three levels:
1. Global economic integration - is facilitated by the rules and regulations of global institutions such as the WTO, the IMF and the world Bank. These organisation’s establish rules and adjudicate trade-related disputes across the world. They promote global trade and investment through treaties that are ratified by member nations, thereby providing a platform for fair trade and investment.
2. Regional economic integration - exists geographical region. Membership of regional economic integration is determined by accession through the ratification of an enabling treaty. This benefits member nations as trade barriers are largely removed to facilitate an easy trading regime among member states, while individual states are at liberty to apply barriers that suit their peculiar circumstance to third parties. These barriers may not, however, contravene the rules and regulations established by the world governing bodies. 
3. Bilateral trade relations - is a trade agreement between two countries. This level of integration facilitates preferential treatment between the two signatories to the agreement





There are four stages of economic integration, namely free trade areas (FTA), customs unions, common markets and economic unions:
1. The free trade area - is a regional economic grouping of countries within which tariffs and non-tariff barriers are generally abolished between the member nations. However, there is no common trade policy towards non-members. Some of the notable examples of a free trade area are the North American Free Trade Area (NAFTA). ASEAN Free Trade Area (AFTA) and the European Free Trade Association (EFTA). The main characteristic of a free trade area is that there are no internal tariffs among members, but each country imposes its own external tariffs on non-member countries.
2. The customs union - is a free trade area that not only eliminates tariffs between member nations, but also establishes a common tariff and other trade policies towards non-member countries. Customs unions also pool tariffs collected by member nations and share the revenue according to an established formula. For example, in the Southern African Customs Union (SACU), all customs, excise and additional duties collected in the Common Customs Area are paid into the Common Revenue Pool within three months of the end of the quarter of a financial year. Some of the notable customs unions are SACU, The Czech and Slovak Republic customs union, the Southern Common Market (MERCOSUR), the Central American Common Market (CACM), the Caribbean Community and Common Market (CARICOM) and the Arab Common Market.
3. The common market - is a customs union that is established by member nations to liberalise movement of regional production factors such as people and capital. This is done to facilitate not only the movement of goods and services among member nations, but to aid the production process as a way of achieving better economic productivity. In short, a common market is a customs union that espouses factor mobility. The Southern Common Market (MERCOSUR) of Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay and Uruguay is an example of a common market. The European Economic Community (EEC), as the European Union was previously known, was also a good example of a common market.
4. The economic union - is a common market whose aim is to harmonise the fundamental economic policies among member nations, essentially those policies that affect ecoeconomic fundamentals such as macroeconomic (fiscal and monetary) policies. The European Union (EU), the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), and the Southern African Development Community (SADC) are examples of an economic union

The effects of economic integration on trade: notable economists have propounded theories on the benefits of trade. Two of these works are reviewed briefly below:
1. Adam Smith's absolute advantage - The Scottish economist, Adam Smith (1723-1790), introduced the absolute advantage theory. Absolute advantage theory hypothesises that a country will benefit by manufacturing more output of a product than other countries if it has the required input materials that are used in the production process of the particular product The input material could be specific expertise in the production process that improves production efficiency, thereby reducing the overall production cost 
2. David Ricardo's comparative advantages - In his 1817 book entitled On the Principles of Political Economy and Taxation, Ricardo illustrates the benefits of specialisation and trade. According to him, countries and people (firms) should specialise in the production of goods for which their advantages over others are the largest. In other words, rational producers should seek a comparative production cost advantage over competitors.

Trade could therefore enhance efficiency in production, and increase consumption possibilities as well as the overall welfare of consumers. This suggests that even unilateral reductions in trade barriers are capable of enhancing consumer welfare across the board. The implication is that regional integration could be seen as a step towards free trade

The benefits derived from economic integration are namely the:
· static or short-term effects 
· dynamic or long-term effects.

The traditional analytical basis for measuring the effects of economic integration is based on the work of the American scholar, Jacob Viner was Professor of Economics and International Finance at Princeton where he completed the groundbreaking study, The Customs Union Issue. He argued that while a free trade area would increase the bilateral trade flow between two or more countries, it did not necessarily mean that this would yield a gain in economic efficiency. He stated that whether an increase in trade was desirable or not depended on the source of the increased trade.

The static or short-term effects (shift of production), prescripts that there is the possibility of either: 
· Trade creation occurs when production shifts to more efficient member countries from inefficient domestic or outside countries. It could also manifest as imports from a lower-cost producer in another member country, instead of domestic production or imports from another higher-cost non-member producer country. 
· Trade diversion occurs when production shifts to inefficient member countries from more efficient outsiders. As a result of the protectionist effect of economic integration, countries tend to import from a higher-cost producer member country, instead of importing from the lowest-cost producer in the international market. Trade diversion also involves a shift in domestic consumption from a low-cost world source to a higher-cost partner source as a result of the elimination of tariffs on imports from the partner country and the erection of trade barriers against non-member countries.

The dynamic or long-term effects, however, could result in cost reduction due to the introduction of economies-of-scale production. The positive effects of learning curves and experience help to reduce production costs through mastery of the production process and through increased competition. They can achieve an increase in efficiency and economic growth by:
· Increased competition among member nations that produce similar goods and services
· Exploitation of economies of scale, a process that improves production capacity and thereby reduces the unit cost of products
· Improved market size as a result of a reduction in the overall cost of living that arises through efficiency in the production process and lower production costs
· Possibly attracting foreign direct investment from outside member countries.

However, polarisation could result from a concentration of production facilities in certain regions. Evidence from the European Union suggests that most of the production facilities are concentrated in Western Europe at the expense of other member nations. This suggests the need for a policy intervention to address the redistribution of production facilities equitably among member nations as a way of bolstering economic prosperity among member nations

2.1.3 THE MAJOR TRADE BLOCS (Pg 60)

THE EUROPE UNION
The European Union (EU) is the most important trade bloc we have seen to date. we also need to take the European Free Trade Agreement (EFTA) into account when discussing the regional economic integration of the European continent.

How did the EU begin? - In September 1946, after the end of World War II, Winston Churchill called for a 'kind of United States of Europe'. During the past 50 years, the EU and its institutions have developed into what is now a unique institutional framework for forging unity and cooperation among the nations and peoples of Europe. What has emerged is a strong economic and political union among 27 member states, a union that is demonstrating signs of federalism much like that of the USA. 
Trade characteristics include:
· The 27 member states of the EU are all situated in the same geographical area. 
· All the EU countries are geographically close and have easy access to one another. 
· There is excellent geographical mobility b/w the 37 member countries with a transport network that includes air, road and sea links. 
· The 27 countries have considerable natural resources. 
· The EU member countries have developed very substantial labour capacity and manufacturing skills. 
· All 27 EU member countries have an entrepreneurial culture. 
· Trading relations are governed by formal treaties. 
· The EU is a free-trade area in which currently 17 member states have a common currency, the Euro. Three member have opted to remain outside the Euro zone




Historical development of the European Union
· [bookmark: bookmark1]The ECSC Treaty (1951) - The foundation for European integration was laid in 1951 when the leaders of six war-weary European nations signed a treaty in Paris that created the European Coal and Steel Community (ECSC). The ECSC Treaty aimed to speed up the reconstruction of Europe while preventing future war among its signatories. It brought together the unprecedented common management of their industrial resources
· The Treaty of Rome (1957) - European leaders decided to further their economic integration and on 25 March 1957 signed the Treaty of Rome that established the European Economic Community (EEC) and the European Atomic Energy Community (Euratom). 
· [bookmark: bookmark0]The fall of the Berlin Wall (1989) – This led to the reunification of Germany in 1990. Together with the collapse of communism it transformed the EU into a source of political and economic stability. It also led to the decision to move towards greater economic, monetary and political union, notably through the gradual development of a Common Foreign and Security Policy (CFSP). 
· The Treaty on European Union (1992) - Gradually, the EEC became the dominant European community. Economic integration was finally achieved when the Single Market came into being on 31 December 1992 to allow the free flow of people, goods, services and money throughout the EU. 
· The EU's expansion - The EU expanded its membership on 1 May 2004 and on 1 January 2007. Today, the EU has earned recognition as a major economic power in terms of its global trade and has become a leading world consumer market of about 500 million people. The various waves of accession to EU membership are summarized below.,

	Year
	Number
	Names of member states

	1952-1957
	6
	Belgium, Germany, France, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands

	1973
	9
	Denmark, Ireland, the United Kingdom

	1981
	10
	Greece

	1986
	12
	Spain and Portugal

	1995
	15
	Austria, Finland, Sweden

	2004
	25
	Cyprus, Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Slovakia, Slovenia

	2007
	27
	Bulgaria and Romania



Structure of governance and the institutions of the EU – The only type. The member states delegate sovereignty for certain matters to independent institutions that represent the interests of the union as a whole, its member states and its citizens.

Policy decisions - The heads of state of the 27 member countries take the principal policy decisions in the EU. They come together twice a year at summit meetings to review, decide, create policy and settle disputes that the councils of ministers are unable to resolve. At each summit meeting the presidency of the EU revolves - in alphabetical order - to the next member state.

Institutions - Each national government is represented in the councils of ministers and EU citizens directly elect the European Parliament. The European Commission is the civil service of the EU and its task is to uphold the interests of the union as a whole. The European Central Bank exercises monetary control in the EU.

European Central Bank (ECB) - The European Central Bank (ECB) is an independent institution whose decisions cannot be influenced by the governments of EU member states. The ECB frames and implements European monetary policy, conducts foreign exchange operations and ensures the smooth operation of EU-wide payment systems. The declared policy of the ECB is to pursue a policy of monetary targeting to maintain currency stability in the EU's euro zone. The ECB controlled the run-up to the introduction of the euro

The euro - Within the EU institutional framework, the euro helps to streamline trade and has become an important binding factor to create greater EU economic and potential future political integration. Let us first consider the run up to the launch of the euro.



Advent of the euro - On 2 May 1998 the launch of EU monetary union took place. This is regarded as the precursor to greater EU political union that is to follow. At the time it was difficult to assess the exact economic and financial implications of this 'merging' of 12 European currencies into a single unit. However, over the subsequent period of time. 
In the discussion below the focus will be on the historical background to the introduction of the euro; the way in which the euro is likely to operate; the demarcation of future dollar and euro zones; and, finally, the expected implications of the introduction of the euro for both EU member countries and for non-EU member countries such as South Africa.

Historical factors of the Euro
The euro was designed to enable the creation of a stable single currency for the EU internal market where EU countries do more than 70% of their total trade with each other. The final approval for the introduction of the euro was given when the 15 heads of state of the EU agreed in 1998 that EU monetary union would begin on 1 January 1999.
There were 11 'first wave' participating countries - Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, Ireland, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Portugal and Spain. Thus the UK, Denmark and Sweden remained outside the 'first wave' by choice. Greece became the 12th participating member country in 2001. Five other countries, namely Slovenia (2007), Cyprus and Malta (2008), Slovakia (2009) and Estonia (2011) later joined the euro zone. However, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Denmark, Latvia, Lithuania, Hungary, Poland, Romania, Sweden and the United Kingdom are EU member states, but do not currently use the single European currency.

Euro and dollar zones
Since 2002 to date, the performance of the euro in international financial markets has been guardedly robust. It has become a strong competitor for the US dollar in terms of dollar-euro distributions. One of the main implications of the introduction of the euro has been the fact that it now represents an ongoing challenge to the US dollar.
It is clear that a new global euro zone has already emerged since a number of countries outside the European Monetary Union (EMU) have decided to index their currencies to a greater or lesser degree to the euro. It is therefore of some economic interest to endeavour to project the eventual sizes of the euro and dollar zones in order to estimate the extent of the international competition which is likely to ensue as these two global 'jumbo' currencies square up to each other. The following comments are relevant:
· Euro zone - The euro is the official currency of the EU member countries. The euro is also the official currency in the existing or former overseas territories of EU member countries such as the Azores, French Guyana, French Polynesia, Guadeloupe, Martinique, New Caledonia and Reunion. The euro is also linked officially to the currencies of the 14 African francophone countries. The euro exercises a strong influence in 24 countries in Europe and Africa. 
· Dollar zone -  The US is the main role player as the issuing country of the dollar. The following 14 countries have their currencies index-linked, partially linked and some even floating currencies but have 'dollarised' economies. Despite the recent challenges from the euro, the currency has demonstrated sufficient resilience to weather the recent financial and economic crises. The introduction of the euro is already playing, and will continue to play, an important role in furthering the political and defence integration of the EU.

European Free Trade Association (EFTA)
EFTA is an international trade group with its headquarters in Geneva and offices in Brussels and Luxembourg. The association was established in 1960 to foster economic growth and development through trade liberalisation among its member nations. The seven founding members of EFTA were Austria, Denmark, Norway, Portugal, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom.
The activities of EFTA can be divided into three main areas:
· EFTA monitors and manages the relationships between the EFTA states on the basis of the EFTA Convention, previously referred to as the Stockholm Convention, which is the legal basis of the association.
· In line with the broad objectives of the convention, EFTA is responsible for the development of relations with a large number of non-EU countries, usually referred to as third-country relations.
· Three of the four member states (Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway) have structured their relations with the EU in the form of an Agreement on the European Economic Area (EEA) through which they participate in the EU single market.



2.1.3.2 The North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) (Pg 67)
The US signed a free trade agreement with Canada in 1989. Mexico joined in the agreement to add 87 million people and to create what became known as NAFTA. 
Implementation commenced on 1 January 1994. The member countries established objectives aimed at removing most barriers to trade and investment between the member countries. The agreement is important because:
· There were considerable trade barriers between the three countries even though Canada is the largest trading partner of the USA
· Economists predicted that the elimination of such trade barriers would increase trade, encourage economic growth, create job opportunities and increase personal incomes in the three countries.

Increase in trade
Contrary to predictions which foresaw a decline in economic growth in North America as a result of the global slowdown of 2000 and 2001, member countries of NAFTA became stronger, boosted by the economic prosperity of the United States.
Trade relations between NAFTA member countries are unique in nature. Given the proximity of these countries to one another, road transport accounts for the bulk of trade between them. 
In the context of trade relations and easy accessibility, trilateral trade has registered a significant increase since the inception of NAFTA. More specifically, between 1994 and 1999, intraregional exportation increased at an annual rate of more than 11%, resulting in overall growth of 92% over that period. This figure is significantly greater than the 35% increase in exportation between NAFTA countries and the rest of the world during that same period.

Trade characteristics
Looking at the trade characteristics of NAFTA as a regional trade bloc, we see that:
· The USA occupies a central geographical position flanked on either side by Canada and Mexico
· The three trading partners are geographically close and have direct access to one another
· Excellent geographical mobility exists between the three member countries with a transport network that includes air, road and sea links 
· The three countries have vast natural resources
· The USA and Canada have developed a substantial labour capacity and manufacturing skills, while similar capacities and skills are being developed in the Mexican market
· All three countries have an entrepreneurial culture, although this is less evident in Mexico than in the other two partner countries
· The tripartite trading relations are governed by a formal treaty
· Although there is no free trade area, joint efforts are being made to reduce tariff and non-tariff barriers between member countries substantially to facilitate trade further. 

Achievements of NAFTA
NAFTA can be said to have achieved the following:
· A substantial increase in investments and flow of trade between the three member countries
· An increased integration of the productive processes among the three countries which has lessened the effects of external economic crises
· Increased knowledge of national legislation regarding labour and the environment, which is applied to benefit workers and the environment in north america
· A safe and reliable legal framework for the resolution of trade and investment disputes that has proven useful in defending the interests of companies and individuals in the three countries. 
· A healthy exchange of knowledge and experience on a wide range of issues that are analysed at the many meetings of nafta-inspired organisation’s.

NAFTA is a source of concern for South Africa, this is because part of the USA's trade and investment is gradually shifting to Mexico and Canada. Such shifts occur because countries with preferred access to a trade bloc will increase their share in that bloc at the expense of third- party countries. This development could also make trade by South African companies with companies in NAFTA countries more complicated and more expensive.
2.1.3.3 MERCOSUR (SOUTHERN COMMON MARKET) (Pg 70)

The Southern Common Market (MERCOSUR) is the fourth largest economic group in the world. Brazil, one of the leading economies in the developing world, is the largest economy in the region, followed by Argentina, Uruguay and Paraguay. MERCOSUR is the largest trade bloc in Latin America. It was created by a pact between Brazil and Argentina in 1988, aimed at a modest reduction in tariffs and quotas between the two countries. The Treaty of Asuncion signed on 26 March 1991 between the founding members, namely Argentina and Brazil, and Paraguay and Uruguay, eventually signalled the advent of regional integration. Five associated members, namely Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador and Peru, have since acceded to the briefs of the association. The aim of the common market is to increase regional economic cooperation.

The original goals - Was originally set up with the ambitious goal of creating a common market/customs union on the basis of various forms of economic cooperation that had been in place between Argentina and Brazil. 
· The treaty provided for the elimination of customs duties and tariff barriers to obtain the free circulation of goods, services, capital and people among the participating countries. 
· the treaty provided for a common external tariff against third-party countries and the coordination of macroeconomic and sectoral policies of the member countries. 
Therefore, although the initial goals proved to be over- ambitious and elusive, MERCOSUR did succeed in facilitating a reduction in tariffs among its member countries and, notably, increased trade between Argentina and Brazil by about 80%.

Common market - Subsequently, the Treaty of Ouro Preto of 1994 initiated a new phase in the relationship between the countries when they decided to start to implement the common market. A transitional phase was set to begin in 1995 and ran until 2006 with a view to constituting the common market. In 1996, association agreements were signed with Chile and Bolivia establishing free trade areas with these countries. MERCOSUR also created a common mechanism for political consultations.

2.1.3.4 ANDEAN COMMON MARKET (ANCOM) (Pg 71)

The Grupo Andino (GRAN), as the Andean Common Market (ANCOM) is called in Spanish, was formed in 1969 by six Latin American countries(Bolivia, Chile, Columbia, Ecuador, Peru and Venezuela)  to foster economic integration. The group took the following initiatives from the start:
· It emphasised strong political and institutional support for the group by its member countries.
· Emphasis was also placed on catalysing the industrialisation process of the member countries. The sectoral programme of industrial development was specifically targeted and backed by relevant institutions.
· A scheme of automatic tariff reductions/eradication with relatively few exceptions was adopted from the beginning, thereby avoiding the challenges of multi-country bilateral negotiations.
The inaugural blueprint of the group included the development of regional programmes in industrial sectors such as metalworking, automotive, paper and pulp, fertilisers and steel. 

2.1.3.5 CENTRAL AMERICAN COMMON MARKET AND LATIN AMERICAN INTERGRATION ASSOCIATION(CACM & LAIA)(Pg 71)

Central American Common Market (CACM)
CACM is a trade bloc that was initiated in 1960 by a treaty between Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, El Salvador and later Costa Rica. The group had made advances towards economic integration and trade between member countries had risen more than tenfold over 1960 levels. During the same period, imports doubled and a common tariff was established for 98% of the trade with non-member countries.

Latin American integration Association (LAIA)
Formed in 1980 by Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Mexico, Paraguay, Peru, Uruguay and Venezuela. It took over the Latin American Free Trade Association (LAFTA), which had been created to establish a common market through progressive tariff reductions until the elimination of tariff barriers. The plan was scrapped and the new organisation, LAIA, was created by the Treaty of Montevideo. It has the more limited goal of encouraging free trade. Economic hardship in Argentina, Brazil and many other member nations has made LAIA's task difficult. 

2.1.3.6 CARIBBEAN COMMUNITY AND COMMON MARKET (CARICOM) (Pg72)

The Caribbean Community and Common Market (CARICOM) is the regional trade grouping of the Caribbean and an important role player in the decision-making process of the Africa, Caribbean and Pacific (ACP) group. In the past, although relatively unimportant in global terms, ARICOM dictated policy for the ACP group against the wishes of the numerically more important African countries, including South Africa, that make up the bulk of the ACP group.

2.1.3.7 SOUTH ASIAN ASSOCIATION FOR REGIONAL COOPERATION (SAARC) (Pg72)

SAARC was established in 1985 at the first SAARC summit held in Dhaka, Bangladesh. SAARC's main goal is to accelerate economic and social development in member states through joint action in certain agreed areas of cooperation.
There are many good reasons for promoting regional cooperation. Among these are: 
· The possibility of reducing the danger of external intervention
· Reducing political, military and economic tensions in the region
· Expanding trade and other economic ties in a much larger market formed by the reduction and elimination of trade barriers
· Coordinating measures for mutual benefit in diverse areas ranging from poverty eradication to environmental protection 
· Improving the already close cultural links that exist among these south Asian states.

Unfortunately, much of SAARC's potential remains untapped and to date it remains a symbol of 'Eastern Promise' - golden opportunities yet to be realised. The main reasons for this are:
· Internal and external conflicts within and between member states
· The rigid and inflexible economic policies practised by certain member states
· I pervasive and unnecessary bureaucracy and rampant corruption.

2.1.3.7 THE ASSOCIATION OF SOUTH EAST ASIAN NATIONS (ASEAN) (PG 73)

Free trade area - ASEAN was established on 8 August 1967 in Bangkok, Thailand, with the signing of the ASEAN by five founding countries, namely Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore and Thailand. The initial brief of ASEAN was to neutralise the communist influence in the region, but as the Vietnam War wound down, the leaders of ASEAN began to see its potential as a force for economic integration. At the Fourth Summit in Singapore, the heads of state agreed to establish an ASEAN Free Trade Area (AFTA). At the same time, the ASEAN economic ministers signed the Agreement on the Common Effective Preferential Tariff (CEPT) scheme for AFTA. This scheme is the main mechanism for the realisation of AFTA.

Increasing competitiveness - The key objective of AFTA is to increase ASEAN's competitive edge as a production base geared for the world market. This objective is set to be achieved through the elimination of intraregional tariffs and non- tariff barriers. With the larger size of the market, investors could enjoy economies of scale in production Foreign direct investments would also be attracted to the region stimulating the growth of supporting industries for many foreign direct investments.

Trade characteristics - Examining the trade characteristics of the ASEAN trading group we note that:
· They are geographically widespread 
· The trading partners nevertheless have direct access to one another
· A transport network of air and sea links allows for reasonable geographical mobility
· The participating countries have natural resources
· They already have diverse labour and manufacturing skills that are being further developed
· All the participating countries have an entrepreneurial culture 
· A formal agreement governs trade relations
· Although there are operational difficulties, the principle of a free trade area has been accepted by the member countries.

2.1.3.9 ASIA-PACIFIC ECONOMIC COOPERATION FORUM (APEC) (PG 74)

The idea of APEC was firstly publicly initiated by former Prime Minister of Australia, Mr Bob Hawke. Later that year, 12 Asia-Pacific economies met in Canberra, Australia to establish APEC. The aim of APEC was to promote economic integration around the Pacific Rim and to sustain economic growth. As a result of these efforts, APEC markets are considerably more open today than they were when it was established

2.1.3.10 CAIRNS GROUP (PG 74)

Agricultural exporting countries - The Cairns Group is a unique coalition of 19 agricultural exporting countries with a commitment to reforming agricultural trade. The coalition attracts diverse membership, ranging from developed through to developing countries from Latin America, Africa and the Asia-Pacific region. The Cairns Group has as its main objective global agricultural trade reforms that include:
· deep cuts to all tariffs (including tariff peaks) and the removal of tariff escalation
· the elimination of all trade-distorting domestic subsidies
· the elimination of export subsidies 
· clear rules to prevent circumvention of export subsidy commitments.

Uruguay Round of the GAIT - The Cairns Group proposed during the Uruguay Round of the GAIT negotiations that there should be worldwide liberalisation of trade in agricultural products. They requested special rights for developing countries to protect their farmers against foreign competitors. They also asked for an effort to be made to support farmers in keeping food production high. The Cairns group also proposed that:
· Export subsidies on agricultural products be frozen and then gradually eliminated
· National support policies hampering trade in agricultural products should gradually disappear
· Import tariffs on agricultural products be reduced to a very low level or eliminated entirely
· Tariffs be used to replace import quotas
· Health regulations be eliminated where they are used as a cover-up for protectionist policies.

World Trade Organization (WTO) - Thus it was largely as a result of the efforts of the Cairns Group that a framework for reform in agricultural trade was established in the Uruguay Round and that agriculture worldwide was for the first time made subject to trade liberalising rules. These reforms are now set out in the WTO Agreement on Agriculture. It can be said that the Cairns Group has succeeded in putting agriculture on the multilateral trade agenda and keeping it there.

The trade characteristics of the Cairns Group can be summarised as follows: 
· The member countries are not located in a central geographical area, but are scattered over wide-flung regions.
· There are enormous distances between some of the Cairns-Group countries and they have less than ideal access to one another
· Geographical mobility is restricted by both distance and by a poorly organised network of air, road and sea links, especially in South America.
· The Cairns-Group countries collectively have considerable natural resources in the individual countries of the group, but the scope of the trade bloc is limited to agricultural products.
· Differing labour and manufacturing capacities exist among the Cairns- Group countries, but these have to be viewed from an agricultural perspective.
· Some of the Cairns-Group countries have an entrepreneurial culture.
· The free trade principle is not enforced since the objective of the Cairns Group is to coordinate their agricultural policies





2.1.3.11 THE GULF COOPERATION COUNCIL (GCC) (PG 75)
The GCC consists of six member states: Bahrain, Kuwait Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates (UAE). The GCC is an economic and political policy coordinating forum for its members. Since it cannot impose trade policies on its member states, each is free to pass and enforce its own trade laws. The GCC members have agreed to implement a customs union by 2005. However, to date, this customs union has not been finalised.

2.1.3.12 INDIAN OCEAN RIM ASSOCIATION FOR REGIONAL COOPERATION (IOR-ARC) (PG76)

The Indian Ocean Rim Association for Regional Cooperation (IOR-ARC) is one of the largest and potentially most attractive of the regional blocs that have emerged since the end of the Cold War. This bloc comprises a market of 1.8 billion people. It consists of the 14-nation Indian Ocean Rim and was established in 1997 in Mauritius. Current members are Australia, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mauritius, Mozambique, Oman, Singapore, South Africa, Sri Lanka, Tanzania and Yemen.

Objectives- The charter of the IOR-ARC states that the objective is to seek 'to build and expand understanding and mutually beneficial co-operation through a consensus-based, evolutionary and non-intrusive approach’. The charter can therefore be seen as primarily an outward-looking forum for economic dialogue and cooperation, with the following key objectives:
· obtaining improved market access through trade liberalization
· facilitating freer and enhanced flows of goods, services and investment throughout the region.

Advantages - The IOR-ARC is based firmly on the principle of 'open regionalisation' encouraged by the WTO. A number of explicit advantages lead from this:
· It constitutes an important initiative for regional and global cooperation through the facilitation of free trade and investment flows. 
· It counters the risk of marginalisation of IOR states as a major geographical region without a substantial economic grouping. 
· It provides a means for closer relations to the previously closed Indian market.
· It encompasses a set of wider concerns, beyond trade and investment facilitation, that are shared by states of the Indian Ocean Rim.

2.1.3.13 AFRICAN, CARIBBEAN AND PACIFIC (ACP) GROUP (Pg 77)

Membership - The ACP Group's membership comprises 79 states that cover three continents, namely Africa, the Caribbean and the Pacific. The ACP group was initially formed to create a unified negotiating body consisting of all the countries in the three geographical regions that have aid, trade and development relationships with the EU.
Today, the ACP forms a tri-regional economic grouping that is formally linked to the EU by convention or agreement and which provides ACP countries with the benefit of tariff-free access to EU markets for the majority of their export products. ACP countries also receive major support from the EU, including a guarantee scheme for export profits. This makes concession loans from the EU available should their export profits fall significantiy.
The group strives to seek and advance a common ground for its members at international foram such as the World Trade Organization (WTO).
The following coventions are noteworthy in this regard:
· Lome Conventions (1975-2000) - had its origin in the insistence of France that the EU accept a special trade relationship with its overseas territories because they could essentially be considered as part of the French mainland. This has been replaced by a new agreement known as the Cotonou Agreement.
· Cotonou Agreement (2000) - a new partnership agreement that will enable relations between the EU and ACP countries to continue on a thoroughly modernised basis. It provides a model of development cooperation based on the principles of partnership, dialogue, contractually agreed rights and obligations and financial support

The Cotonou Agreement stipulates that ACP countries will have preferred trading status with the EU. However, despite these provisions, the extent of the trade of ACP countries with the EU has declined as a share of total EU trade. 


The trade characteristics of the ACP group as a trade bloc, we see that: 
· The ACP countries are not located in a central geographical area, but are scattered across the whole of Africa, as well as the Caribbean and the Pacific 
· The 79 ACP and the 27 EU trading partners are not geographically close and have less than ideal access to one another
· Geographical mobility is restricted by distance and often also by poorly organised air, road and sea links
· There are considerable natural resources, some of which are not adequately exploited
· Labour and manufacturing capacities differ and are severely underdeveloped in some ACP countries
· The limited entrepreneurial culture of many of the ACP countries
· The trading relations are governed by an agreement that emphasises the relationship of the ACP countries with the EU rather than that between the ACP member countries themselves
· There are free trade benefits for ACP countries from the EU, but only limited progress has been made to create free trade areas between certain ACP countries in regional groupings

2.1.3.14 COMMON MARKET OF EASTERN AND SOUTHERN AFRICA (COMESA) (PG 80)
COMESA consists of 21 countries. The origins of COMESA can be traced as far back as the mid-1960s. However, it was only in the 1970s that the need for sub-regional economic arrangements became more urgent as a result of three major developments:
· The first reason for the development of COMESA was the collapse of the federations in eastern and central Africa that reduced political cooperation among states of the region and that needed to be addressed.
· The second reason was the destabilisation of the economies of the southern African states by apartheid South Africa. This made it necessary to create a sub-regional organisation that would be an economic counterweight to South Africa.
· The third reason was that the countries of eastern and southern Africa recognised that there was no alternative to reducing their traditional economic dependence on the industrialised countries of the north.

Characteristics of COMESA 
· COMESA is the largest regional economic community in Africa with a population of over 385 million and annual imports of around $32 billion. 
· It forms a major marketplace market place for both internal and external trading.
· Its geographical reach on the African continent is impressive and its achievements to date have been relatively significant in endeavouring to implement a free trade area, 
· problems faced by COMESA in trying to achieve its goals has been the continuance of civil war conditions in the Democratic Republic of Congo as well as the political and economic destabilisation in Zimbabwe

2.1.3.15 SOUTHERN AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT COMMUNITY (SADC) (PG 81)

The Southern African Development Community (SADC) was created to foster closer cooperation among the governments and peoples of southern Africa.
In 1979, foreign ministers of the frontline states met in Gaborone, Botswana, to discuss economic cooperation. As a result, the nine majority-ruled countries of southern Africa, namely Angola, Botswana, Lesotho, Malawi Mozambique, Swaziland, Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe, declared their commitment to pursue policies aimed at economic liberalisation and integrated development of their national economies during the Lusaka Summit in 1980. Namibia and South Africa joined the Lusaka Declaration in 1990 and 1994 respectively. 

Objectives - The objective of SADC is to create a southern African common market. This economic community is dedicated to the ideals of free trade, free movement of people, a single currency, democracy and respect for human rights. 





2.1.3.16 SOUTHERN AFRICAN CUSTOMS UNION (SACU) (PG 85)

The 1969 Agreement - SACU came into existence in 1969 with the signing of the Customs Union Agreement. SACU is the oldest customs union in the world. 

Objectives and implementation - The aim of SACU is to maintain the free interchange of goods between member countries. It provides for a common external tariff and a common excise tariff for this common customs area. All customs and excise duties collected in the common customs area are paid into South Africa's national revenue fund. The revenue is shared among members according to a revenue-sharing formula as described in the agreement South Africa is the custodian of this pool. The revenue share accruing to each member state is calculated from the three basic components of a share of the customs pool, the excise pool and a pool of development funds and should be a fixed 15% of the total excise pool

2.1.4 FREE TRADE AGREEMENTS (Pg 86)

The EU and South Africa - The frame of reference for the discussion comprises:
· A comparative overview of the extent of the EU-SA trade relationship
· Implications of the euro for the South African marketplace
· The detail and implications of the Trade, Development and Cooperation Agreement (TDCA) between the EU and South Africa
· The question of how South African companies should deal with the TDCA and with the advent of the euro.
South Africa is the EU's largest trading partner in Africa. It is a member of the African, Caribbean and Pacific (ACP) group of countries and is by far the strongest of sub-Saharan Africa's economies. 

Implications of the euro for the South African marketplace
The question now arises of what the implications of the advent of the euro are for South Africa and its business community:
· Gold and the ECB - The policy of the ECB that gold should comprise 10% to 15% of its foreign currency reserves is good news for South Africa. 
· Trade balance - The acceleration in European economic growth will lead to an increase in the European demand cycle and should lead to increased importation from South Africa. 
· Stock market - The consolidation of the European financial market is expected to lead to increased European investment in emerging markets. Thus, provided that the government of South Africa and the South African Reserve Bank are able to maintain political and economic stability, increased foreign investment - particularly via the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (ISE) - may be anticipated. 
· Currency impact - It could also be argued that the combination of increased exports to the euro zone, coupled with increased foreign investment in the JSE, should have a positive impact on the South African balance of payments on the stability of the rand.
· South African pricing policies - South African companies that export to the EU euro-member countries are in a position to simplify their pricing strategies as they only have to deal with one exchange rate Similarly, capital flows between these EU countries and South Africa should move more easily and with less currency-conversion costs.













It is now important to consider the detail and implications of the main link between the EU and South Africa, namely the Trade Development and Cooperation Agreement (TDCA).

South African companies and the EU - it is important that South African companies, both large and small, take steps 10 develop a strategic methodology for dealing with the EU. Companies need to include the following components in its corporate strategic planning:
· Analyse the company's strengths and weaknesses.
· Appoint a team leader.
· Develop a data base.
· Create an in-house or external team.
· Create a first draft of the strategic plan including an analysis of alternative EU markets where it could implement the strategic plan and assess competitive opportunities.
· Complete market research and finalise the strategic plan.
· Implement and monitor the strategic plan.

The implications of regional trade blocs and trade agreements for South African businesses
Criteria for successful regional trade blocs and trade agreements
The following eight principles have been identified as criteria for success with regard to regional trade blocs:
1. Members should be geographically close and have easy access to one another.
2. Geographical mobility based on a good transport network including air, road and sea links facilitates and supports trade among member countries.
3. Natural resources need to be available.
4. Diverse labour capacities and manufacturing skills are necessary.
5. An entrepreneurial culture is important
6. Trading relations within the regional trade bloc and with third-party countries should be governed by a formal agreement or a series of informal agreements.
7. There should be internal free trade within the regional trade bloc and tariff and/ or non-tariff barriers against third-party countries to protect internal commercial activities.

The role of the WTO - It is essential to emphasise that the leaders of the biggest international trade blocs urgently resolve the lingering conflicts that bedevil trade blocs. There is a continued conflict between a world trade system that seeks global trade liberalisation, and the development of regional trade blocs such as the EU and NAFTA that advocate certain protectionist measures against third-party countries. In this regard it has become essential that the WTO plays a far more incisive and proactive role to stimulate and develop international trade by creating a level playing field for developing countries

GENERAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE FORMATION OF REGIONAL TRADE BLOCS FOR SOUTH AFRICA
Advantages of FTAs
Wherever globalisation has taken hold, there has been a measurable improvement in incomes and working conditions. 
· First, the competition that accompanies globalisation provides an incentive for local employers in developing countries to improve their practices. As foreign-owned businesses move into a country, they pay workers more and provide superior working environment to attract the best people. If they are to survive, local employers are forced to improve pay and working conditions too. 
· Second, Western businesses know that treating workers poorly is bad for business back home. American consumers demand that US companies respect workers' rights and that US. Without globalised trade, this beneficial consumer pressure evaporates.
FTAs are engines of growth and progress. They exploit country comparative advantages, accommodate specialisation and division of labour, expand the size of export markets, and promote efficiency and competition within the free trade area. 





Disadvantages of FTAs
One of the common fears is that jobs will be lost in the home country to more efficient producers in the other member countries. 
When a free trade agreement is initially launched, there are shifts in resource utilisation and trade cost advantage in products that are produced with relatively low and semi-skilled labour. On the other hand, importing duty free components from Mexican companies into the USA benefits many producers in the USA and their customers. Consumers are the biggest beneficiaries of a free trade agreement because they get better products for lower prices. Ironically, most consumers are not conscious of this and recent opinion polls taken in the USA indicate that most Americans have a negative opinion of NAFTA. 












































TOPIC 2 – THE GLOBAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
STUDY UNIT 2.2– THE IMPORTANCE OF THE ECONOMIC AND INVESTMENT ENVIRONMENT

2.2.1 THE IMPORTANCE OF THE ECONOMIC AND INVESTMENT ENVIRONMENT.  (Pg 94)

an economic environment as the 'totality of economic factors, such as employment, income, inflation, interest rates, productivity, and wealth, that influence the buying behaviour of consumers and firms' in a given country. Evidence suggests that the political ideology, legal and cultural environments, as well as the economic system of a country, largely determine the potential benefits, costs and risks of doing business in that country. The potential benefits of doing business with or investing in another country are largely determined by the following considerations:
· the market size (essentially the size of its population)
· current wealth (in terms of the purchasing power of its population)
· future economic prospects.

From an international business perspective, a holistic approach to country analysis at the national and international level therefore requires a business enterprise to obtain:
· a detailed understanding of the level of economic development and economic performance of a country, given its prevailing and potential economic system
· a detailed understanding of the extent to which the country upholds the principle of economic freedom.

International businesses must, therefore, identify and evaluate the policy issues, economic trends, industry trends and trends in the market segments in those industries for each country in which they are involved or are considering establishing a presence.
The purpose of economic analysis is to evaluate the overall outlook of the economy of a country both in the short and in the long term, and then to assess how potential economic changes could affect the firm. 
Accordingly, managers must consider a variety of factors in the countries concerned, including:
1. The extent and direction of economic growth in the gross national product
2. The general availability of credit
3. The size and efficiency of the capital market
4. The purchasing power and the level of disposable income of the population
5. The propensity of people to save i exchange rates
6. Interest rate levels
7. Inflation
8. Foreign debt levels
9. Budgets and trade deficits
10. Employment levels
11. Other socioeconomic and demographic trends.

2.2.2 THE CLASIFICATION OF ECONOMIC SYSTEMS: ECONOMIC FREEDOM (Pg 96)

A country's economic system can broadly be defined as the structure and processes a country uses to allocate its resources and conduct its commercial activities. Economic systems accordingly encompass all the mechanisms and institutions that have been established to facilitate the making and implementation of decisions within an economic framework concerning production, consumption, expenditure and income in a country. The following three broad types of economic systems that exist are:
1. Market economy
2. Command economy 
3. Mixed economy






2.2.2.1 MARKET ECONOMY (Pg 96)

A market economy is an economic system in which economic decisions and the pricing of goods and services are guided solely by the combined interactions of a country's citizens and businesses, with little, if any, government intervention. Market economies work on the assumption that market forces are the best determinants of the quantity and pricing of goods and services. 
Economic-related decisions, such as who produces what and in what quantity, as well as the cost of production factors, are determined by the interaction of the invisible hands of market mechanism - supply and demand in the marketplace. 
The concept of a market economy is based on the belief that individual interests should supersede group interests because groups are bound to benefit when individuals are rewarded for their initiative and achievements. 

Certain conditions are necessary for the proper and smooth functioning of a market economy, these are:
· Freedom of choice or consumer sovereignty - means few restrictions on the decision-making ability of consumers regarding alternative purchase options. 
· Free enterprise - means the freedom of the enterprise to operate in the market and the freedom to decide what goods and services to produce.
· Price flexibility - generally allows prices to rise and fall to reflect forces of supply and demand. This does not usually provide for monopolistic interventions and the manipulation of supply and the price mechanism in an economy.

In a market economy, therefore, governments should preferably exercise marginal direct restrictive involvement in business activities. They could, however, play an important enabling role in the following areas:
· Enforcing antitrust laws (as in the USA) or enhancing competition policy (as in the EU)
· Preserving property rights
· Providing a stable fiscal and monetary environment
· Preserving political stability.
Countries with free market economies and in which property rights and intellectual property rights, are acknowledged and protected, perform better economically compared to countries where these institutional frameworks are lacking.

Economic freedom - the absence of government coercion or constraint on the production, distribution or consumption of goods and services beyond the extent necessary to protect and maintain liberty itself. 

The Index of Economic Freedom
The Index measured countries against an economic freedom score based on 10 measures of economic openness, regulatory efficiency, the rule of law and competitiveness. The basic principles of economic freedom emphasised in the Index are individual empowerment, equitable treatment and the promotion of competition. The 50 independent variables are grouped into the following ten broad categories:
1. 
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2. Business freedom
3. Trade freedom
4. Fiscal freedom
5. Government spending
6. Monetary freedom
7. Investment freedom
8. Financial freedom
9. Property rights 
10. Freedom from corruption
11. Labour freedom.


These scores are averaged using equal weights to calculate the country's final Index. Countries are then classified according to the following five broad categories of economic freedom:
· Free - Countries with an average overall score of 80-100
· Mostly free - Countries with an average overall score of 70-79.9
· Moderately free - Countries with an average overall score of 60-69.9
· Mostly unfree - Countries with an average overall score of 50 to 59.9
· Repressed - Countries with an average overall score of 0 to 49.9.5



The Index of Economic Freedom is deemed to include the broadest array of institutional factors or determinants of economic freedom as listed below:
· corruption in the judiciary, customs service and government bureaucracy
· non-tariff barriers to trade, such as import bans and quotas, as well as strict labelling and licensing requirements
· the fiscal burden of government, which encompasses income tax rates, corporate tax rates and trends in government expenditure as a percentage of output
· the rule of law, efficiency in the judiciary and the ability to enforce contracts
· regulatory burdens on business, including health, safety and environmental regulations
· restrictions on banks regarding financial services, such as selling securities and insurance
· labour market regulations, such as established work weeks and mandatory separation pay
· informal market activities, including corruption, smuggling, piracy of intellectual property rights and the underground provision of labour and other services

2.2.2.2 COMMAND ECONOMY (Pg 101)

A command or centrally planned economy is an economic system in which the government owns a nation's land, productive facilities and other economic resources, and also plans most of the country's economic activity. In pure command economies, the goods and services produced in a country, the quantities in which they are produced and the prices at which they are sold are all planned by the government. 
Government is assumed to be a better judge of how resources should be allocated than businesses, consumers or private individuals. The aim is for governments to achieve a wide range of political, economic and social objectives by controlling the allocation, production and distribution of resources.
The concept of a centrally planned economy has its origin in the belief that group welfare is more important than individual well-being. Some of these nations now have mixed economies, but the majority have been transformed to market economies. 
Instead of flourishing as was originally envisaged, command economies have stagnated for a number of reasons. Some of these reasons include their failure to:
· Create economic value
· Provide incentives for innovative and entrepreneurial behaviour
· Measure up to the achievements of other economic systems - notably market economies
· Satisfy consumer needs and improve overall quality of life.

2.2.2.3 MIXED ECONOMY (Pg 101)

A mixed economy is an economic system in which land, productive facilities and other economic resources are more equitably distributed between private and government ownership when compared to a command economy. In mixed economies, the government tends to control certain sectors of the economy, notably in the energy, security, health care and transportation sectors.
While not inclined towards central planning in the strict sense, the governments of countries with mixed economies do influence economic activity by means of incentives and special concessions to certain industries. However, many mixed economies are gradually transforming to market-based economies, basically for the same reasons as those for command economies - that these countries find it increasingly more difficult to remain competitive in the global marketplace. 











2.2.3 ECOMONIC DEVELOPMENT: METRICS AND INDICES (Pg 102)

2.2.3.1 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Generally, gross national income (GNI), gross domestic product (GDP) and gross national product (GNP) are accepted as broad-based measures of a country's overall economic output and activity during a specific period, usually one year. 

Gross national income (GNI) - is the sum of value added by all resident producers plus any product taxes (less subsidies) not included in the valuation of output, plus net receipts of primary income (compensation of employees and property income) from abroad. GNI is calculated as follows:
GNI = W+ R + I + P + D + IT
· W = wages and salaries (the value of all income earned in the country) 
· R = rent (the value of income earned through rentals)
· I = interest (the amount of interest earned in the country in the accounting year) 
· P - profit (the profit realised at all stages of production throughout the country by all sectors of the economy in the accounting period)
· D = depreciation allowance (the decrease in value of old inventory of both business and the government; depreciation occurs on the books of a business and allows it to decrease the value of old or unsold inventory, such as used cars, buildings and machinery)
· IT = indirect taxes (hidden taxes included in the price of goods such as cigarettes, alcohol, petrol and clothing prices).

Gross domestic product (GDP) - at purchaser prices is the sum of the gross value added by all resident producers in the economy plus any product taxes (less subsidies) not included in the valuation of output. Value added is the net output of an industry after adding up all outputs and subtracting intermediate inputs. GDP is the market value of production that occurs within the national borders of a country without regard to whether the factors of production are domestic or foreign.
GDP is calculated as follows:
GDP = C +1 + G + (EX - IM)
· C = consumer spending (consumption expenditure by households) 
· I = investment made by industry (private investment spending) 
· G = government spending (government purchases of goods and services) 
· (EX - IM) = excess of exports over imports (exports minus imports).

Gross national product (GNP) - is the market value of all the goods and services produced in an economy, including the value of the goods and services imported less the goods and services exported. It is the market value of final goods and services produced by domestic factors of production in an accounting year. The production by domestic factors could take place at home or abroad. GNP also includes income that residents receive from abroad for factor services such as labour and capital less similar payments made to non-residents who contribute to the domestic economy.
GNP is basically the same as gross national income (GNI). Note that the World Bank uses gross national income (GNI) per capita for operational and economic evaluation purposes.
GNP is calculated as follows;
GNP = GDP - factor payments from abroad

GDP takes into account the production by foreigners in that country and excludes production by nationals outside that country, GNP excludes production by foreigners in a particular country and includes production by nationals outside that country. GDP is the value of goods and services produced in a country, GNP is the value of goods and services produced by citizens of a country.

By dividing the GNP and GDP of a country by its population, we obtain the per capita GNP or GDP for that country. These per capita results are now comparable for all countries, irrespective of population size, reflect levels of economic development, and can be used as broad-based measures to classify countries in terms of level of economic development.

Per capita GNP and GDP results have two inherent shortcomings;
1. They do not consider differences in the cost of living between countries. Data has to be adjusted for differences in purchasing power between countries to reflect differences in the cost of living in those countries
2. They provide a static picture of economic development at a specific point in time. The can be overcome by considering economic trends using forecasts, time-series analyses, scenarios and other relevant techniques.

Purchasing power parity – To accommodate differences in the cost of living between countries realistically, data for per capita GNP and GDP have to be adjusted by introducing the concept of PPP. The purpose of PPP is to identify the relative ability of two countries' currencies to buy the same amount of goods and services in the countries under consideration. 
We define purchasing power and purchasing power parity (PPP) as follows:
· Purchasing power is the value of goods and services that can be purchased with one unit of a country's currency.
· Purchasing power parity (PPP) is the relative ability of two countries' currencies to buy the same basket of goods in those two countries. 

Conclusions to avoid when using per capita GNP, GNI and GDP data, even when adjusted for PPP:
· The statistical systems in many developing nations are deficient and the reliability of the data provided by such nations may be misleading.
· To adjust per capita GNP/GNI and GDP data for PPP, the World Bank and other institutions convert local currencies to US dollars, using a 2 year average of the exchange rate, after adjusting for differences in relative inflation between the particular country and the USA.
· The adjusted data basically present a static situation at a certain point in time in the long-term economic evolution of a country. They provide no information on whether existing gaps between the economic levels of different countries are narrowing or becoming wider. 

CLASSIFICATION ACCORDING TO PHASES OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Developed countries - Countries with developed economies largely correspond with the high-income and, possibly, some of the upper-middle-income countries. They are characterised by the following features: 
· Political stability
· A highly educated and literate population
· High levels of innovative and entrepreneurial activity
· High levels of both industrial and information technology
· High levels of industrialization
· High standard of living of citizens I well-developed infrastructure, transportation, communication and utilities 
· Active involvement in international business and foreign trade
· Well-developed financial institutions and monetary networks sophisticated social systems (education, health care).

Developing countries - Developing countries lie somewhere between developed and less developed countries and are generally in the process of evolving from less developed to developed countries. These countries are generally regarded as having the following features: 
· Relative political stability and tending towards market-based economies where this had not previously been the case
· Improving educational systems, literacy rates and work-skills levels
· Relatively efficient technological systems
· Less dependence on agriculture and mining with an expanding industrial sector
· Rapidly developing financial sectors
· Improved social conditions and a higher quality of life than before
· Increasingly involved in international business
· International trade is less dependent on agricultural and resource-related exports.

Developing countries are relatively dynamic, although highly vulnerable to economic and sociopolitical occurrences in other emerging economies. 

Less developed countries - These countries largely coincide with countries in the low-income category. They are generally characterised by the following features:
· Political instability and often anarchy
· Government inefficiency 
· Very low standards of living
· Low levels of economic wealth (income, disposable income and savings levels)
· Shortage of investment capita
· Inadequate education, health care and housing
· Underdeveloped financial services sector
· High rates of illiteracy and low levels of employment skills
· A strong emphasis on agricultural and mining activities
· Low levels of industrial and information technology
· Poor or underdeveloped infrastructure 
· Generally poor health conditions and (intermittent) food shortages
· Relatively high infant mortality rates 
· Lower life expectancy than in developed countries
· Relatively high dependence on foreign financial and social aid
· Abundance of natural resources (some countries), but lacking in further processing and beneficiation of such resources
· Low level of involvement in international business
· Foreign trade largely involving exports of agricultural products, unprocessed natural and raw materials, and basic manufactured products.

2.2.3.2 ECONOMIC GROWTH (Pg 110)

Economic growth may be described as the increase in an economy's capacity to produce goods and services over a long period of time. Economic growth implies rising levels of output over time, produced by means of the economy's available resources. Capital investment and technological innovation are important factors in theories of economic growth.
To measure the change in economic growth accurately, it is necessary to eliminate the effects of price changes from the GDP value ruling the period, thus holding the prices of goods and services constant based on the prices in a certain base year. 
We can now state that the annual measure of economic growth is the percentage change in the real GDP of a country from one year to the next. This is derived by: 
· first calculating the nominal GDP
· then determining the real GDP equivalent by adjusting for general price increases (inflation)
· and finally calculating the percentage change in real GDP from one year to the nex. 

The GDP at constant prices measures how much the economy really produces and grows. Positive real economic growth does not necessarily mean that the welfare of even citizen. If the population grows faster than the economy, citizens will not benefit.
Economic growth rates do not follow an even course, but tend to fluctuate from year to year.












2.2.3.3 INFLATION (Pg 114)

Inflation may be defined as the continuing general increase in the prices of goods and services over time. Inflation is known to affect interest rates, exchange rates, cost of living, and the general political and economic confidence in a country. 
The opposite phenomenon is deflation, or falling prices over time, which is less common. 
Inflation occurs when aggregate demand generally increases at a faster rate than aggregate supply. Rising demand can occur when government spending rises at a faster rate than tax revenues to fund government spending and when there are changes in monetary and fiscal policies on which the demand-pull argument for inflation is based. Two generally accepted causes of inflation are based on demand-pull and cost-push considerations. 
· According to the demand-pull argument, excess demand in an economy, which may be the result of inexpensive borrowing, tax cuts, or both, encourages producers to increase prices. This then leads to demands for higher wages by workers striving to maintain their standard of living. 
· With the cost-push argument, it is argued that excessive production costs drive up prices. Since wages constitute a significant cost element, these rising labour costs are passed on to consumers in the form of higher prices, creating what is referred to as the wage-price inflationary spiral.
The inflation rate is measured by means of indices such as the consumer price index (CPI) and the production price index (PPI). 

Consumer price index (CPI) - Is the yardstick used to measure the general level of price increases in the economy. The CPI is a series of figures indicating how the average price level of all those goods and services changes over time. Comparisons from year to year are done using the inflation rate of a base year. According to the Reserve Bank, there are five steps involved in the process of calculating the CPI:
1. The selection of goods and services to be included in the basket 
2. The assignment of weights to each good or service to indicate its relative importance in the basket
3. The choice of a base year for calculating the cpi
4. The choice of a formula for calculating the cpi
5. The collection of prices each month to calculate the value of the cpi for that month.

Consumer-related price indices in South Africa for measuring various components of inflation include the CPI headline inflation rate, the core inflation rate, the CPIX and the CPI food:
· The CPI headline inflation rate captures the price changes of all the goods and services that the typical consumer buys.
· The core inflation rate measures the same price changes as those included in the headline inflation rate, but excludes the rate of price changes in respect of fresh meat, fruit and vegetables, interest on bank overdrafts and value-added tax (VAT).
· The consumer price index excluding interest rates on mortgage bonds (CPIX) also measures the same price changes as those included in the headline inflation rate, but excludes the interest rates on mortgage bonds in urban areas.
· CPI food measures price changes in selected food items that typical consumers buy and forms part of CPI headline and CPIX.

Production price index (PPl) - Is a series of figures that indicates percentage changes over time in the average level of the prices of all goods produced, excluding services. It is calculated at the price of products when they leave the factories. It also includes prices of imported goods calculated at the point-of-entry prices. The price used in the calculations is thus the price at which the product is sold for the first time. As with the CPI, PPI may be based on monthly or quarterly figures.
The PPI includes the prices of goods sold by one producer to another for further processing, as well as the prices of goods imported from other countries and sold to local producers or to dealers. Lastly, the PPI includes the price of capital goods such as equipment and machinery used in production processes. Total PPI is reported in terms of PPI imported and PPI domestic for, among others, economic evaluation and analysis as well as for policy determination purposes.






Implications of inflation for international business
With high inflation, a country's domestic exporters will find their goods are less competitive in global markets due to higher prices. Also, foreign investors may turn to countries with lower inflation rates for the following reasons:
· High inflation tends to force interest rates higher to enable investors to achieve an adequate, real return on their investments.
· High interest rates, in turn, usually reduce domestic demand and therefore adversely affect economic growth.

A company interested in investing abroad should know how inflation is measured in the host country. Furthermore, to be able to adjust GDP growth rates for purchasing power parity for country comparisons of economic growth rates, accurate values for inflation are required. Also, economic trends have to be continuously updated. 
Demand-driven inflation occurs when demand exceeds supply, and government spending for this reason exceeds tax revenues. However, this is an over-simplification of a complex issue. High inflation accordingly causes interest rates to rise for two main reasons:
· Banks need to offer higher interest rates to attract money.
· Governments raise interest rates to slow down economic growth in order to dampen demand.

Because the economies of countries differ greatly, policies designed for economic conditions in one market may prove to be totally unsuitable for another market. If countries have inordinately high inflation rates, the parent company would not want its subsidiaries in these countries to have cash or foreign currency-denominated loans. Also, when interest rates increase due to inflation, borrowing money becomes more expensive and companies are accordingly more reluctant to incur debt for expansion purposes. Consumer spending decreases for the same reasons. This all tends to increase the cost of living for consumers, especially if income levels do not increase correspondingly. 
The higher the inflation rate of a country is relative to the inflation rates in other countries, the more the country's currency will depreciate relative to those of the other countries (the case of Zimbabwe easily comes to mind).
Finally, for the international company primarily involved in importing, higher inflation and the concomitant depreciation of the country's currency will have an adverse effect in cases where companies import more than they export. However, the opposite is true for companies whose exports exceed their imports.

2.2.3.4 BALANCE OF PAYMENTS (BOP) (PG118)

The balance of payments (BOP) reflects the value of a country's economic relations with the outside world. A country's balance of payment account is defined as 'a national accounting system that records all payments to entities in other countries and all receipts coming into the nation'. The BOP depicts the total transactions that are carried out between the residents of a country and the rest of the world during a given period, usually a year, a quarter or a month

Characteristics of the balance of payments
The balance of payments reflects demand both at home and abroad, and helps both policy makers and international business managers understand the performance of the economies. International managers need to understand the BOP statistics of individual countries for a number of important reasons:
· BOP statistics help to identify attractive markets for a company's products and services.
· BOP statistics could serve to warn international companies of policy changes that could affect a country's business climate and possibly also the profitability of a company's involvement in that country.
· BOP statistics can signal increasing risk of lending in particular countries.
· BOP statistics can indicate reductions in a country's foreign exchange reserves. This could be an indication that a country's currency will depreciate in the future. 
· The BOP reflects the relative costs of domestic production and the global competitiveness of the manufacturing sector as a whole.





However, keep the following in mind with regard to the balance of payments:
· The BOP accounting system relates to a specific time period.
· It records transactions between residents of the country and residents of all other countries. Residents for this purpose could be individuals, businesses, government agencies and non-profit organisation’s.
· The BOP accounting system is a double- entry system where every transaction creates a credit entry and a debit entry of equal size or value. The credit entry involve the purchase or sale of goods, a service or an asset. The debit entry records the payment for goods, a service or an asset.

Composition of the balance of payments
The balance of payments is divided into twc accounts:
1. The current account - comprises trade in goods and services, as well as income from assets abroad. The first part of the current account is the merchandise trade balance, which is a measure of a country's trade deficit or trade surplus. A trade deficit arises when merchandise imports exceed merchandise exports in a given period. A trade surplus occurs when exports exceed imports in a given period. The second part of the current account measures transactions in services, while the third part measures income - both receipts and payments - on assets
2. The financial account (capital account) - of the balance of payments reflects all transactions in real assets or financial assets, such as investment in shares. 

2.2.3.5 EXTERNAL DEBT (Pg 120)

The external debt of a country is the amount of money obtained from foreign public- or private-sector banks. External debt is typically measured in the following two ways:
· The total monetary amount of debt
· debt as a percentage of GDP.
The larger these two measures become for a country, the more unstable the economy of the country tends to become, given that all other factors remain relatively unchanged.

2.2.3.6 PRIVATISATION (Pg 120)

Privatisation is the selling of government-owned economic resources to private operators. Privatisation of state-owned enterprises (SOEs) has been an important strategy in the transition of command economies to market-based economies. Privatisation has also been adopted to reduce internal debt levels in a country. The low-cost financing that is channeled blindly to these organisation’s is also allowed to generate efficiency gains. The process of privatisation, if well-orchestrated and executed, may help a government to reduce debt levels or government internal deficits from funds generated through the sale of state assets.

Both political ideology and economic pressure precipitated the momentum gained by privatisation in 1980s under the tutelage of Baroness Margaret Thatcher between 1979 and 1990. She initiated and coordinated a privatisation exercise that saw the British government divesting its business interests in British Airways, British Telecom the British Airport Authority and British Petroleum. 
The second main driver of privatisation was economic pressure that confronts firms in the international marketplace. The pressure for local responsiveness as well as the pressure for cost reduction that confront businesses as a result of globalisation. In addition, the budgetary constraints faced by many countries as a result of the increasing economic swings further makes it impossible to funnel funds into SOEs. 
Transferring ownership holds many advantages for countries. Specific benefits of privatisation include: 
· Improving enterprise efficiency and performance
· Developing a competitive industry that services consumers well
· Accessing the capital, know-how and markets that permit growth
· Achieving effective corporate governance
· Broadening and deepening capital markets
· Securing the best price possible for the sale.

2.2.4 INNOVATION AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP (PG 122)

Innovation concerns new developments in products, services, processes, organisation’s, business systems, practices and strategies. The political economy and concomitant economic system in a country largely determine the extent of entrepreneurial orientation in that country. In addition, certain elements of culture in a country, such as its social structure and religion, either encourage or discourage an entrepreneurial orientation. 
It has also been argued that the associated economic freedom of a market economy enhances innovative and entrepreneurial activity in that country, more so than in a command or mixed economy. There is a strong relationship between economic freedom (as in a market economy) and economic growth. It also found that the six countries with the highest ratings for economic freedom during the period 1975 to 1995 were also in the top ten countries in terms of economic growth. 
Furthermore, it is widely accepted that innovation and entrepreneurship, generally associated with small business activity in a country, require strong property rights and protection of ownership. 

In conclusion, therefore, evidence seems to confirm that a market economy, based on free market principles and a system of representative democracy with strong protection of property rights, provides the ideal climate in which innovation and entrepreneurship can flourish and significantly contribute to economic growth




































TOPIC 3 – THE INTERNATIONAL CULTURE ENVIRONMENT
STUDY UNIT 3.1 – THE ROLE OF CULTURE IN INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS

3.1.1 CULTURE AND INTERNATIONAL BUSINES (Pg 129)

International business managers need to be aware of the cultural differences between countries to enable them to predict, plan, organise, manage, evaluate and control their international operations and relationships effectively. An international firm's need for cultural knowledge increases as:
· Its number of international functions and operations increases
· The number of countries in which it is involved increases
· It increasingly handles international operations internally.

Cultural awareness enables international managers to gain a better grasp of individual and group behaviour. Understanding these differences and their potential influence in areas such as leadership, international negotiations, communication and consumer behaviour, the design of appropriate incentive pay systems for sales people, the structure of the organisation operating overseas, relationships between management and labour, and the manner in which trade unions operate, presupposes a sensitivity to cultural differences. It is important that these international managers:
· Understand and are able to work effectively with members, groups or teams from other cultures
· Recognise the importance of culture and its influence on human behaviour in the pursuit of organisational goals, the achievement of which will take place in a foreign setting. This means that international managers must be able to manage people from a variety of cultural backgrounds.

3.1.2 DEFINITION OF ‘CULTURE’ (Pg 130)

From the perspective of anthropology: 
That complex whole which includes knowledge, belief, art, law, morals, customs, religion and any capabilities and habits acquired by a person as a member of society.
The view of culture as 'a system of ideas that constitute a design for living',  we can define culture as: 
Culture is the collective programming of the mind, which distinguishes the members of one human group from another.... Culture, in this sense, includes systems of values; and values are among the building blocks of culture.
We can adapt the following definition for our purpose: 
Culture is an integrated system of values and norms that are shared among a group of people and when taken together constitute a design for living."
From the above it would appear that culture, in its broadest sense, refers to the outcome of human behaviour, based on the pervasive and shared norms, values, attitudes and beliefs people use to interpret experience and to generate the kind of social behaviour that guides their everyday lives as individuals or as members of groups. 

Values - Values form the very foundation of a culture and provide the context within which the norms, beliefs, attitudes, traditions and symbols of a society are established and manifested. Values can be defined as the basic convictions that people have regarding what is right and wrong, good and bad, acceptable and unacceptable, important and unimportant. 
Values determine a society's attitude toward issues such as trust, honesty, justice, loyalty, freedom, democracy and even the role of women, love, sex and marriage in a society. 

Attitudes - An attitude is a persistent tendency to feel and behave in a particular way towards some object or event. Attitudes that emanate from values have a direct influence on international business. 

[bookmark: bookmark3]Beliefs - Cultural beliefs represent our implicit understanding of and basic assumptions about what is true. Of importance is the fact that different values, attitudes and beliefs affect how business may be conducted, specifically the way in which operations are managed and controlled, products and services marketed, and employees appointed and promoted in different societies



Norms - Norms refer to the social rules and guidelines that prescribe appropriate behaviour and govern people's actions toward one another. Norms - in contrast to values - prescribe behaviour by telling people of a specific group what they can and cannot do.

Cultural symbols, traditions, rituals and stories - These elements serve to communicate the norms, values and beliefs. Symbols may be physical such as flags, while traditions and rituals may embody ceremonies and folk festivals.

3.1.3 CULTURE, SOCIETY AND THE NATION STATE (Pg 131)

The concept of nation provides a workable definition for the following reasons:
· Within the bounds of a nation, people share essential attributes perpetuated through tradition, rituals and symbols.
· Laws governing business operations apply within the confines of national boundaries.

Nation states are political creations and may contain a single culture or several cultures, subcultures, ethnic groups, classes and races within their natural borders. This national identity will generally affect the way in which a company will conduct business.
Caution should be exercised when using 'nation' as a point of reference because some countries have much greater internal disparities in terms of ethnicity, religion, language and economic well-being between various groups compared to other countries with a more homogeneous 'nation' or 'society. Based on our discussions thus far, we can say that:
· While society constitutes a group of people that share a common set of values, norms and beliefs - and therefore share a common culture - it is difficult to define the concept of 'society' exactiy. 
· The concept of a 'nation' and 'nation state' is regarded as a workable surrogate or substitute for a society.

3.1.4 CHARACTERISTICS AND ELEMENTS OF CULTURE (Pg 132)

Culture can be characterised in the following way:
· Culture is learned - it is not inherited or biologically based. Culture is transgenerational when transmitted from one generation to another and it is intergenerational when transmitted from one member of society to another. 
· Culture is shared - it is not specific to single individuals. Everyone in the group understands the values, attitudes, beliefs, norms and behavioural patterns. 
· Culture is relative - No standard culture exists. Cultures are different from one another to a greater or lesser extent without any specific culture being superior or inferior, right or wrong. 
· Culture is interrelated - The various cultural components or elements are interrelated; a change in one element will invariably bring about change in another. 
· Culture is adaptive - Culture is learned behaviour and is thus adaptive because it is based on the human capacity to change.
· Culture is symbolic - Culture is based on the human capacity to symbolise or use one thing to represent another in behavioural patterns.
· Culture is pervasive - Culture in societies affects almost everything people do, see, feel and achieve.

THE ELEMENTS OF CULTURE[image: ]


1. Political philosophy
2. Economic philosophy
3. Social Structure
4. Religion and ethical systems
5. Language and communication
6. Education





POLITICAL PHILOSOPHY
Political systems can be described and evaluated according to two interrelated dimensions from which a country's political ideology and political philosophy emerge:
· The degree to which they emphasise collectivism as opposed to individualism
· The degree to which they are democratic or totalitarian.

The following definitions are provided here for purposes of clarity:
· Collectivism - emphasises collective goals as opposed to individual goals. The ties between individuals are tight, people are born into collectives such as extended families and they are expected to look after the interests of their collective.
· Individualism - emphasises the importance of guaranteeing individual freedom and self-expression. The ties between individuals are loose and individual achievement is highly valued.
· Democracy - is a political system in which government is by the people, exercised either directly or through elected representatives. 
· Totalitarianism - is a form of government in which one person or political party exercises absolute control over all spheres of human life and opposing political parties are prohibited.
· Socialism - is a political philosophy advocating substantial public involvement in the means of production and distribution through government ownership.
· Social democracy - is a system committed to achieving socialism by democratic means.
· Communism - is a system whereby it is believed that socialism can only be achieved through revolution and totalitarian dictatorship. 
· Communist totalitarianism - is a version of collectivism advocating that socialism can only be achieved through a totalitarian dictatorship.
· Theocratic totalitarianism - is a political system in which political power is monopolised by a party, group or individual who governs according to religious principles.

The implications of political philosophy for international business are that business managers must deal with varying degrees of government involvement, government intervention and political risk in certain countries, where these factors largely influence decisions such as:
· Deciding whether or not to invest in a certain country, based on potential benefits, costs and risks associated with the political philosophy of the country. 
· Deciding whether to do business with a specific country, be it exporting to or importing from the country, or entering into collaborative strategies with other companies in that country.
· Deciding whether a government is a participator (involved in), regulator or enhancer of foreign business involvement.
· Deciding whether the ideological attitude of a government inclines it towards nationalisation or even expropriation of industries, or towards a free market economy based on private ownership and entrepreneurship.

ECONOMIC PHILOSPHY
While the political ideology largely influences the type of economic system that exists in a foreign country, the prevailing economic and legal system will determine the potential benefits, costs and risks of business with or investments in that country to a large degree.
· Potential benefits - the potential benefits of business involvement in a country are largely determined by the country's; 
· 
· market size (population) 
· current wealth (purchasing power) 
· future economic growth prospects.
· 
· [bookmark: bookmark4]Potential costs - the costs of doing business tend to increase where infrastructure is inadequate, corruption and bribery are rife and where compliance with legislation and regulation becomes expensive - these are all factors of a socioeconomic nature.
· [bookmark: bookmark5]Potential risks - International risks tend to be higher characterised by political instability, economic mismanagement and deficient legal protection with regard to contractual, physical property and intellectual property rights.
· Economic systems - The following three broad types of economic systems exist:
1. 
2. A market economy
3. A command economy
4. A mixed economy.



SOCIAL STRUCTURE
Every society is characterised by its social structure, the overall framework that determines the roles of individuals and groups in a society, the stratification of society, class systems and the mobility of individuals.

Individuals, families and groups - individual behaviour and achievement tend to be more important than group behaviour. In societies where groups are regarded as relatively more important, the social standing of the individual is largely determined by his or her standing in the group to which he or she belongs.
In all societies, however, individuals live in family units and work together in groups. Understanding how differing social attitudes reflect the importance of family with regard to business involvement is of the utmost importance for international management:
· As far as human resource management is concerned, nepotism is discouraged in the USA. In Arab owned firms family ties are of crucial importance. Accordingly, hiring and appointment practices of a multinational enterprise will have to accommodate local host-country social behaviour in different cultural settings.
· Undemanding extended family relations, the strong obligations to family, tribal politics and social behaviour as found in some African countries may help to avoid unnecessary organisational issues and conflict in international business.
· In market research, it is important to realise that basic consumption patterns in cultures characterised by extended families will invariably differ from those in other cultures.
· With regard to work teams, social orientation could affect mobility, loyalty and dynamics.

Social stratification - Individuals are born into a particular structure and become a member of the social category to which their parents belong. Evidence suggests that people in the top or higher social strata have relatively better education and career opportunities than individuals in the lower social strata. While all societies are stratified to some degree, they do, however, differ in ways that are of importance in terms of the influence of culture on business:
· They differ from each other with regard to the degree of mobility between social strata.
· They differ with regard to the significance attached to social strata in a business context.

Social mobility in this context refers to the relative ease with which individuals can move upward out of the strata into which they were born and varies significantly from one society to another. 
· Caste systems are rigid social systems characterised by extremely low mobility between different strata.
· Class system of social stratification is less rigid than a caste system. Individuals can move upward through social strata, either through achievements and perseverance. 

Social mobility varies greatly from one society to another and has important implications for international business operations. These implications include the following:
· In societies with relatively open class systems, the impact and disadvantages of class background are limited, resulting in improved working and personal relationships. Employee turnover and lack of loyalty could be disadvantages.
· In societies largely characterised by class differences between management (upper and upper middle class) and workforce (working class) could result in hostility, conflict, disrupted workflow and even strikes. 















STUDY UNIT 3.2 – CULTURAL IMPERATIVES

3.2.1 CULTURE AND ETHICAL SYSTEMS (Pg 138)

Religion may be defined as 'a system of shared beliefs and rituals that are concerned with the realm of the sacred’. 
An ethical system refers to 'a set of moral principles, or values, that serve to guide and shape behaviour’.
Religion generally influences the social and business environments in the following important ways:
· Religion often places constraints on the roles of individuals, groups and businesses in society.
· Religion places constraints on gender issues such as limiting job and career opportunities for women.
· Religion influences a person's attitude towards initiative and work.
· Religion often influences dietary habits and consumption patterns.
· Religion forms the basis for political and economic decisions.
· Major holidays are often linked to a religious system.

It is to be expected that the impact of religion on business will vary from country to country, depending on:
· The country's legal system
· The extent of the homogeneity of religious beliefs in the country
· The tolerance of other religious viewpoints in the country.

3.2.1.1 CHRISTIANITY (Pg 139)

Origin and status - Christianity is the world's major religion. Christianity had its origins in Judaism, from the Roman Catholic Church and the Orthodox Church were formed during the eleventh century. The Orthodox Church and other Protestant denominations make up the balance of Christianity

Economic and business implications - Protestantism has had far greater economic implications than Catholicism. He attributed this to the Protestant work ethic of hard work, productivity, saving, reinvestment of capital and wealth creation. This attitude firmly established a system of capitalism in Europe and North America. The Roman Catholic promise of salvation in the next world did not foster the same kind of work ethic as Protestantism.
Protestantism provided individuals with relatively greater political and economic freedom and essentially the development of individualism which gave rise to entrepreneurial free market capitalism and entrepreneurial initiative.

3.2.1.2 ISLAM (Pg 140)

Origin and status - The second largest religion worldwide. Islam originates from AD 610 and is a faith as revealed to the faithful or Muslims through Muhammad as the Prophet of Allah. 
Islam is a monotheistic faith requiring unconditional adherence to the Qur'an. Worldly gain and temporal power are regarded as illusions. All Muslims are expected to act charitably, justly, respectfully and humbly in their dealings with others. They must also be pure of heart and mind, respect the rights of others, not commit adultery and safeguard the possessions of orphans. Islam makes no distinction between religion and the state. Islam is therefore also a source of law, a guide to statecraft and statesmanship, and an arbiter for social behaviour.

Economic and business implications - Islam basically supports capitalism, but places relatively more emphasis on an individual's obligations to society, which include the following:
· Profits earned in fair business are justified, but may not result from exploitation or deceit.
· All Muslims are expected to act justly, charitably and humbly in business dealings.
· There is a prohibition on the payment and receipt of interest, this practice represents exploitation of the less fortunate.
· Islam stresses the importance of honouring contractual agreements and obligations.
· The Qur’an forms the basis of the theocratic legal systems in Muslim countries such as Saudi Arabia.
· There is strong political pressure to preserve religious traditions.
· Worship in prayer - five times a day - may be perceived as a disruption of work by outsiders.
· The wealthy and successful have an obligation to help the disadvantaged.
· Female executives in Muslim countries face additional obstacles in career advancement due to the attitude towards the role of women in society.
· Women have to dress in certain ways and are subordinated to men.
· The consumption of pork meat and alcohol is totally forbidden.

Muslim countries are basically pro free market as we have seen and are therefore receptive to international business, provided international business activities and practices are consistent with issues such as Islamic ethics.

3.2.1.3 HINDUISM (Pg 142)

Origin and current status - Originated about 4 000 years ago and is mainly found on the Indian subcontinent. Hinduism emphasises spiritual accomplishment rather than economic success. Hindus believe in a moral force in society that requires the acceptance of certain responsibilities. This is referred to as dharma. Because they believe in reincarnation and rebirth into another body after death, they also believe in karma. This is the spiritual progression of a person's soul in successive cycles of life, death and rebirth. 

Economic and business implications - Hinduism presents two major implications for economics and business:
1. The ascetic lifestyle of material and physical self-denial discourages entrepreneurial initiative, productivity, efficiency and wealth creation. 
2. The extremely rigid caste system of Hinduism has traditionally restricted the upward mobility of individuals between different castes limited career opportunities and advancement on criteria other than ability. 
Accordingly, Hindu values emphasise that:
· Individuals should be judged by their spiritual rather than their material achievements
· Mobility between castes should preferably be achieved through spiritual development, progression and reincarnation.
These values are manifested in the culture of a predominantly Hindu society and are important for international management for the following reasons:
· The restrictive nature of a caste system such as that found in India could affect the roles and advancement opportunities of individuals in organisation’s and could also affect productivity, efficiency and organizational culture. 
· Religious values, beliefs and traditions relating to a work ethic, religious holidays and dietary habits could also affect me effective operation of international firms.

While the traditional values of Hinduism are deeply imbedded, countries like India have experienced much economic and social change in recent years, confirmed by the flourishing and highly competitive software development and data processing industries in India.

3.2.1.4 BUDDHISM (Pg 142)

Origin and current status - Siddhartha Gantama, an Indian prince, founded Buddhism in the sixth century in India. He relinquished his wealth and pursued spiritual perfection. He became known as Buddha. 
Buddhists believe that life comprises suffering that can be alleviated by following the Noble Eightfold path. This emphasises right seeing, thinking, speech, action, living, mindfulness and meditation. Buddhism does not support or prescribe the caste system or the extremely ascetic lifestyle of Hinduism. However, like Hinduism, Buddhism does emphasise the afterlife and spiritual achievement rather than material well-being found in everyday life.

Economic and business implications - Like Hinduism, Buddhism does not emphasise material well-being, wealth creation and entrepreneurial initiative largely associated with Protestantism. However, the absence of a caste system and a less extreme ascetic lifestyle provide for greater mobility, a more flexible labour market and an encouraging attitude towards entrepreneurship. 


3.2.1.5 CONFUCIANISM (Pg 143)

Origin and current status - Confucianism is an ethical system founded in the fifth century BC by K'ung-Fu-tzu, better known as Confucius. More than 200 years until the 1949 communist revolution in China, Confucianism was the official ethical system.
It is based on a comprehensive ethical code that provides guidelines for relationships with others, especially high standards of moral and ethical conduct, as well as loyalty to others. Confucianism is not concerned with the supernatural, a sacred supreme being or the afterlife, and is therefore not considered a typical religion. The Confucian work ethic emphasis on hard work.

Economic and business implications - Confucianism has three central values of importance to business and economics:
1. Loyalty - lower the costs and risks of doing business in such a culture compared to a class or caste system
2. Reciprocal obligations - acknowledgement takes the form of lifetime employment, which in turn results in greater loyalty, productivity and achievement. (known as guanxi)
3. Honesty in dealing with others - The economic and business implications of this value attribute include the following:
· When companies trust each other not to break contractual obligations, the costs and risks of doing business are lower and good relationships are practically regarded as substitutes for formal legal systems.
· Honesty and trust could result in companies readily committing resources in terms of collaborative arrangements and alliances.
· Trust and close cooperation between manufacturers and suppliers could lead to lower costs and risks, greater efficiency and productivity and, therefore, sustainable competitive advantage.

3.2.2 CULTURAL IMPEDIMENTS (Pg 144)

Communication is a key element of culture. Language involves both spoken and unspoken communication. Understanding the differences in language between cultures is important in international business operations.

The role of language in international business
Language organises the way in which members of a society think about the world as well as filtering their observations and perceptions. Language also provides other important information on the cultural values of societies. 
The presence of more than one language in a country could alert the astute international manager to other areas of diversity such as income levels, work ethic and various demographic variables that could constitute invaluable sources of strategic and marketing intelligence. Language could also be a source of competitive advantage since accurate communication in a business is vital.
Inability to understand what the other person is saying is always a barrier to communication and misunderstanding is much more likely to occur in cross-cultural situations. Even in cases where people do speak the same language, problems in communication can still arise because of the variety of dialects in some languages and the different meanings attached to words and expressions, it could be that:
· There is no facility to do a complete check on the translation
· The other party is not sitting across the table from you.


Language, culture and international business

Verbal and written communication & Non-verbal communication
International business people should preferably familiarise themselves with the customs, traditions and non-verbal means of communication in foreign cultures. Language capability serves the following four distinct roles in international business:
1. Language is important in information gathering and evaluation.
2. Language provides invaluable access to local society.
3. Language capability is becoming increasingly important in company communications, whether within the multinational corporate family or externally.
4. Language provides more than the mere ability to communicate - it extends beyond mechanics to the interpretation of contexts

Education
Both formal and informal education play a major role in sharing and passing on culture. Formal education is the medium through which individuals learn language, conceptual, mathematical and technical skills. It is generally accepted that literate and educated people read more widely, have a better understanding of the world around them, resulting in greater economic productivity and technological innovation.
For international business, knowledge about the extent of education in other countries is important for at least two reasons. 
1. First, the general level of education will largely reflect the knowledge, intellectual capacity and sophistication of a society, which could influence the type of product to be marketed successfully. 
2. Second, general educational levels in a society reflect the availability, skills and capabilities of human resources. 

Education in a country is largely determined by the percentage of GDP that is allocated to it and the effective use of such funds. There is not a perfect one-to-one relationship between the percentage of GDP devoted to education and the quality of education, the level of spending does reflect a country's commitment to education. The relationships between education, culture and business are reflected by the values and norms taught both directly and indirectly about the economic, political and social nature of a society in the process of education.[image: ]


3.2.3 LEVEL OF CULTURE (Pg 151)

The international or multinational business manager has to contend with the following three levels of culture:
1. National culture
2. Business culture
3. Organisational and professional or occupational cultures.

NATIONAL CULTURE
National culture is generally defined as the dominant culture within the borders of a country and is represented by the majority of the population, or the population group with the greatest political or economic power in the nation state.
Some notable implications of national culture for international business are the following:
· The dominant culture of the nation state generally has the greatest influence on international business as a result of its political and economic ideologies and the legal systems of the country.
· Educational systems transmit values, norms, attitudes and beliefs that manifest in the way business ethics are perceived and practised in a country.
· Religious beliefs influence the work ethic, way of life, moral standards and consumer behaviour in the country concerned.

BUSINESS CULTURE
Business cutout	the values, norms, attitudes, beliefs and etiquette that manifest in all areas when doing business in a specific cultures.  Business culture can be separated from the broader national culture by:
· the importance of age or seniority
· the role of women
· supervisor-subordinate relationships.

Business culture accordingly influences all facets of work and organisational involvement. These facets include:
· cross-cultural leadership and management
· employee selection and promotion
· leading and motivating employees
· structuring organisation’s
· structuring remuneration and reward systems
· conducting business negotiations
· formulating, deciding on and implementing strategies
· deciding on strategic alliances.

ORGANISATIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL CULTURE

National culture and business culture provide the context for understanding organisational and occupational culture in international business.

Organisational culture - ‘The norms, values and beliefs concerning the organisation and shared by the members of the organisation’. These assumptions, values and beliefs concerning an organisation are discovered and emerge when members of an organisation learn to cope with both external and internal problems. 

Occupational or professional cultures - are distinct cultures of occupational or profissional professional groups such as lawyers, accountants and physicians. Occupational cultures are the values, norms, beliefs and expected behaviour of people in the same occupational groups, irrespective of the organisation for which they work. People belonging to different occupational or professional groups often behave in a more similar way to one another than to people from their own national cultures.

3.2.4 CULTURE IN THE WORKPLACE (Pg 151)
A key question for an international business operating in different countries is how the culture of a specific society affects the values found in the workplace in each of these societies. 

3.2.4.1 LOW-CONTEXT HIGH-CONTEXT APPROACH

Hall developed a useful approach for classifying cultures by distinguishing between low-context and high-context cultures. 
· Low-context cultures - a speaker's words explicitly convey and communicate the message to the listener.
· High-context cultures - the context in which a conversation takes place is as important as the words actually spoken, emphasising the importance of nonverbal behaviour. 

	High-context cultures
	Low-context cultures

	· Advertising in is more emotion-oriented, such as Japan
· More inclined to establish trust as a basis for negotiation.
· A good emotional social setting is cultivated for decision making
· Value long-term relationships and regard trust as sufficient grounds to conduct negotiations
	· Advertising in a is more factual, such as Germany.
· Place more importance on specific terms of agreements and transactions
· Decision making is impersonal and conflicts of interest are avoided at all costs.



3.2.4.2 RONEN AND SHENKAR'S CULTURAL CLUSTER APPROACH

Ronen and Shenkar grouped or clustered nearly 50 countries on the basis of how employees in each country responded to four sets of questions concerning the following:
· The importance of various work goals
· The extent to which various needs at work were satisfied
· Autocratic versus democratic management styles
· Work roles and interpersonal relations.

Ronen and Shenkar identified eight country clusters and four countries which are independent and did not fit into any of the clusters at the time. Some countries were found to be relatively similar to one another largely because they share many attributes that help to mould their cultures, such as language, religion, geographic location, ethnicity and degree of economic development. Management should expect fewer differences when moving within one of the clusters, than when moving from one cluster to another.
The model provides a useful framework for analysing international cultures and their implications from an international management perspective.


3.2.4.3 HOFSTEDE'S CULTURAL DIMENSIONS

One of the most influential studies on nanonal culture and how culture relates to values in the workplace was done by Geert Hofctede, a Dutch researcher conducted between 1967 and 1973, and involved 116 000 employees (managerial and non-managerial) in branches and subsidiaries of IBM in 40 countries. He highlighted five dimensions, these are:
1. Power distance
2. Individualism versus collectivism
3. Uncertainty avoidance
4. Masculinity versus femininity
5. Time orientation.

1. Power Distance
The extent to which less powerful members accept that power is distributed unequally. Countries in which people blindly obey the orders of their superiors have high power distance. This dimension reflects the extent to which people in a culture can accept large differences in power between individuals and groups in an organisation. Where power distance is low, people are more likely to fear the concentration of power and the society believes that the inequality that exists should be minimised. In high power distance cultures, inequalities in society and organisations are accepted in the larger scheme of things.

2. Individualism versus Collectivism 
This dimension focuses on the relationship between the individual and his or her fellow beings. In individualistic societies, ties among individuals are loose, individuals are expected to take care of themselves, and individual freedom and achievement are highly valued. In collectivist societies, ties between individuals are tight. This collective may be a group, extended family, clan, tribe or organisation

3. Uncertainty Avoidance
This dimension measures the extent to which a society accepts and prepares itself for ambiguous situations and uncertainty. People in high uncertainty avoidance cultures are uncomfortable in unstructured situations - they prefer situations regulated by laws and rules on safety and security, including job security. In low uncertainty avoidance cultures, people are more likely to take risks, are less likely to change and are comfortable with fewer rules and regulations.

4. Masculinity versus Femininity
On this continuum, the masculine end describes a culture where men are assertive, sex and gender roles are clearly differentiated, and wealth and material possessions are important .At the opposite end, femininity describes a society where sex roles are less sharply distinguished, where greater equality between genders exists and little differentiation is made between men and women in the same job.

5. Time orientation
Reflects the extent to which members of a culture adopt a long-term as opposed to a short-term outlook on work life and other societal aspects. Japan and some Eastern cultures have a long-term orientation and value dedication, hard work and perseverance. People in many Latin American and Mediterranean cultures are far more casual about time. Other cultures focus on the past and present emphasising tradition and social obligations and some cultures tend towards intermediate time orientation while emphasising punctuality.










Implications for International Management

Hofstede developed an index score for each of the four original dimensions that ranged from 1 to 100, with the high scores tending towards high individualism, high power distance, high uncertainty avoidance and high masculinity in each case.
These results provide guidelines useful to managers on what to expect when interacting with and having to manage people in a foreign country. These could include the following:
1. In countries with high individualism, performance appraisal systems would work best if directed towards rewarding the individual rather than the group.
2. In cultures with low individualism (high collectivism), group-oriented reward systems would be more appropriate.
3. In societies where uncertainty avoidance is high, long-term planning, preparing for contingencies and ensuring security should be emphasised.
4. In low uncertainty avoidance situations, short-term planning and flexibility would be highly motivational, while job security, for example, would be less of an issue than in high uncertainty avoidance cultures.
5. Where power distance tends to be high, decisions tend to be centralised, organisational mobility low, organisational structures tall and there is a preference for direction from superiors.
6. With low power distance, organisation structures tend to be flatter, decision making more participative, with more mobility within the organisation.
7. In countries that score high on masculinity, organisational goals should focus on increasing market share, profitability and wealth, men will dominate the upper levels of management and the focus will be on task accomplishment.
8. In more feministic societies, quality of work life, environmental protection, notions of equity fairness and corporate social responsibility are bound to be predominant with less oven differences on gender work roles.

3.2.4.4 TROMPENAARS' CULTURAL PARAMETERS

The set of parameters for analysing cultural differences:
· Universalism versus particularism - social versus personal obligations - Universal cultures focus more on rules and procedures than on relationships, whereas the opposite is true of particularist cultures.
· Collectivism versus individualism - group versus personal goals - Collectivist cultures emphasise 'we' rather than 'I' or 'me' as in individualist cultures.
· Neutral versus emotional relationships - showing emotion in business relationships - deemed unprofessional Affective cultures, however, express emotions openly. - Neutral relationship cultures tend to suppress delight, anger or intense emotion in the workplace since such behaviour is deemed unprofessional Affective cultures, however, express emotions openly.
· Specific versus diffuse relationships - degree of involvement in personal relationships between subordinates and superiors - Specific relationships tend to separate work life and private life, whereas work life and private life are closely related in cultures that tend to have diffuse relationships.
· [bookmark: bookmark6]Achievement versus ascription - the basis for determining status - Achievement-oriented cultures evaluated on their performance. In ascription-oriented cultures, power and status are given to those who are admired, loyal, senior and experienced.
· Sequential versus synchronic - attitude toward time - In sequential cultures specific plans of action and chronological execution of plans are preferred, as opposed to synchronic cultures where several things are done at the same time.
· Inner-directed versus outer-directed control over destiny









3.2.5 IMPLICATIONS OF CULTURE FOR INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS (Pg 157)

International business is different from purely domestic business because countries are different. We identify four important implications for international business in general and international management in particular. These include:
· The connection between culture and competitive advantage
· Culture and business ethics
· The need for cross-cultural literacy
· The connection between culture and entrepreneurial orientation

CULTURE AND COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE
There is a connection between culture and competitive advantage in the international marketplace. The firm that manages the costs and risks related to cultural differences between countries better than its competitors should have a competitive advantage over its rivals in the global marketplace. This requires an intimate knowledge of the cultures concerned - that is, having cross-cultural literacy.
Most of these issues tend to raise the costs and often increase the risk of doing business in diverse cultures. Factors that include:
· the Protestant work ethic and orientation toward capitalism
· free trade and entrepreneurship, much of which is negated in cultures characterised by caste and class systems and in collectivist societies. 
· Education could indicate the skills levels of the workforce in a specific country. Countries with sound educational systems, an adequate workforce, absence of disruptive labour practices, an ethic of hard work and free market orientation would probably be preferred destinations for international business and foreign direct investment.

CULTURE AND BUSINESS ETHICS
Although many ethical principles are universal, some of them are culturally bound. 'Whose ethical systems do you use in international business?' Guidelines that firms could consider are those embedded in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights of the United Nations and which most countries have ratified which states:
· Everyone has the right to work, to free choice of employment, to just and favourable conditions of work and to protection against unemployment.
· Everyone, without discrimination, has the right to equal pay for equal work.
· Everyone who works has the right to just and favourable remuneration.
· Everyone has the right to form and to join trade unions for the protection of his or her interest.

Thomas Donaldson argues that firms facing ethical problems should be guided by three principles
· Respect for core human values (human rights) that determine the absolute moral threshold for all business activities
· Respect for local tradition
· The belief that context matters when deciding what is right and what is wrong

CROSS-CULTURAL LITERACY
Doing business in different cultures requires an intimate knowledge of such cultures and the ability to adapt and conform to the value systems and norms of the culture concerned. Adaptation to conform to other value systems may include the consideration of issues such as:
· leadership, management and decision making styles
· structuring of the organisation
· use of teams
· reward systems
· negotiation strategies
· labour relations
· human resource practices - in particular staffing and promotion
· marketing, product development and promotional strategies.

Ways of enhancing cross-cultural literacy (geocentric approach) are to:
· Guard against ethnocentric behaviour and to employ host country nationals in certain key areas (polycentric approach)
· Develop a cadre of cosmopolitan executives, appointing foreigners on the company's board of directors
· Use multicultural task teams whenever possible
· Selectively transfer home-country executives to foreign locations at regular intervals.


CULTURE AND ENTREPRENEURIAL ORIENTATION
Some societies are generally more inclined towards entrepreneurial behaviour than others, largely due to cultural factors. A relatively stronger relationship exists between culture and entrepreneurial orientation in some societies compared to others.
A culture that is low on power distance, weak in uncertainty avoidance, masculine in nature, individualistic and achievement-oriented would encourage a strong entrepreneurial orientation. Societies with these cultural characteristics have the potential for entrepreneurial development with the concomitant benefits of enhanced economic growth, increased employment opportunities and increased global competitiveness.
A culture is not constant and evolves over time. Cultural change in different countries could become an important catalyst for entrepreneurial development.




































TOPIC 4 – GLOBAL MONETARY SYSTEMS AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE
STUDY UNIT 4.1 – THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY SYSTEM

4.1.1 THE INTERNATIONAL MONETARY SYSTEM: EVOLUTION AND CONSTITUENTS (Pg 164)

The International Monetary System (IMS) essentially represents a set of rules and regulations aimed at facilitating international trade without jeopardising either individual national economies or the entire global economy. The IMS accordingly provides the institutional framework within which the foreign exchange market functions, as well as the rationale for government intervention when such intervention is necessary. 

The Gold Standard (1876-1944)
The first formal international monetary system. The countries concerned had to determine rates at which their paper or coin currency could be converted to a specific weight of gold. The confidence in this system was undermined by distortions in the international financial markets, particularly from the beginning of World War I in 1914 until almost the end of World War II in 1944. These distortions resulted primarily from inadequate monetary policies of many countries, protectionist currency devaluations and the resulting trade wars, as well as deliberate speculative actions in international financial markets. For these reasons, as well as the need for greater stability, the gold standard was gradually phased out during the 1930s.

The Bretton Woods Agreement and the Fixed Exchange Rate Paradigm (1944-1973)
This agreement provided for a US dollar-based international monetary system where the US dollar became an international money to which other countries' currencies could be converted, while the dollar was, in turn, convertible to gold. In addition, two important institutions were established, namely the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank (WB).
With this new fixed exchange rate system, all other currencies were pegged to the US dollar. Countries had to obtain the prior approval of the IMF before embarking on any significant currency devaluation or revaluation. The onus was, therefore, on the IMF to maintain monetary discipline in and provide stability to the international financial markets and the IMS after 1944.
It collapsed in 1973 mainly because of the divergent monetary policies adopted by various countries, the different inflation rates of countries and an increasing inflation rate and continuous balance-of-payments (BOP) deficit in the USA during the late 1960s and early 1970s. The BOP deficit effectively meant an oversupply of the dollar, which some countries decided to redeem in gold. This chain of events eventually led to the breakdown of the fixed exchange rate system

The Floating (Flexible) Exchange Rate System (1973-Date)
The demise of the fixed exchange rate regime led to the introduction of the floating exchange rate system in 1973. The floating exchange rate system made exchange rate fluctuations inherently more unpredictable than previously. This phase in the evolution of the IMS understandably gave rise to greater uncertainty in the foreign exchange market. 
From 1980 to 1985, the value of the trade-weighted US dollar increased dramatically against other major currencies with devastating consequences for US exports. This situation prompted the ministers of finance of Group of Five (G5) countries (France, Germany, Japan, the UK and the USA) into action in 1985. Their deliberations resulted in the:
· Plasa Accord - provided for most major currencies to appreciate against the dollar and a pledge by the finance ministers of the G5 countries to intervene in the foreign exchange market whenever necessary. The decline in the value of the dollar started in 1985 until 1987 when the G5 met in Paris in a renewed attempt to achieve some stability in the international financial markets. 
· The Louvre Accord - which allowed governments to intervene in the international financial market by selling or buying currency as circumstances required. By early 1988, the value of the dollar had levelled off against other currencies and remained fairly stable against most major currencies well into the 1990s. The exceptions over the long term were the continued strength of the yen and the Deutschmark relative to the dollar.
As a result of the Plasa Accord and Louvre Accord interventions, the floating exchange rate regime is also referred to as a managed float system or a dirty float system of exchange rates

While overcoming some of the shortcomings of the fixed exchange rate system, the floating exchange rate regime has undoubtedly contributed to the increasing complexity, uncertainty and sophistication of the international financial market. This situation is further underlined by the ongoing debate regarding the relative merits of fixed as against floating exchange rate systems. 
Other contemporary currency arrangements
The IMF classifies existing currency arrangements in the following seven categories:
· Pegged to another currency
· Pegged to a basket
· Flexible against a single currency i joint float
· I adjusted according to indicators
· Managed float
· Independently floating
South Africa is one of more than 40 countries that allows full flexibility in terms of an independent float where central banks allow exchange rates to be determined by market forces alone. However, some central banks intervene in the market from time to time, especially to counter speculative pressures.

4.1.2 THE CONCEPT OF A SINGLE CURRENCY (Pg 166)

The European Monetary System (EMS)
An important development in the IMS was the establishment of the European Monetary System (EMS) in 1979. The EMS was founded with the following three objectives in mind; 
1. The creation of a zone of monetary stability in Europe by reducing exchange rate volatility through convergence of member states' interest rates 
2. Control of member states' inflation through the imposition of monetary policy discipline
3. Coordination of member states' exchange rate policies with regard to non-European currencies such as the US dollar and the yen.
4. The introduction of a common currency for the EMS by 1 January 1999. European Union CEU) member states formally committed themselves to this last objective by way of die Maastricht Treaty in December 1991.

Since the EMS exchange rate mechanism was based on a fixed exchange rate arrangement that encompassed both weak and strong currencies, it was effectively exposed to the inherent dangers of speculative pressures. The vulnerability of Fixed exchange rate systems to speculative pressures was once again reaffirmed. In other words, a country that seeks to maintain the value of its currency relative to other currencies must have enough foreign exchange reserves to buy or sell, as the situation may require, to keep its currency's value fixed relative to other currencies.
These events triggered two important changes in the EMS in August 1993. 
1. First, the prevailing exchange rate fluctuation band of 2.25% was widened to a more accommodating band of 5% with the objective objective of reducing the scope for speculation. 
2. Second, countries with stronger currencies were no longer compelled to intervene in the foreign exchange market, a measure that largely condoned what had already been experienced in the crisis of September 1992. 
EU intended introducing the euro on 1 January 1999 as legal tender for 11 of the 15 member states in 2002

The Economic and Monetary Union (EMU)
The Economic and Monetary Union (EMU), as conceived by the Maastricht Treaty, is a monetary union, an economic union to a limited extent, but not a political union. It is a monetary union because national monetary competencies are pooled within a European Central Bank (ECB) that defines and implements a single monetary policy in a single currency. The transition to a single currency involved three phases for which definite dates were set:
· During 1998 all arrangements for the single monetary and exchange rate policy were finalised and the production of euro banknotes commenced
· On 1 January 1999 the ECB took over the monetary policy from member states and the rates of conversion between the euro and the participating national currencies were fixed so that the euro became a currency.
· The new euro banknotes and coins were introduced into circulation on 1 January 2002. This operation was scheduled to be completed by 1 July 2002 at the latest.




The Impact of the Euro
Financial economists had long pointed to the possibility and potential benefits of a single currency for Europe and other economic communities. They argued that cross-border sharing of a single currency would lead to:
· More transparent prices
· Lower transaction costs
· Greater certainty for investors and enhanced competition. 

Uncertainty regarding the effects on issues such as the free flow and mobility of labour, the flexibility of wages and prices, and the appropriate mechanisms for transferring fiscal resources to affected countries, raised questions in that countries did not have similar economic structures or economic cycles in harmony with one another. 
· Volatility in interest rates will depend largely on monetary policy instruments in the ECB and the frequency of possible market inventions. 
· With regard to exchange rates, the elimination of foreign exchange risk as a result of the single currency system has reduced costs, enhanced competition and stimulated cross-border trade.
· The euro has given rise to accounting and taxation issues, especially with regard to accounting for foreign subsidiaries, translation of financial statement data in multinational enterprises and exchange rates for translation of historical financial data. 
· The euro has created opportunities for business and development and also demands greater efficiency for global competitiveness.

Evolving International Financial Institutions
The Bank for International Settlements (BIS) was established after World War II for the netting of payments among European Payment Union members, a step which greatly reduced the volume of gross international payment transactions. Recently, the BIS has acted where central bankers and regulators  gather data on exchange markets, euro markets and new financial instruments. The BIS serves as:
· A bank for central banks, coordinating best practice across countries
· A provider of rules and guidelines that foster cross-border prudential banking, such as the capital adequacy rule encapsulated in the Basel Accord (I, II, III)
· A thought leader in global financial matters that offers possible mechanisms for managing future consequences of product innovation, among other roles.
Prior to this global meltdown, the BIS presciently started calling attention to the need to understand both the complexity and potential contagion effects of the rapidly proliferating financial derivatives. These were new financial products that were designed to channel risks to those most capable of handling them, but were instead used for speculative purposes. The BIS lent its voice for financial services to mark-to-market (report current market values of) derivative instruments on their books. By doing so, the relative risk level of these products would be more apparent. On the occurrence of the global financial crisis, the BIS was proactive in offering possible solutions to resolve the crisis and in coordinating effective policies for major central banks of the world















STUDY UNIT 4.2 – THE FOREIGN EXCHANGE (FOREX) MARKET

4.2.1 STRUCTURE AND FUNCTIONING OF THE FOREX MARKET (Pg 169)

The foreign exchange market provides the physical and institutional structure for foreign exchange transactions. It is made up of a network of banks across the globe that facilitates the conversion of currencies. The foreign exchange market has no fixed location. The key functions of the foreign exchange market can be articulated as:
· The transfer of purchasing power of one currency to another
· The provision of credit to individuals and multinational firms that are distributed across the globe
· The minimization of foreign exchange risk relating to cross-border trade and investments

The Foreign Exchange Market - Structure and Participants
The foreign exchange market can be said to comprise:
· The wholesale or interbank market that constitutes an informal network of hundreds of banks and brokerages dealing among each other and with multinational companies
· The retail or client market that caters primarily for the foreign exchange needs of individuals.

The foreign exchange market can be further subdivided into the
· Spot exchange market - transactions are executed immediately at the prevailing market rate, with settlement (payment and delivery of currency) within two business days. 
· Forward exchange market - exchange rate and delivery date are agreed to today, with settlement and delivery of foreign currency taking place at a specified future date. 

Five broad categories of participants are involved at both the interbank and the client levels, and in the spot and forward foreign exchange markets. They are:
1. Bank and non-bank foreign exchange dealers
2. Individuals and firms conducting cross-border trade and investment transactions
3. Speculators and arbitrageurs 
4. central banks and treasury departments 
5. Foreign exchange brokers.

4.2.2 FOREX RATES AND TRANSACTIONS (Pg 171)

· Foreign exchange is the money (medium of exchange) of a foreign country, usually in the form of bank deposits, drafts or financial claims on an economic agent of the foreign country. 
· The exchange rate is the price or value of one currency in terms of another currency. 
· A foreign exchange transaction is an agreement between a buyer and seller that a fixed amount of one currency be delivered for some other currency at a specified rate and time.

4.2.2.1 DIRECT AND INDIRECT QUOTES
Exchange rate quotations can be direct or indirect. 
· Direct quote - gives the home currency price of one unit of the foreign currency, e.g. R7.0495/US$
· Indirect quote – The units of foreign currency needed to buy one of unit of home currency, e.g.  US$0.1419/R1 
The direct quote is the reciprocal of the indirect quote and vice versa. 

4.2.2.2 BID, ASK AND SPREAD
Exchange rate dealers give quotations as a bid (or buy) and an ask (offer or sell). 
· The bid - is the price at which a bank will buy foreign exchange from another bank 
· The ask - is the price at which a bank will sell foreign exchange. Banks bid or buy foreign exchange at lower rates and ask or sell at higher rates. 
· The spread - is the difference between the selling and buying rates and represents the dealer's profit margin. 
4.2.2.3 SPOT AND FORWARD TRANSACTIONS
· A spot transaction - involves the purchase of foreign exchange with settlement (delivery and payment) to be completed within two business days following the date of transaction. The bilateral spot foreign exchange rate or the spot rate, is the price at which one currency trades for another currency in an immediate execution of the transaction. 
· A forward exchange rate - or forward rate is the price agreed on today for the purchase or sale of foreign exchange at a future date. Such a transaction is called a forward transaction and requires delivery of foreign exchange on a designated future date. Forward exchange rates are normally quoted for maturities or future value dates of one, three, six and 12 months. Forward contracts should be settled by the second business day after expiry of the contractual time period. The terms 'buying forward' or 'selling forward' can also be used to describe forward transactions. 

Example of a forward transaction
Since the US dollar is more expensive in the forward market (R7.1393 compared to the spot rate of R7.0495), the US dollar is selling at a premium relative to the rand. On the same basis, the rand is selling at a discount relative to the US dollar. From a US dollar perspective, the spread (premium/discount) is calculated as follows:

 =  			Where: 	= Three month forward exchange rate
= spot exchange rate

In this case, the rand is selling at a discount three months forward, relative to the US dollar from the perspective of the South African importer. Therefore, more rands are required to buy a given quantity of dollars. The importer has to pay R214 179 in three months' time. The difference between R214 179 and R211 485 is R2 694, or 1.27%, on the basis of the spot rate.

4.2.2.4 Currency swaps
A currency swap is a trade which involves the exchange of two currencies by means of the simultaneous purchase and sale of a given amount of foreign exchange for two different value dates. It is a sophisticated type of forward foreign exchange contract. Swap contracts are useful for hedging foreign exchange rate risks by merely swapping the notional value of a currency to which one party has exposure and for which the counter-party has a need for its currency. Thus, currency swaps allow:
· Moving out of one currency into another for a specified time period without incurring foreign exchange risk
· Companies to obtain long-term foreign currency financing at lower costs than would have been possible with direct borrowing.
Swaps allow internationally engaged firms (economic agents) to match their foreign exchange liabilities with their foreign exchange assets.

Example of a currency swap
Consider a South African manufacturer that has to import sophisticated heater elements from a company in the UK. A significant proportion of the total production output of heaters is also sold in the UK. The South African manufacturer, in effect, buys from and sells to firms in the UK. Further assume that the South African firm has to obtain £40 000 today to pay the UK firm for a consignment of heater elements. At this stage, the South African firm also knows that in 180 days it will be paid £40 000 for a batch of heaters by a UK importer and it will then need to convert these pounds into rand.
The spot exchange rate for the pound sterling in terms of the South African rand is £1 = R14.0419 and that the 180-day forward exchange rate is £1 = R14.3654. Through its bank the South African firm sells R561 676 to the bank at the spot exchange rate in return for £40 000 and can pay the UK manufacturer. At the same time, the South African firm enters into a 180-day forward exchange contract with its bank for converting £40 000 into rand. Therefore, in 180 days, the manufacturer will receive R574 616 (£40,000 x 14.3654).
Since the pound sterling is trading at a premium in terms of the rand on the 180- day forward market, the South African manufacturer ends up with more rands than it started with. Remember, however, that the opposite could also occur





4.2.2.5 CROSS-RATES
A cross-rate is the exchange rate between two currencies, calculated on the basis of their common relationship with a third currency. It is the exchange rate between two currencies, usually non-US and often infrequently traded currencies, where the exchange rate between two currencies is not available. It could also be a useful trading tool, e.g, if a cross-rate is different to the quoted bilateral exchange rate between two currencies, a trader can earn arbitrage (risk-free) profit by buying the undervalued currency while simultaneously selling the overvalued one.

Example of a cross-rate
Assume that a US dollar quotation for the Swiss franc is not available, but that the pound sterling is quoted in New York and the Swiss franc is quoted in London as follows:
· Pounds sterling quote in New York: US$1.5518/£
· Swiss franc quote in London: SF2.3068/£.
The cross-rate in this case is computed thus:
Given that SF2.3068/£ = US$1.5518/£
Multiplying and dividing both sides of the equation by £ and $ respectively, yields SF/US$ =2.3068/1.5518

4.2.2.6 ARBITRAGE
Exchange rates tend to converge to the same value since information is readily available. There will be arbitrage profit opportunities from simultaneously buying a currency in one market and selling it in another. Arbitrage would continue until the difference in these exchange rates becomes so small that it would no longer justify the costs of buying and selling, thereby effectively eliminating the arbitrage profit opportunity.
Arbitrage often involves more than two currencies. Since banks generally quote exchange rates in terms of the US dollar, the exchange rates between the US dollar and foreign currencies are readily available. For example, if the dollar price of the pound sterling (US$/£) as well as the dollar price of the euro (US$/€) are known, the pound price of the euro (£/€) can be readily determined.

Example of an arbitrage
Consider an arbitrage involving the above three currencies. For the sake of simplicity suppose:
· London, US$/£ = US$2.2 
· New York US$/€ = US$0.70.
The cross-rate between the pound and the euro is calculated as follows:  = 
Note that we first rewrite the left- and right- hand quotations in terms of the euro and pound price of a dollar, respectively, before deriving the cross-rate: 	Therefore, £/€ = 0.318

If any one of the three exchange rates is out of line with the remaining two, an arbitrage opportunity exists. For example, assume that the £/US$ is 2.20 in Frankfurt, the US$/€ - 0.70 in New York, but in London the US$/£ = 2.10. As soon as the discrepancy in the US$/£ exchange rate is observed, a trader could buy £1 million in London for US$2.1 million (US$/£ = 2.10). The pounds are now used to buy euro at £/€ = 0.318, resulting in £1 million = €3 144 654. This last amount of €3 144 654 can now be used to buy US dollars in New York at US$/€ = 0.70. This would give €3 144 654 = US$2 201 258. The initial US$2.1 million dollars would now return a profit of US$161 258 (US$2 201 258 - US$2100 000) as a result of triangular arbitrage. Bear in mind that in a real-world situation, transaction costs would decrease this profit.
In this example of triangular arbitrage: 
· The initial US$ price of the £ in London was too low.
· Arbitrageurs selling US$ for £ in London will make the £ relatively more expensive (increase in demand for £), which at the same time will tend to make the US$ in London slightly less expensive through increasing the supply in London.
· The net effect of this arbitrage will be to raise the price of the £ from the level of US$2.10 towards the (equilibrium) level of US$2.20, while the influence in other markets will tend to raise the £ price of the euro and lower the US$ price of the euro, converging towards a new equilibrium for the US$ price of pounds to somewhere between US$2.10 and US$2.20.



4.2.3 EXCHANGE RATE DETERMINATION (Pg177)

Basically, the main motivators for the demand of a foreign currency are people's desire for foreign goods and services, foreign investments, international financial instruments and to capitalise on speculative opportunities. Similarly, people's desire to sell their products and services creates a supply of foreign currency.

4.2.3.1 EXCHANGE RATE AND PRICE LEVELS

The law of one price
According to the law of one price (an important foundation of most product price determination), identical products sold in different countries must sell at the same price when the items' prices are expressed in the same currency, assuming the existence of competitive markets free from tariff and non-tariff barriers to trade and transportation costs.

Purchasing power parity
Purchasing power parity (PPP) states that the exchange rate between any two currencies adjusts to reflect differences in price levels in the two countries. In simple terms, the theory states that:
· The price of a basket of goods should be the same in each country and predicts that the exchange rate will change if relative prices change. 
Differences in national inflation rates are a main cause of changes in the relative prices of goods and services. These price changes are the major cause of changes or adjustments in exchange rates where a country's inflation rate is believed to be a function of the growth in its money supply. In the final instance, the exchange rate adjusts to keep the purchasing power constant between currencies. A distinction is made between:
· Absolute PPP means that a commodity or service costs the same, regardless of where it is sold or what currency is used. 
· Relative PPP does not serve as an indicator of the absolute level of exchange rates, but rather of the change in exchange rates over time.

According to relative PPP, a change in the bilateral exchange rate (i.e. the expected bilateral exchange rate at some future date (t)) is determined by the differences in the inflation rates between the two countries, and the bilateral spot rate, , is calculated as follows:
 = 
where:
· = expected exchange rate in (t) periods 
·  = spot exchange rate at time  
·  = inflation rate in the home country 
·  = inflation rate in the foreign country

Relative PPP tells us that the exchange rate between South Africa and some foreign country will change if the South African inflation rate is higher or lower than that of the foreign country. The rand depreciates or appreciates in value. For example, if the South African exchange rate is currently R5.6818 per Swiss franc, what will the exchange rate be two years from now if the inflation rate in South Africa and Switzerland are 7% and 2% respectively?
	
 	= 
	= 
	= 
	= 
	= 6.2642 rand per Swiss franc

Most economists agree that the PPP theory explains long-term trends in exchange rate movements reasonably well, but that it is not suitable for predicting short-term changes


4.2.3.2 THE RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN EXCHANGE RATES, INTEREST RATES AND INFLATION RATES (Pg 179)

The Fisher effect
Irving Fisher formulated the Fisher effect, a parity relationship that holds that nominal interest rates (i) in a given country are equal to a real interest rate (r) plus the expected rate of inflation (h). This relationship supports economic theory in that interest rates reflect expectations about likely future inflation rates. The Fisher equation is as follows:
i = r + h
Investors require positive real returns on their investments. When inflation is expected to be high, nominal interest rates will also tend to be high to compensate investors for a drop in the purchasing power of their money. From the Fisher effect it follows that an increase in expected inflation will tend to increase the nominal interest rate. If we already know, on the basis of the PPP, at least in theory, that there is a link between inflation rates and exchange rates and since interest rates reflect expectations about future inflation, there should logically also be a link between interest rates and exchange rates.

The international Fisher effect
This important relationship between exchange rates, interest rates and inflation rates is embodied in the international Fisher effect (IFE), which states that for any two countries, the bilateral spot exchange rate should change in an equal amount, but in the opposite direction, to the difference in nominal interest rates between the two countries. The equation for the international Fisher effect states that:
( - / =  - 
where:
·  = spot exchange rate at the beginning of the period
·  = spot exchange rate at the end of the period
·  = nominal interest rate in South Africa 
·  = nominal interest rate in Switzerland

If the expected South African interest rate of 7% is higher than the Swiss interest rate of 2%, reflecting relatively higher expected inflation rates for South Africa, the value of the rand should decrease by 5% (7 - 2) against the Swiss franc over the period concerned.
According to the theory, it is clear that the difference in returns (nominal interest rates) between two countries (foreign country and home country) is equal to the difference in their inflation rates, confirming the IFE theory that real interest rates are equal across countries. In theory, these relationships should hold for any two countries BUT Both the PPP and the IFE are poor predictors of short-term changes in spot exchange rates

4.2.3.3 THE ROLE OF BEHAVIOUYRAL FINANCE IN FORES MARKEST (Pg 180)
Behavioural finance deals with explaining investors' conduct that does not fit the efficient market hypothesis where financial assets fully reflect all available relevant information about an asset. The bandwagon effect, where the herd instinct leads to certain types of mass trading behaviour and actions, appears to have some influence on short-term exchange rate movements. The inherent problem, however, is that the occurrence, frequency and potential effects of these events are still difficult to predict

4.2.4 EXCHANGE RATE FORECASTING (Pg 180)

Market efficiency
In the efficient market school, forward exchange rates are believed to be the best predictors of future spot exchange rates. The belief is based on the assumption that the exchange market is efficient and that prices reflect all available information. Any further attempts at analysis will not result in superior forecasts and will only be a waste of time and money. Forward exchange rates should therefore be regarded as unbiased predictors of future spot exchange rates and any inaccuracies that might occur would be of a random nature.
The inefficient market school accordingly believes that foreign exchange markets are inefficient to varying degrees and that so called market imperfections do exist. Analysts can improve on the foreign exchange market's predictions and it is argued that forward exchange rates are not the best predictors of future spot exchange rates. 

Approaches to exchange rate forecasting
Supporters of the inefficient market school basically follow two approaches to exchange rate forecasting - fundamental analysis and technical analysis. 
· Fundamental analysis is based largely on economic theory and includes variables such as fundamentally determined forward exchange rates, recognised lead indicators, relative money supply data, growth rates, interest rates, inflation rates and, more indirectly, balance of payments information. 
· Technical analysis primarily uses relevant volume and price data to identify historical trends and repetitive cyclical patterns, which are then projected into the future, taking into account various market and other relevant factors. Technical analysis has gained increasing importance over time and has by far the greatest adherence in foreign exchange dealing where technical analysis, and especially chartism, is mainly used for short-term forecasting horizons. They also contend that psychological influences as possible exchange rate determinants are most closely related with technical analysis








































STUDY UNIT 4.3 – INTERNATION CAPITAL MARKETS

4.3.1 MONEY AND CAPITAL MARKETS (Pg 181)

Financial markets are traditionally categorised into money and capital markets. 
· Money markets cater to the trading of short- term (one day to one year) financial assets such as equity and bond markets
· capital markets cater to the trading of long-term financial assets, with long term deemed any maturity greater than one year such as currency forward, repurchase agreement and treasury bill markets.
Foreign exchange activity falls to a large extent under money markets, while roll-over exchange rate activity, cross-border multiple-year borrowing, portfolio capital investment and foreign direct investment fall under the capital market. 

4.3.2 SCOPE, STRUCTURE AND FUNCTIONS OF INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL MARKETS

Apart from political and other non-financial risks, an intimate knowledge of the international monetary system, the foreign exchange market and international capital markets is imperative if the international business firm is to succeed.
In subsequent phases of internationalisation, multinational enterprises (MNEs) face an even more daunting situation, especially with regard to subsidiaries which are generally located in a number of different foreign countries. 
As far as the structure of international financial markets is concerned, London, New York and Tokyo have established themselves as the main international financial centres. In their overall functioning, international capital markets have distinct advantages for investors and borrowers alike. 
· For investors, there is a much wider range of investment opportunities when compared to domestic capital markets. International capital markets allow investors to diversify their investment portfolios internationally, thereby reducing their portfolio risk to below the levels obtained in domestic markets. 
· For borrowers - and here MNEs feature prominently - the added advantages of access to international capital markets bring greater scope, better financing opportunities, greater liquidity and the potential for lowering the cost of capital. Because of these advantages, as well as significant advances in information technology and an increasing trend towards deregulation, international capital markets have groves significantly over the past two decades

The Eurocurrency market
A Eurocurrency is any domestic currency banked or on deposit in another country Thus, a Eurodollar, for instance, is a US dollar-denominated interest-bearing deposit in a bank outside the USA. The value of a specific Eurocurrency is identical to that of the same currency at home. A Eurocurrency be created anywhere in the world, since 'euro' prefix only indicates the European origin of this special market. 'Eurocurrencies" in this regard should not be confused with the euro.
The London Interbank Offer Rate (LIBOR) is the rate most international banks charge one another for loans of Eurodollars overnight in the London market interest rates are frequently quoted as a certain spread over the LIBOR. 
Eurocurrency markets serve the following two important purposes:
1. Eurocurrency deposits are an efficient and convenient money market device for holding excess corporate liquidity.
2. The Eurocurrency market is a major source of short-term bank loans to finance corporate working capital needs, including import and export financing requirements, as well as financing for other offshore ventures.

One of the most important advantages of the Eurocurrency market is that it is larger, free from government regulation and interference, and is therefore beneficial for both investors and borrowers. The Eurocurrency market is perceived to have two major drawbacks or limitations:
1. In an unregulated system such as the Eurocurrency market, the probability of a bank causing depositors to lose their money is greater than in a regulated system.
2. Because international loans do not offer complete assurance against risk, companies are still exposed to foreign exchange risks, despite the advantage of being able to use the foreign exchange market




4.3.3 THE INTERNATIONAL (GLOBAL) BOND MARKET
The two types of international bonds are foreign bonds and Eurobonds. 
· Foreign bonds are normally sold outside the country of the borrower, but are denominated in the currency of the country of issue. 
· Eurobonds are normally underwritten by international banking syndicates or consortia (a team of investment banks). Eurobonds are the most popular type of bond. Their advantage is that there is no foreign exchange risk if the Eurocurrency bond (Eurobond) is raised by an MNE subsidiary domiciled in the country of the bond currency documentation.
The rapid growth of the Eurobond market in recent years can be ascribed to the following:
· the absence of regulatory interference
· less stringent disclosure requirements when compared to most domestic bond markets
· a relatively favourable tax status, where the majority of industrialised countries have abolished the custom of withholding tax on interest payments to foreigners


4.3.4 THE INTERNATIONAL EQUITY MARKET

Since there is no international equity market in the true sense of a specific location, this development reflects a trend where investors are increasingly taking ownership in companies in foreign countries where regulatory and other systems allow such a practice. This practice has expanded to a situation where companies list their shares on stock exchanges in foreign countries. This is seen as a preliminary step to the actual issuing of a company's shares on a foreign stock market, which increases its access to other financing sources and also has the potential to lower its cost of capital. These trends seem to underline the importance and continuous development of international capital markets for international business.






























TOPIC 5 – THE POLITCAL ECONOMY OF GLOBAL TRADE
STUDY UNIT 5.1 – GLOBAL TRADE

5.1.1 THE EVOLUTION OF GLOBAL TRADE (Pg 186)

Trade-related activities are as old as the history of humankind. The idea of exchanging goods for goods or services for services (trade by barter) arose because of the inevitability of exchange. No nation can satisfy its increasing needs and desires satisfactorily and economically only by means of its local production and resources.
International trade in the early periods of civilisation was not carried on free of charge. The duties, royalties, tariffs and taxes that are applied in modern economies evolved as an integral part of historical trade phenomena. 
Today, business practices, and especially international businesses, by the macroeconomic policies and political agendas of governments and by fiscal and monetary policy instruments. The political reality of international business prevents the realisation of a free trade regime.
The policy instruments used are mainly tariffs, subsidies, import quotas, local content requirements, administrative policies, voluntary export restraints and antidumping duties. These policy instruments can be categorised as tariffs and non-tariff barriers. 

Regulating trade - The main reasons governments apply trade barriers is to encourage local production, making it difficult for foreign competitors to enter the local market. By doing so, local producers can increase their production and gain enough experience to make it possible for them to earn a competitive advantage that may eventually translate into international competitiveness. Governments may subsidise the production and operational processes of local manufacturers and also give them tax breaks to ensure their survival and sustainability. 

5.1.2 TRADE BARRIERS (Pg 187)
Governments, in general, advocate the application of tariff barriers for four major reasons, namely political, economic, retaliation and trade wars, and domestic policies.

1. Protection of local jobs - Domestic markets are shielded to bolster employment opportunities. Job security is one of the most important civil expectations of governments. Given the wide-ranging socioeconomic and political implications of employment, governments erect trade barriers to discourage the importation of goods and services that are produced domestically. 

2. Import substitution - An import substitution strategy is based on the assumption that greater industrialisation creates greater wealth. The more manufacturing activities, the more efficiently is wealth distributed among economic. Domestic products are considered cheaper than imports, an increase in market size affects output.

3. Protection of infant industries - The protection of young industries or economic sectors that are just starting out and are too immature to compete against established rivals. The level of protection given to these industries is informed by their strategic importance to a nation's building and attainment of economic prowess.

4. Reduction of reliance on foreign suppliers - The more an economy relies on foreign suppliers for critical goods and services, the more vulnerable the economy becomes to the suppliers' influence. While high supplier power maybe usurped to influence price changes, it could also have a devastating effect on the domestic economy in the case of an economic dispute with a major supplier

5. Attraction of local production and foreign investment - Subsidies and other institutional mechanisms are used to attract investments in areas that are of strategic importance to the economy. Governments are willing to give concessions to investors to facilitate the local production that are of strategic importance. The same tools and mechanisms are also used to attract foreign direct investment into industries where the country lacks production capability and competence.


6. Reduction in balance of trade payments or deficits - Governments employ instruments of trade policies to achieve trade equilibrium. Where the trade balance is in the deficit, tariffs and other administrative instruments are used to discourage imports, while at the same time promoting exports.

7. Promotion of exports - Economic advancement could best be achieved through export promotion. Countries can only lose their less developed status through improved industrialisation, which culminates in export promotion. To this extent, government may apply subsidies to galvanise exportation.
[bookmark: bookmark7]
8. Antidumping remedies - Governments may apply trade barriers as a measure to redress dumping. Tariffs and barriers may be erected against an industry that exports and sells its product in the overseas market at a price lower than the production cost in the home market. This measure is intended to raise the importation costs and selling price of the product.

9. Political objectives or retaliation - Governments also use instruments of trade policy to advance their political agendas. They may be used as sanctions against countries with poor human rights records, child labour practices, sweatshops, political tyranny and totalitarianism. These instruments may also be used for retaliation for unfair trade practices. While retaliation is a common practice in international business, political strategic objectives are an equally strong motivation for adopting trade barriers.

10. Protection of national sovereignty - A country is regarded as a sovereign state if it is independent and free from external control. It enjoys full legal status through which it formulates its own policies and regulations, establishes institutions and adjudicates matters. The legal status of a country enables it to select its own political, social and economic systems. Governments protect their territories by choosing their trade partners and by limiting the kind of products or services that can be left in the hands of foreign investors.

IMPLICATIONS OF TRADE BARRIERS (Pg 189)
The following are some of the possible implications of applying instruments of trade policy:
· Trade barriers are generally arbitrary and discriminatory in nature and are applied subjectively. Their application stems mainly from political motives rather than an economic rationale. In most cases, tariffs are applied discriminatorily to discourage trade with specific countries or geographical areas. This may breed counter tariffs (tariffs beget tariffs), thereby increasing tariff lists and the polarization of economies. 
· The application of trade barriers requires special training, supervision and administration. Personnel who administer tariffs have to be given customised training to carry out this special task. They need regular supervision and up-to-date knowledge on the country's existing and new trade relations with the outside world. 
· The administration of trade barriers adds to the microeconomic problems. For instance, a country that is faced with inflation may need to push the demand and supply bands to equilibrium; this may require improving supplies. If the local manufacturing capacity is at its maximum, imports will appear to be the only available option. With tariffs in place, the prices of imports will be too expensive for consumers and inflationary pressures may increase. 
· The application of tariff barriers encourages special-interest privileges - tariff barriers are generally known to breed special concessions to trade allies, while the rest of the world is treated as outcasts. Special-interest privileges also preclude consumers from accessing products from various markets at competitive prices. They weaken the market equilibrium position as they distort the supply and demand mechanism.
· The application of tariffs increases government intervention in trade and economic matters. The role of government in economic matters should be limited to creating an enabling environment in which businesses can thrive. With the application of tariff barriers, governments regulate not only the business environment, but household consumption patterns as well






5.1.3 TRADE POLICY (Pg 190)

Trade barriers are adopted to discourage the free flow of goods, input materials and services across international borders. Two main categories of barriers have been identified:
1. Tariffs - are regarded as price-based barriers
2. Non-tariff barriers - are administrative in nature.
 Some of the policy instruments used to regulate international trade are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Tariffs
A tariff is a tax levied on goods, input materials and services imported into a country. 
· Specific Tariff - This levy is attached to the total quantity of items imported at a specific rate per unit in the consignment. For instance, a specific tariff of R20.00 on every.
· Ad valorem tariffs - An ad valorem tariff is based on a percentage of the value of the imported item in the destination country. An ad valorem tariff of a R25 handbag and carries a 10% duty.
· Export tariffs - An export tariff payable on goods and services that leave the borders of a country for another country. This kind of tariff is meant to discourage exports. It can also be used to increase the government's revenue in areas where the country has an absolute or very high comparative advantage in the production of such goods or services. 
· Transit tariffs - A transit tariff is a special duty that is paid on goods and services that pass through a country to a final destination. The duty is generally levied on a different basis such as a specific tariff (general tariff), ad valorem duty or a compound tariff that consists of both specific and ad valorem duties.

Subsidies
A subsidy is a financial payment made by the government to domestic manufacturers or service providers to reduce the burden of manufacturing or operating costs with the aim of reducing the consumer price. Subsidies are aimed at achieving: 
1. Discouraging foreign imports - Governments use subsidies to lower the production costs of domestic manufacturers or service providers to discourage importation thereby discouraging rational consumers from purchasing the more expensive imported goods or services.
2. Gaining export markets - Governments encourage exports because they boost the trade balance of the country with the outside world. Subsidies have also aided dumping and other forms of unfair trade systems. The main argument against subsidies is that they help to featherbed inefficient domestic producers at the expense of more efficient foreign producers.

Quotas
This type of trade barrier restricts the amount of goods or services that can be imported into a country over a period. The application of quotas suggests that the domestic production will increase to cater for the shortfall in imports. If this happens, the government may lose revenue on tariffs, but it gains revenue on excise duties. Some of the notable quotas that exist are:
· Import quota - This type of restriction is mainly applied by prescribing an import license as a prerequisite for importing specific items. Each of the licensees is awarded the right to import a specific quantity of the item over a period. A special tariff is payable on every item imported within the limits of the approved quantity.
· Voluntary export restraint (VER) - A voluntary export restraint is a quota that is imposed on the quantity of goods that is exported from the country. This self- inflicted restriction is used by the exporting country at the special request of the importing country to avoid a trade dispute.
· Local content requirements - This is a requirement that a certain quantity or percentage of the input materials should be sourced domestically. Failure by any manufacturer to comply may attract heavy fines. This strategy is mainly adopted to increase the local manufacturing capacity of component parts at the expense of mere assembling.
· 'Buy national' restrictions - This restriction is applied to limit the consumption of imported goods to promote local manufacturers. Most developing countries have also adopted the strategy to improve local brand loyalty among consumers, while promoting industrial capacity development at the same time.
· Technical barriers - Used to discourage imports where the application of tariffs and other non-tariff barriers are unpopular. A country may be wary of adopting tariff barriers if a restriction is going to trigger retaliation. The country may then use technical barriers to frustrate importation. 

Dumping
Dumping occurs when goods are exported at a price less them their normal value. This implies that they are exported for less than they are sold for in the exporting market or third-country markets. Dumping could also occur if goods are sold at less than the production cost in the exporting market.
Dumping is seen as a process by means of which the exporting country offloads its excess domestic product to foreign markets. There are various measures that can be taken to address dumping:
· Antidumping policies - Is designed to redress the unfair trade practice of dumping, thereby protecting domestic producers against unfair competition. 
· Countervailing duties - Is a special duty that is levied against a foreign firm that is found guilty of dumping. A countervailing duty is a special tariff that may be very high and it may be applied to the guilty company for a protracted period.

5.1.4 GLOBAL TRADING ARRANGEMENTS (Pg 193)

When nations concentrate their production on commodities in which they have a comparative advantage, consumers benefit from lower prices and a greater range of consumption possibilities, scarce world resources are allocated efficiently. Measures must be put in place to allow the free movement of factor inputs and distribution of finished products or services. The GATT and its successor, the WTO, have facilitated this process.
The challenge facing world leaders is to ensure reasonably open economies and trade liberalization. To achieve these strategic objectives, a group of world leaders representing 44 countries converged in Bretton Woods, New Hampshire, in the USA in 1947 to establish the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the World Bank.
GATT established a framework for conducting and practising free trade. GATT created a system for the distribution of value added activities and services, and also acted as a conduit for the realisation of a free trade system. Today, most economists acknowledge this trading system as one of the greatest contributors to the world's rapid economic recovery from the devastation of World War II and to the subsequent phenomenal growth in world output.
The desire of world leaders to rectify the inherent deficiencies to enforce decisions led to the Uruguay Round accord where the World Trade Organization (WTO) was officially announced in 1994. The challenges facing economic globalisation and world trade systems necessitated a better-structured, well- informed and powerful successor, in all international trade and investment dimensions, to GATT and hence the birth of the World Trade Organization (WTO).

Since its inception in January 1995, the WTO has helped to lower trade barriers and non-tariff barriers (NTBs) in hitherto restricted trade sectors such as textiles and clothing, agriculture, services and intellectual property, all of which constitute rapidly emerging sectors for viable international investment. 
Under the WTO, member nations are no longer able to block the adoption of arbitration reports on trade disputes. The WTO has proven to be a strong regulatory body with the power and authority to formulate implement, enforce and mediate all forms of trade-related matters. The WTO serves as the mainstream of free trade and economic globalisation. 
The WTO has played a crucial role in facilitating global free trade and the liberalisation of state. While direct foreign investment in manufacturing has improved tremendously, investment in services is increasingly becoming the focus of FDI flows across the globe.  

What the future holds
The organisation has been able to achieve what its predecessor (GATT) failed to accomplish, it has facilitated a better global economic environment that enables the efficient utilisation of relatively scarce global resources with many countries achieving unprecedented levels of wealth and prosperity.
The major challenge began in 1997 when talks started on the need to restructure existing agreements on agriculture, services and intellectual property that were entered into in the Uruguay Round accord. In November 2001, the Doha Development Agenda was launched. The main objective of the agenda was to achieve the following:
1. Market access - Substantial reductions
2. Export subsidies - Reductions with a view to phasing out all forms of these subsidies
3. Domestic support - Substantial reductions for support that distorts trade.
The fifth WTO Ministerial Conference was held in Cancun, Mexico in September 2003. The main task of the conference was to take stock of progress in negotiations and other work under the Doha Development Agenda. Apart from the ascension of Cambodia and Nepal to full membership status of the WTO, no agreement was reached on the key issues contained in the Doha Development Agenda.
The difficulty encountered in the Doha Round is based on the alleged skewness of the earlier trade agreements that provide the developed economies with more of a competitive advantage than the developing economies. However, the developed economies are reluctant to accept any reform that would jeopardise the trade benefits they currently enjoy. With the determination of developing economies to rectify inherent errors in the previous arrangement, the task of living by its statement of intent becomes enormous for the WTO:
The World Trade Organization (WTO) is the only international organization dealing with the global rules of trade between nations. Its main function is to ensure that trade flows as smoothly, predictably and freely as possible.









































TOPIC 6 – FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT
STUDY UNIT 6.1 – FOREIGN DIRECT INVESTMENT: PERSPECTIVES

6.1.1 FDI AND INTERNATIONAL CAPITAL MARKETS (Pg 200)

To understand foreign direct investment (FDI), one must first recall what is meant by a capital market because FDI is located within capital-market activity. Capital markets are where long-term (more than one year) financial contracts are traded. These contracts entitle their holders to a stake in the contract-writing firms. Typical contracts traded as capital-market instruments are ordinary shares and bonds. Shares represent ownership or equity in the issuing firms, which have expected indefinite lives. Bonds represent IOUs issued by firms or governments to creditors. 
Foreign direct investment is largely a capital-market transaction that permits a foreign economic agent to acquire a significant interest or controlling stake in the ownership of a domestic firm. A significant and/or controlling ownership entitlement is defined as an economic agent's equity ownership of a firm that is worth at least 10% of the firm's total value. The key distinguishing features between FDI and international portfolio investment are as follows:
· The foreign investor's stake must in the form of equity or ownership to be deemed FDI.
· The equity stake must be substantial and must meet a threshold of at least 10% to be deemed FDI. Otherwise, the transaction is an international portfolio investment.
These definitions confirm that both FDI and international portfolio investment that take place via capital markets, are international transactions that are clearly associated with international production. The definitions suggest that FDI connotes a long-term interest in the recipient firm unlike the international portfolio investment which is much more temporary in nature. 

6.1.2 ADVANTAGES (BENEFITS) OF FDI (Pg 201)

Some advantages of FDI relative to international portfolio investment are apparent:
· Unlike international portfolio investment, FDI uses capital markets in a way that does not destabilise the domestic capital market.
· Unlike the arm's-length nature of international portfolio investment, FDI sensitises foreign investors to the needs and aspirations of the domestic communities where the firms are located and they are thus more socially responsible investors.
· FDI provides a foreign firm seeking to internationalise its operations beyond licensing and exporting - the controlling ownership stake in the domestic firm means that the investing foreign firm becomes a multinational enterprise (MNE) with all the advantages this entails.
· Given the relatively high ownership stake and permanence of FDI, MNEs serve as important conduits for transferring new production technologies that are not yet available in domestic markets, thus enhancing the productivity of local firms. This is termed the spillover effects of FDI.
· Local firms and governments that are keen to take advantage of these potential spillover effects would increase the training and education of human capital as well as improve infrastructure. This would allow them to optimize anticipated spillovers. 
· FDI is a viable economic growth mechanism for governments constrained by a lack of domestic resource capacity given the long-term relationship implicit in the controlling ownership stake of foreign investors via FDI.

Not all FDI is an advantage, some drawbacks include:
· It can impact negatively on local competition
· A host-county balance of payments can be negatively affected by the outflow of earnings.
· Host country’s national sovereignty could be undermined by the loss of economic independence






Different forms of FDI
Foreign direct investment can occur in different forms:
· Acquisition - When a foreign investor buys shares in a domestic enterprise that entitle the investor to a controlling ownership stake in the local firm, FDI has occurred via the acquisition mechanism
· Joint venture (merger) - Alternatively, if a foreign firm teams up with a local or another foreign firm to create a new enterprise that produces and sells its products from a domestic base, FDI has occurred in the form of a joint venture (JV) or merger.
· Greenfield - This involves a firm, government unit or a group of individual investors raising funds to start a new production and distribution activity (business) in a foreign location. This form of FDI entails more challenges as investors are starting an enterprise in an unfamiliar environment. greenfield FDI holds the promise of higher returns that are commensurate with the higher risks relative to acquisition or JV. Furthermore, greenfield FDI affords investors autonomy in the business as well as providing them with almost full appropriation of their ownership factor or competitive advantage in the foreign location.

6.1.4 FDI THEORIES (Pg202)

6.1.4.1 INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND FINANCE THEORIES 
International trade and finance theories include theories of trade in goods and services and theories of international capital movements.

6.1.4.1.1 Trade in goods and services
The theory of absolute advantage, the theory of comparative advantage and the theory of relative differences in factor endowments are useful in explaining the reasons why nations trade.
· According to Adam Smith, free trade is essential if the wealth of a country is to increase. A country should export those commodities it can produce at a lower cost and import those commodities produced at a higher cost, i.e. absolute advantage.
· David Ricardo, in expounding on the principles of political economy and taxation, emphasises the issue of efficiency where a country should consider the opportunity cost involved in its trade decisions. Trade is determined by the principle of comparative advantage. Labour is the only relevant factor of production and there is therefore no possibility for FDI.  One major drawback - it fails to explain spillovers from technology through FDI.
· Eh Hecksher and Bertil Ohlin developed the Ricardian theory of comparative advantage further and explained trade in the context of differences in factor endowments. In this model, countries specialise in and export those goods that intensively use the most abundant factor of production and import those goods that intensively use their scarce factors of production. The failure of this model is seen through critiques that attack the unrealistic assumptions of perfect competition, two inputs that are immobile internationally, and the notions of no barriers to trade and no transaction costs.
· In addition, Wasalis Leontief found a paradoxical result in 1954 that is contrary to the Hecksher-Ohlin theory - the USA, which was capital abundant, was exporting labour- intensive commodities and importing capital-intensive  ommodities. With the assumption of immobility of factors of production, this theory fails to explain the presence of MNEs and hence the associated FDI. The theory suggests that there are no international differences in technology and there is thus no room for technology transfer and spillovers.

6.1.4.1.2 International capital movements
The prevailing explanation of international capital movements after WW2 is the neoclassical arbitrage theory of portfolio investment. The development of this theory follows closely from the works of Paul Samuelson and Robert Mundell, and culminates in the macroeconomic theory of FDI.
Mundell's work explains foreign investment in its portfolio form as opposed to the direct form. The theory is based on the assumption of perfect competition. In this model, interest rate differentials play a crucial role in determining capital movements. Since there are no transaction costs, investors are able to take their savings where returns are highest and hence maximise profits. The main prediction of this theory is that MNEs will originate in countries where the marginal productivity of capital is low and transfer capital to host countries where the marginal productivity of capital is higher.
John Dunning noted that this theory fails to differentiate between FDI and foreign portfolio investment. It also uses a narrow definition of foreign investment that only captures finance capital (contracts). In this way, it neglects other aspects of foreign investment such as technology, access to markets, entrepreneurship and managerial styles. Such shortcomings led to the emergence of industrial organisation theories.

6.1.4.2 INDUSTRIAL ORGANISATION THEORIES (Pg 204)
This section departs from the neoclassical international trade and finance theory by considering Stephen Hymer's theory of the international operations of MNEs. This is followed by a discussion of the product life cycle theory

6.1.4.2.1 International operations of MNEs
Stephen Hymer developed the structural market imperfection theory. He focused on the MNE as the institution for international production as opposed to that of international trade. He noted that firms have ownership specific advantage in the form of non-financial and intangible assets. These advantages include patents and technology, economies of scale managerial skills and product reputation (brand) that MNEs transfer across their subsidiaries. In this case, the main motivation for FDI is that they want to retain control of these assets and aim to appropriate all the returns from their technological advantages. The main critique of this theory is that it fails to discuss the advantages and disadvantages of FDI and its related technology transfer.

6.1.4.2.2 The product life cycle theory
Raymond Vernon developed the product life cycle theory to explain international trade in goods and FDI. This theory pertains to the timing of investments. The essential point here is that the life-cycle patterns of the MNE's main products determine foreign investment. The product life cycle involves three stages:
· Stage 1- An innovating country uses its technological edge to produce new products that give it an export advantage.
· Stage 2 - Due to increased competition, production moves to lower income countries. In these lower income countries, the cost of labour is lower and therefore manufacturing there is sensible.
· Stage 3 - The product is standardised and moves into the mature stage which induces exports. Eventually, FDI replaces exports and it becomes possible to export the FDI-embodied MN h's products back to the home country.
The main critique is that corporations usually take decisions simultaneously as opposed to the three stages. This theory does not address organisational issues and determinants of FDI. 

6.1.4.2.3 Transaction cost economics
The transaction cost or internalisation theory has also been termed the natural market imperfection theory and internalisation of market theory. The crux of this theory is that MNEs exist in order to organise interdependencies between subsidiaries in different countries. Decision making is based on a comparison between organising activities through the market or through the firm. Due to market imperfections, firms incur transaction costs which they escape by using internal markets.
The profit-maximising MNE is interested in preventing technology spillovers to other firms to maintain its competitive advantage. MNEs have to consider strategically the risks associated with imitation and eventual replacement of the MNE by local firms. For a firm to invest abroad, technology must have the characteristics of a public good within the firm. Outside the firm, the technological asset must be a private good which, although non-rival in nature, is completely excludable. This difficulty in completely appropriating all new technology-generated benefits results in investors' reluctance to engage in research and development (R&D). In this case, these spillovers are considered to be negative to the innovative firm.
It has also faced several criticisms. The theory is static in the sense that it concentrates on current assets and disregards future assets. The failure to consider non-economic variables such as social and political matters renders the theory incomplete. 









6.1.4.2.4 The Electric Paradigm
John Dunning brings the various theoretical traditions of international production into more general frameworks. 
1. The industrial economics theory is captured by the focus on ownership factors (O)
2. International trade theory by location factors (L) 
3. The internalisation theory (I) by market failure factors. 
Combining these theories, Dunning came up with the OLI factors that produce a more comprehensive understanding of FDI and MNEs' behaviour. This is known as the eclectic paradigm or the ownership-location- internalisation (OLI) framework. Dunning's initial research questions asked why firms invest overseas and what the determinants are of the amounts and composition of international production.
Ownership advantages answer the question of why firms go abroad and how it is possible to do so. These are competitive advantages that include size, monopoly power, better resource uses, economies of scale and the ability to exploit differences in factor endowments. These advantages offset the disadvantages and they are also called monopolistic advantages.
Location advantages address the question of why firms choose to produce in a country. Other advantages include spatial distribution of inputs and markets, transport and communication costs, and government intervention.
Internalisation responds to the 'how or by which route?' question. This includes the use of 0 advantages internally rather than leasing or exporting them to the foreign market. The components of the OLI paradigm are the three conditions that determine whether or not a firm would engage in FDI. The selection criteria among the options of engaging in FDI, exporting or licensing within the OLI framework. 
The OLI framework hypothesises that FDI occurs decisively when three conditions are met. These are ownership, location and internalisation advantages.
One critique of the theory is the Kojima hypothesis. This takes into consideration cross-border transactions of intermediate skills such as technology and managerial expertise, and in the process notes that the OLI eclectic framework is too micro-oriented and fails to account for policy at the macro-level. Furthermore, a paradox was noted where the OLI specifies that MNEs invest in host economies to minimise spillovers, yet MNEs are the source of spillovers since FDI is a spillover mechanism. 

6.1.4.2.5 The Investment Development Path Theory
This theory predicts a U-shaped relationship between a country's level of economic development and net outward flows of FDI. The U-shaped curve is explained by four stages:
1. Stage 1 - the low-income stage is characterised by low FDI inflows and minimal outflows. Low outward FDI occurs in this instance because the ownership advantage of domestic firms is not yet developed. Low inflows occur because location advantages are not strong enough to provide incentives.
2. Stage 2 - includes those economies whose location advantage has improved. In this stage, there are increased FDI inflows while outward FDI is still minimal.
3. Stage 3 - net outward flows are still negative, but are increasing. 
4. Stage 4 - FDI outflows are greater than inflows. This indicates that domestic firms have increased their ownership advantages.

6.1.4.2.6 New Trade Theory and the Knowledge Capital Model 
In explaining why a country would choose foreign production rather than exports, the proximity-concentration tradeoff (PCTO) is used. In this case, producers analyse the costs of FDI compared to trade costs. The PCTO gave rise to the concepts of horizontal and vertical FDI. 
· Horizontal FDI refers to a situation where an MNE replicates the same production across different locations. 
· Vertical FDI refers to a situation where an MNE locates production stages according to factor costs.
The distinction between horizontal and vertical FDI is important in the study of FDI and MNEs.

	Macro-level theories
	Micro-level theories
	An integrated framework

	international trade theory
Neoclassical trade theory
New trade theories and the knowledge capital model
	The global reach school 
Industrial organisation theory
The product life cycle hypothesis
Transaction cost economics/ internalization theory
	The eclectic paradigm 
OLI factors (ownership, location, internalisation)
investment development path theory



6.1.5 TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER, ABSORPTIVE CAPACITY AND ECONOMIC GROWTH ASPECTS OF FDI (Pg 208)

Technology Transfer
MNEs are among the main sources of technology transfer. Findlay hypothesised that the rate at which technology is diffused to backward economies is positively related to the gap existing between the technologically advanced country and the backward country. The model does not explain the forces behind technology transfer from the advanced region to the backward region.

An oligopoly theory by Das fills this void by detailing the process of technology transfer from the parent firm to the subsidiary. Das observed that in spite of the leakage to domestic firms, the MNE subsidiary still benefits from technology transfer from the parent company. The strategic interaction between the MNE and the local firm determines technology transfer via the consideration of spillover costs to the MNE. Once the MNEs have transferred technology to their subsidiaries, technology diffusion to host country firms becomes possible. 

The nature of technology as partially excludable makes these technology spillovers possible. During the 1950s and 1960s, Kenneth Arrow characterised knowledge as non-rivalry and non-excludable. While investors who risk failure may view technology spillovers as negative, but are not necessarily negative as they contribute to the economic growth of the host country. 
For the host country to realise technological benefits from MNEs, the transfer must occur more swiftly and more cheaply than the alternative methods of technological diffusion through the free flow of discoveries, the licensing of patents, and the transfer of knowledge and embodied technology1 through trade. 
There are two basic forms in which technology can be transferred: 
1. technology embodied in physical assets such as tools, equipment and blueprints
2. methods of organisation, quality control and other  manufacturing procedures that are required to make the embodied technology useful.

Absorptive Capacity
Is receiving end is able to absorb the technology transfer? 

Absorptive Capacity at the Firm Level
Within a country, absorptive capacity can be measured as the distance of a firm from the technology frontier firm in the relevant industry and/or in the country. A firm operating close to the technology leader is said to have high absorptive capacity and would be more capable of appropriating the incoming technology than a firm further away from the frontier firm.

Absorptive Capacity at the Country Level
The bulk of the evidence on absorptive capacity appears at country level, i.e. on a cross-country basis. Among absorptive capacity indicators used in this context are:
· Per capita income 
· Trade openness
· The level of education of the labour force 
· The level of development of financial markets 
· Efficiency of technology use
· Domestic research and development (R&D).
The dominant variable in most studies is the level of education of the labour force. 

Economic Growth Theories
Robert Solow's growth model assumed exogenous technological change with the objective of identifying the relationship between growth and technological change. The main result is that growth is explained by capital accumulation and technological progress. However, technological progress is left as an unexplained residual. In the Solow-type models, FDI is conceived as an addition to the capital stock and hence is given the same treatment as domestic capital. 

Kenneth Arrow who pointed out that increasing returns occur because of the discovery of new knowledge that occurs as investment and production take place. Similarly, others have shown that the successful application of MNEs' stock of knowledge is key to the economic growth of host countries.
De Mello provides a survey of developing country studies and studies of African countries. The evidence is that for some countries, the causality between FDI and economic growth runs from GDP growth to FDI, for some it runs from FDI to GDP growth, while for yet others causality runs in both directions from FDI to GDP growth and from GDP growth to FDI. Importantly, Borensztein et al. found that FDI inflows by themselves only marginally affected growth, but where FDI interacted with the level of education of a country's labour force, it had a significant positive impact on growth. This study highlighted further that positive spillovers depend on the level of human capital (absorptive capacity).

6.1.6 FDI INCENTIVES (Pg 213)
Investment incentives are measures designed to make their countries attractive investment destinations by:
· Influencing the size, location or industry of an investment 
· Affecting its relative cost or potential for profit
· Altering the risks attached to it.
The nature of investment incentives is variable across countries and industries. Most incentives apply to greenfield investment rather than joint ventures or the acquisition of existing companies. The manufacturing sector attracts more incentives. Tax administration issues are important in various countries and could influence the administration of tax incentives for investment.

	ADVANTAGES
	DISADVANTAGES

	Lower corporate income tax rates

	· Simple to administer 
· Revenue costs are more transparent
	· The largest benefits go to high-return firms that are likely to have invested even without incentives
· Invite tax avoidance through high-tax enterprises shifting profits to low-tax ones via transfer pricing (intrcountry and international)
· Act as a windfall to existing investments l Unlike specific benefits, may not be tax spared by home country tax authorities

	Tax holidays

	· Simple to administer
· Allow taxpayers to minimise contact with tax administration (which may be important if it is complex or corrupt)
	· Similar to CIT, except that it may be tax spared
· Attract short-term projects
· Could lead to tax avoidance through the indefinite extension of holidays via creative redesignation of existing investments as new investments
· Create competitive distortions between existing and new firms
· Revenue costs are not transparent unless tax filing is required, in which case administrative benefits are forgone

	Investment allowances and tax credits

	· Can be targeted at certain types of investment with highest positive spillovers
· Revenue costs are more transparent
	· Distort the choice of capital assets towards short-term projects since an additional allowance is available each time an asset is replaced
· Qualifying enterprises may attempt to abuse the system by selling and purchasing the same assets to claim multiple allowances
· Greater administrative burden
· Discriminate against investments with delayed returns if provisions to carry losses forward are inadequate

	Accelerated depreciation

	· All the benefits of investment allowances and credits
· Does not generally discriminate against long-lived assets 
· Moves the CIT closer to a consumption based tax, reducing the distortion against investment typically produced by regular CTI.
	· Some administrative burden
· Discriminates against investments with delayed returns if provisions to carry losses forward are inadequate

	Exemptions from indirect taxes

	· Allow taxpayers to avoid contact with tax administration (which may be important if it is complex or corrupt)
	· VAT exemptions may be of little benefit (with regular VAT, tax on inputs is already creditable; outputs may still be taxed at a later stage)
· Prone to abuse (easy to divert purchases to unintended recipients)

	Export processing zones

	· Allow taxpayers to avoid contact with tax administration (which may be important if it is complex or corrupt)
	· Distort location decisions 
· Typically result in substantial leakage of untaxed goods into the domestic market, eroding the tax base




TOPIC 7 – LEADERHSHIP AND MANAGEMENT
STUDY UNIT 7.1 – INTERNATIONAL LEADERHSHIP AND MANAGEMENT

7.1.1 LEADERSHIP VERSUS MANAGEMENT (Pg 228)

Managers and leaders need to understand the global landscape and the forces that can affect a firm's global success. Traditional managerial mindsets inhibit attempts at achieving global success. Traditional mindsets are characterised by:
· being internally focused
· essentially being orientated to and satisfied with the domestic market and its needs
· an attitude implying that what is different is dangerous
· being disinterested in other markets and cultures, as well as insensitive to business opportunities in foreign markets
· the absence of any effort to cultivate or understand foreign clients, competitors or markets
· assuming an inhospitable attitude to any foreign element in the domestic market
· a reliance on government to protect itself and markets from foreign competition through trade barriers, quotas, duties, laws and special agreements, discouraging foreign firms from competing in domestic markets
· A willingness to limit foreign advertising, production or distribution.

Global mindset is a state of being, essentially characterised by openness and an ability to recognise complex interconnections. Global managers need a set of supportive knowledge and skills to sustain a global mindset global mindset. It is the development, cultivation and operation of a global mindset that explains the difference between international managers and international leaders.

INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT
The difference between domestic and international management is significant. It is the challenge for global managers to articulate a viable global strategy, to facilitate and develop supportive processes by which globalisation can be managed, and to create appropriate conditions by which the overall strategy, process, culture and structure can be meaningfully aligned to achieve organisational effectiveness. A much broader view by defining international management as: 
Involving a process aimed at realising the global objectives of a firm by managing the procurement, allocation and utilisation of the human, financial, intellectual and physical resources of the firm within and across national boundaries, thereby facilitating the achievement of the desired organisational goals by navigating the firm through a global environment that is not only dynamic, but often very hostile to the firm's very survival

INTERNATIONAL LEADERSHIP
International leadership, is characterised by unique time that takes a much longer-term view and unique space perspectives where people with a global mindset extend their personal space well beyond their immediate surroundings. They are invariably more tolerant of other peoples and cultures, consider cultural diversity an asset, thrive on ambiguity, balance and contradictory forces, rethink boundaries, includes emotional connection, capacity for managing uncertainty and an ability to balance tensions and common sense.  
This sums up Nancy Adler's contention that: ‘leaders help to shape the organisation's vision, the meaning within which others work and live. Managers, by contrast, act completely within a vision. Leadership and vision remain fundamental to the understanding of a people and their institutions’.

INTERNATIONAL, MULTIDOMESTIC, GLOBAL, TRANSNATIONAL AND MULTINATIONAL
· Multidomestic firms follow a multidomestic or localisation strategy that focuses on local responsiveness in foreign markets. 
· Firms with an international strategy strive to create value by transferring core competencies from home to foreign business units and towards a balance between globalisation and local responsiveness. 
· Global firms (also referred to as globally integrated firms) follow global strategies that emphasise the realisation of location experience curve economies in the production and marketing of low-cost, standardised products. 
· Transnational firms focus relentlessly on the simultaneous attainment of location experience curve economies in the production and marketing of low-cost, standardised products. 

We can say that a multinational firm, corporation or enterprise (MNE) is an enterprise that engages in foreign direct investment, and owns and controls value-adding activities in more than one country. MNEs are often referred to as 'international; 'multidomestic; 'global' or 'transnational' firms. The level of MNE internationalisation can be gauged by a transnationality index. This index can be calculated from three ratios, namely:
· Foreign assets to total assets
· Foreign sales to total sales
· Foreign employment to total employment.

7.1.2 LEADERSHIP: ENVIRONMENTAL DYNAMICS AND STRATEGIES

The following key issues and environmental forces have a direct impact on MNEs' understanding of the opportunities: 
· The changing nature of the international business environment, i.e, demographic shifts, increasing urbanisation, the growth of minority groups, increased levels of poverty, the rise of structural unemployment.
· Changing consumer behaviour, reflecting increasing demands for and insistence on inherent value in the products. 
· Trade liberalisation, deregulation, liberalisation of financial institutions and markets, and privatisation
· Advances in information communication technology and the progressive development of the biofuels industry which are exploding.
· The advent of emerging markets and emerging 'new economies’ from new technologies such as of e-business
· The increasing proliferation of regional economic integration and the formation of viable and influential international trade blocs and trade arrangements.
· The emergence of the EU and other trade blocs as an economic force and the euro as a currency peculiar, the stability of which has been influenced.
· Unpredictable environmental disturbances, like volcanic ash fallouts on the international airline industry
· Changing political systems, like fragmentation of communism and the political and economic transformation of central and Eastern Europe.
· The manifestation of HIV/aids with its serious consequences for international health, finance and education regimes
· The increasing consolidation of business through mergers and acquisitions 
· Increasingly globalised management as a result of restructuring, downsizing and rightsizing of organisations and the global outsourcing of activities. 
· Unprecedented levels of corruption and social disorder worldwide.
· The need to scan the competitive environment continuously and to search systematically for business opportunities.

COMPETITIVE INTELLIGENCE
CI is based on the assumption that managers seek to become better informed about critical issues. They seek such distilled information on a formal and systematic basis. They need to establish a strategic capacity to monitor and analyse the external environment on an ongoing basis. CI analysis is conducted within a framework of political, economic and other risk analyses, and is based on five interrelated steps:
· Step 1: In the methodology of competitive intelligence analysis is to gather information about the company and its environment.
· Step 2: Is to analyse the information in order to evaluate its source and confirm its validity.
· Step 3: Is to determine the potential impact the information will have on the activities of the business and its competitive market position.
· Step 4: Is to decide how to react to the new information that has been obtained, that is what strategic counter- measures should be developed.
· Step 5: The business revises its strategic plan to incorporate the countermeasures that have been decided on and the necessary steps to be taken to implement the new strategic business plan.

The product of the intelligence unit in the firm should also reach decision makers who are able to act in a timely manner. If no intelligence product is delivered to those in authority, no intelligence has been created.

RISK IN THE INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENT
Environmental risk is defined as: the threat that events in the environment will adversely affect the company's ability to implement its strategy and achieve its goals.
Environmental risks are extremely difficult to forecast or predict and usually occur unexpectedly. Environmental risks include:
· Unexpected government-imposed discriminatory taxation
· Import and export controls
· State/country indebtedness (bad debts)
· state interference with operations
· Unresolved legal disputes (for example, trade issues) 
· Industrial disputes (for example, labour relations disputes)
· Unfair competition from the local public sector
· Political events such as government takeovers
· The nationalisation of industries, the expropriation of property and assets, and piracy of intellectual property rights
· Public sector corruption
· Disputes over trade issues, fiscal mismanagement, regional hostilities, military interventions and wars.

Besides insuring against certain risks, there are ways to protect the firm against some uninsurable risks including: 
· Investing in counties through foreign direct investment and joint ventures
· Investing in preferential industries that are being incentivised by host governments
· Using local financing sources

MANAGING IN THE TWENTY-FIRST CENTURY (Pg 234)
The future direction of international business depends on a number of inescapable global issues and competing factors for the future. These factors are clustered into four categories:
· Group 1: Emerging global economy
· Group 2: Customer marketing sophistication
· Group 3: Business culture. Empowerment drives technology and innovation.
· Group 4: Competitive drive. Alliances/networking. Organisational transformation

These competing factors not only have the potential to impinge on the responsibilities of the international manager, but also on the success of MNEs in their search for competitive advantage and sustainable growth.

Group 1: Emerging global economy - includes market opportunities and investment strategies of MNEs, and highlights the importance of developing economies and emerging markets. This confirms predictions that the top ten emerging markets will have doubled their share of global GDP by 2010/2011, and that foreign direct investment (FDI) into and exports from emerging economies in the first decade of the twenty-first century will significantly alter the international competitive landscape

Group 2: Customer marketing sophistication - highlights the importance of customer-service excellence, the importance of quality, customer care and friendly technology- incorporating customer interfaces. These factors confirm the importance of and need for innovative marketing strategies in pursuit of competitive advantage in the international business environment

Group 3: Business culture. Empowerment drives technology and innovation - emphasises the need for visionary leadership, the importance of nurturing an appropriate business culture and the ability of managers to adapt their leadership styles and cultural values to a changing global business environment. Excellence in leadership, effective management and the implementation of appropriate human resource strategies that empower employees, enabling them to become an integral resource in the implementation of any international business strategy will contribute to success. 

Group 4: Competitive drive. Alliances/networking. Organisational transformation - acknowledges the importance of strategic business reviews and organisational transformation in the search for competitive advantage and sustainable growth. Strategic networking with partners and various MNE business units that are involved in the value chain is pivotal to MNEs' formation of appropriate global strategies. 
Against the backdrop, the following traits are regarded as indispensable for international managers:
· Inherent, appropriate knowledge, skills and experience to deal with high levels of complexity and ambiguity
· Conceptual (cognitive) ability to deal with the micro and macro-issues peculiar to global management.
· An understanding of realistic timeframes for the implementation of global strategies
· The ability to develop and implement effective human and organisational networks 
· A perception of global needs and products to satisfy those needs 
· A predisposition for building globally distributed teams whose members will interact electronically across boundaries.

Substantive issues that managers in diversified MNEs increasingly face include:
· The need to consolidate large, international acquisitions
· The demands of instituting performance management, accountability and corporate governance measures.
· The challenge of managing and maintaining a global supply-chain capability 
· The challenge of developing country-specific strategies that reflect the peculiar constraints of specific countries.
· Pressures to forge collaborative arrangements and to capitalise on the benefits they afford.
· The pressures of balancing the need for global integration and local responsiveness. 

To manage these issues, managers must: 
· Develop a global mindset, be able to use global strategic skills, and motivate and reward subordinates
· Manage organisational transformation in terms of managing change and transition
· Be able to manage cultural diversity in terms of being able to handle cross-cultural management issues. 
· Be able to design and manage flexible organisational structures and to work with teams 
· Excel at cross-cultural communication and how it influences behaviour in the workplace
· Be able and prepared to learn and transfer knowledge within an organization
· Be able and prepared to manage uncertainty and resolve disputes 
· Be able to negotiate cross-culturally.

7.1.3 CROSS-CULTURAL LEADERSHIP (Pg239)

Culture is broadly referred to as acquired knowledge that people use to interpret experience and generate social behaviour. To this end, it is important for leaders developing a global mindset to understand that: 
· A culture is peculiar to one specific group and not to others 
· Culture influences the behaviour of group members in uniform and predictable ways
· Culture is learned, not innate; it is passed down from one generation to the next
· Culture includes systems of values the meaning of leadership may vary across cultures
· The values that leaders have may vary across cultures 
· The behaviour, power sources and influence tactics of leaders may have to be modified to be effective in specific international and cultural environments
· The effective development of leaders depends on their intercultural competencies.

Managing cross-cultural differences
The attributes that are seen as characteristic of leaders may vary across cultures. Leadership is influenced by cultural differences such as the following:
· People have perceptual differences as to the nature of culture and how it influences behaviour.
· Attitudes towards authority differ from country to country and affect the perception of preferred leadership styles.
· MNEs streamline behaviour patterns in the organisation so that the interface between national and corporate culture is tightly intertwined.
· Styles of decision making vary from one culture to another.
· The practice of motivation and control also varies from one culture to another.
· There are disparities in understanding as to the characteristics and effects of charismatic, transformational and transactional leadership, underscoring differences in leadership styles.
· Attitudes of subordinates towards laissez-faire leadership differ.
· Attitudes towards universalism and particularism differ. 
· Universalism implies one set of rules applying to everyone and stresses performance in the workplace
· particularism implies that modified rules to fit different situations and cultural settings and emphasises good relationships.
· There are disparate worldviews.
·  Outer-directed leaders align their behaviour to their situation in life.
· Inner-directed leaders are more intent on changing their environment and pursuing their own goals and objectives. This view embraces egocentric, manipulative and existential values. 
These distinctions affect practices such as:
· strategy formulation and implemention
· staff recruitment, development and retention
· business-government relations. 
· There are different expectations to the attributes and skills required by international leaders. Such differences relate to the articulation of a corporate vision, the development of a global mindset and different perceptions of managerial goals. 
· Attitudes towards task-orientated and relationship-orientated behaviour differ. This presents a challenge to leaders who may have to use different combinations of task and relationship-orientated behaviours at any one time to be effective. 
· There are differences in assumptions as to what leadership styles should be implemented and how they should be implemented. 

Cross-cultural leadership styles
Three types of Cross-cultural leadership styles, they are:
1. Charismatic leadership - is a person who is dominant, self-confident, convinced of the moral righteousness of his or her own beliefs, and is able to arouse a sense of excitement and adventure in subordinates.
2. Transformational leadership - motivate their followers by inspiring them, offering challenges and encouraging individual development. This leadership style stresses the achievement of a higher collective purpose, of a common mission and vision.
3. Transactional leadership - stresses specific benefits that their subordinates will receive by compliantly accomplishing agreed-on tasks. This leadership style involves reciprocal negotiations between leaders and their subordinates and mutual exchange relationships between them. Transactional leaders use their legitimate reward and coercive powers to give commands and exchange rewards for services rendered. The danger is that leaders view financial success as the key performance criterion. Transformational leadership is usually the best approach to adopt when engaging in international business. 

7.1.4 GLOBAL MINDSET AND EMOTIONAL INTELLIGENCE (Pg 242)

The challenge for global leaders managers is to be able to articulate a viable, global strategy, and facilitate and develop supportive processes by which globalisation can be managed. They need to develop a global mindset. People with global mindsets drive for the bigger, broader picture, balance contradictions, trust process over structure, seek opportunities in surprises and uncertainties, value diversity and continuously seek improvement. A global mindset leads to three strategic leadership thrusts:
1. Formulation and evocation of vision
2. Crafting a strategy to realise the vision 
3. Focusing on mobilisation of resources. 
These, in turn, result in business-goal outcomes and attitudinal outcomes.
A global mindset of an organisation can, therefore, be described as the ability of the firm to:
· Be open to new experiences, diversity across cultures and markets, and to change over time
· Be willing to learn new skills and competencies in order to exploit global opportunities
· Operate on the premise that they can be culturally different without being better or worse than one another.
· Discover new markets and to establish a presence in with a view to acquiring a global competitive advantage.

Traditional and global mindsets (Pg 243)
Although a great deal can be done to develop and train global managers, certain personal characteristics/traits will also be found in them as they develop a global mindset. These personal characteristics and competencies are:
· Knowledgeable - Technical, business and industrial knowledge is the most fundamental quality for the successful management of globally competitive processes.
· Analytical - The ability to understand different levels of vision, mission, strategy and to balance contradictory issues. 
· Strategic - The ability to focus on important issues and to adjust to changing demands by reallocating the organisation's resources. 
· Flexible - The ability to adapt to uncertainty caused by changes to the global business environment. This calls for intuitive decisions, based on inadequate information, culminating in decision making.
· Sensitive - Cross-cultural management requires a sensitivity to others that invariably necessitates continuous learning and a well-developed concept of ego and self. 
· Open - Openness and reflection lead to continuous improvement since they provide the necessary perspective for dealing with future challenges. They indicate an urge for continuous learning and development. 
· Managing competitiveness - This is the ability to gather information globally that relates to the sourcing of capital, technology, suppliers, facilities, market opportunities and human resources, as well as the capacity to utilise the information to increase the competitive advantage and profitability of the firm..
· Managing alignment - This is the ability to manage decision-making processes on a global basis for various businesses, functions and tasks. This implies borderless decision-making processes and the ability to learn, and to be responsive and efficient. This responsibility requires:
· A high tolerance for ambiguity
· The ability to identify diverse managerial behaviours for ongoing organisational renewal
· The ability to coordinate complicated financial, human resources, marketing and manufacturing interdependencies
· The ability to determine which decisions must be centralised and which decentralised, as well as the ability to formulate deterministic strategies and structures that are accompanied by a flexible culture that is process-driven and responsive to changing global conditions.
· Managing change - This is the ability to manage continuous change and uncertainty. This could mean managing the transition from independence to dependence to interdependence. Managing change often calls for:
· The creation of new opportunities from change and chaos, rather than reverting to the old order 
· The use of a cyclical process of taking charge and then letting go, and using right-brain as well as left-brain thinking skills.
· Managing teams - This implies the ability to manage cross-cultural teams and to dispense with the home-office way of doing things. Attaining such cross-cultural skills presupposes the possession of cross-cultural sensitivity and the ability to work with teams. For international leaders/managers this means: 
· Acquiring insights into cross-cultural behaviour and leadership styles 
· Developing a flexibility that transcends cultures when managing people from different cultures.
· Managing learning - This is the ability to manage organisational learning continuously through the acquisition of new fields of knowledge and cultural perspectives. This necessitates an integrated approach to the world and looking for opportunities in one country that can be transferred to another. To achieve such cognitive capacity, leaders/managers must:
· Develop a capacity for systems thinking on a global basis that will affect both personal and organisational success
· Familiarise themselves with international relations, international economics and cross-cultural dynamics involving foreign suppliers, customers and partners
· Stretch their understanding of the global business environment that transcends their immediate job or annual objectives.





Emotional intelligence (EQ)

Emotional intelligence epitomises leaders who are innately skilled in motivating and encouraging others, and being emotionally aware of what goes on in other people's minds. It highlights the attributes of self-awareness, self- regulation, motivation, empathy, trustworthiness, credibility, integrity, honesty, social responsibility, being emotionally aware of the world around them and a sensitivity to different cultures.
The attribute of emotional intelligence is particularly pronounced in transformational leadership behaviour.
Social capital epitomises the standing a global leader has in a particular MNE or industry to influence the actions of others. Political capital relates to the capacity of global leaders to develop this skill by acquiring a reputation as people who get things done, thereby reflecting the legitimacy of their support and power bases

7.1.5 LEADERSHIP IN EMERGING ECONOMIES (Pg 247)

Training goals must be linked directly to the strategic goals of the firm and this cannot be done if such strategies are vague or out of touch with the realities of the global economy. This reflects some of the challenges facing MNEs whose subsidiary operations are located in emerging economies. These operations could include the following:
· Limited relationships - This refers to MNEs with export offices, sales representatives, joint ventures or distributor relationships in host countries. 
· Subsidiaries - This refers to firms with foreign subsidiaries, ostensibly staffed by expatriates, but who will eventually be replaced by locals in the host country, some of whom will be the products of less developed/emerging economies. 
· Regional business - This presupposes the use of developmental assignments abroad for expatriates prior to their involvement in these businesses. It requires host-country nationals to have exposure and training in strategic leadership and financial analytical skills.
· Global business - This presupposes the use of management development programmes that focus on the global aspects of economic, social, political, technological and market trends, requiring cross-functional team-building exercises. 

Indeed magnitude and direction of change in the global economy – as opposed to emergent, developing economies - emphasises the training requirements for foreign nationals. This is because the global economy is characterised by the following:
· The global marketplace is evolving rapidly with diverse, sophisticated and changing consumer needs.
· Technological advances are breathtaking. 
· There is increased multiculturalism due to the ongoing integration of societies and cultures.
· Increased global competitiveness could be beyond the capabilities of foreign nationals in emerging economies.
· There is the real prospect of globalisation widening the gap between rich and poor nations, leading to indefinite dependencies. Such poverty gaps frequently indicate the limited resources and infrastructure of host countries who are unable to absorb emerging technologies.
· The scale of business risks involved is often incongruous with foreign nationals' expectations and exposure. 
· There are the changing complexities of industries, customers and competitors located in the advanced global economies.
· The explosion of innovation initiatives often transcends traditional bureaucracy, enabling MNEs in developed countries to make innovation and entrepreneurship cornerstones of their strategies. 
· Compare the speed with which new goods and services are being introduced in developed countries relative to the experiences of developing host countries. 
· There is the impact of organisational downsizing and restructuring in a bid to facilitate the pursuit of wealth and growth.
· The speed with which diverse groups of people are being attracted to the global economy creates challenges for multicultural management.
· The advent of privatisation is often contrary to public policy in host countries. This calls for a new mindset and the acquisition of new skills.
· Strategic alliances, external networks and collaborative agreements are important in the bid to respond to an increasingly competitive economic environment. 
· Progressive innovation, as the most important part of a firm's strategy, enables it to compete effectively in domestic and global markets.
· Such innovation often enables firms to use knowledge acquired from partners to enhance their technological distinctiveness. 
· Changes to the structure of industries result from the introduction of radical technologies. 
















































TOPIC 8 – GLOBAL COMPETITIVE AND COLLABORATIVE STRATEGIES AND STRUCTURES
STUDY UNIT 8.1 – GLOBAL STRATEGIES AND STRUCTURES

8.1.1 GLOBAL COMPETITIVENESS (Pg 252)

Factors used to establish a competitive advantage. An MNE may use any one or a combination of these factors as the rationale for increasing returns and establishing competitive advantage:
1. Location economies - Through its choice of which markets to enter is location economies. This means access to resources at lower prices, or easier access to key markets by avoiding transportation costs or trade barrier costs. MNEs should be careful to establish that the cost of transportation and trade barriers to draw the benefits of the location. 
2. Economies of scale - By increasing its production and sales volumes, an MNE will also gain the cost benefits of increased experience, scale and scope as a means of increasing efficiencies. The benefits of economies of scale are realised from large increases in production and sales volumes associated with global expansion
3. Leveraging core competencies - Globalisation also allows MNEs to leverage core competencies to increase financial returns by replicating them in other geographical markets. 
4. Leveraging subsidiary skills - Subsidiaries typically operate in the local market and have localised skills that may offer an advantage to the parent MNE. 
5. Government incentives - The decision to globalise may also be the result of taking advantage of government incentives designed to attract foreign investment

Sources of Global Competitive Advantage
Sources of competitive advantage in different settings and at various levels may include the following:
· At the level of the national environment the following aspects can assist in establishing competitive advantage:
· national factor endowments (raw materials); national culture; human resources; transportation, communication and general infrastructure; and legal systems 
· the institutional environment, which consists of the national legal framework, government policies and the functioning of the state and its organs such as the justice and legal system 
· exchange rates
· related and supporting industries, in other words the extent to which a 'cluster' exists to support an industry
· At the level of the industry. This aspect relates to factors that affect industry profitability and growth, such as the intensity of competition, the threat of new entry, the availability of substitutes, the power of buyers and suppliers, availability of complementers, market size and regulatory influences.
· At the level of the organisation, access to unique and profit-generating resources and capabilities are critical.

National Competitive Advantage
National competitive advantage is determined in combination by broad attributes:
· Factor endowments - Porter distinguishes between basic and advanced factors in a country. 
· Basic factor endowments comprise natural resources, climatic conditions and basic skills in the workforce
· Advanced factor endowments include high-level skills in the labour force, infrastructure and advanced technologies. 
· Demand conditions - Strengthened by local demand for goods and services, and the degree of sophistication of that demand. These conditions provide the drivers for innovation, quality improvement and competitiveness in the and also provide firms with an excellent springboard for expanding competitively into international markets.
· Related and supporting industries - The presence of related and supporting industries can help firms to attain increased competitive advantage through innovation and quality improvement. These are typically service industries or suppliers of components that can provide inputs at lower costs and that can also rapidly adapt to the changing needs of producers. 
· Firm strategy, structure and rivalry - Nations tend to do well in those industries with intense rivalry where management practices and strategies are closely aligned to the industry's sources of competitive advantage. 
· Government and chance events - We have seen that governments or industry regulators can be enhancing or restrictive with regard to international business, while chance events such as the earthquake and tsunami could have disastrous effects on business. Porter maintains that the original four attributes need to be positive and support each other to provide the ideal business climate for the internationalisation of firms

8.1.2 STRATEGIC ORIENTATION OF MNE’s (Pg 256)

Multinational enterprises typically display one of four orientations, sets of beliefs or mindsets toward their international activities. These include:
· Ethnocentric orientation - A firm with an ethnocentric orientation believes that everything that originates from its home country is best and that the values and priorities of the parent firm must guide the strategic decisions regarding all its foreign operations. Control is mostly centralised and products standardized.
· Polycentric orientation - In a polycentric orientation, the culture of the country in which a subsidiary or foreign operation is located receives priority and dominates decision making. Foreign subsidiaries accordingly enjoy relatively greater freedom, the entire MNE is highly decentralised and subsidiaries are predominantly locally.
· Regiocentric orientation - In a regiocentric orientation, the predisposition of the parent firm is largely hi ended with those of subsidiaries or operations in other regions, thus accommodating regional influences. 
· Geocentric orientation - A firm with a geocentric orientation adopts a globally integrated systems and networking approach to strategic decision making, exhibits a worldwide attitude and encourages multiculturalism and global learning. Decisions are made at the parent firm level as well as in subsidiaries as circumstances dictate. The best person for the job is appointed in host country subsidiaries, regardless of nationality, race, religion and gender.

Pressures for Cost Reduction and Local Responsiveness
Firms that compete internationally generally face two types of conflicting competitive pressures: pressures to be locally responsive and pressures for cost reductions:
1. Local responsiveness - originate from differences in consumer tastes and preferences, infrastructure, distribution channels and in host government relations. If the demand for local responsiveness is high, firms adapt, differentiate and customise products to unique customer preferences and tastes in each of their foreign markets. The end result is substantial duplication across national markets, a lack of product standardisation and higher costs. Such firms furthermore cannot benefit from economies of scale and accordingly do not compete on the basis of low cost and price
2. Cost reductions - requires a firm to reduce costs through mass production of standardised products - realising economies of scale - where products need no or very little adaptation to satisfy different foreign market requirements. Firms can realise location economies and increase profitability by leveraging core competencies across different global markets.

8.1.3 GLOBAL STRATEGIES (Pg 258)

International strategy is ultimately shaped by the tension between the need for local responsiveness and the pressure to reduce costs. four possible international strategies are available or a combination thereof, these are:
1. An international strategy
2. A multidomestic or localisation strategy
3. A global strategy 
4. A transnational strategy

1. International Strategy
Microsoft is a very good example of an MNE that can follow an international strategy because:
· It has a valuable core competence or strategic resource that indigenous competitors in foreign markets lack
· It faces relatively weak pressures for local responsiveness and cost reductions
· The potential to obtain economies of scale and the benefits of being sensitive to the preferences in specific country markets are of little value.


Firms pursuing an international strategy generally tend to:
· Centralise R&D and product development functions at home gradually establish manufacturing and marketing functions over time in each major country in which they are involved.
· Limit local customisation of products in different foreign markets
· Retain tight head office control over product and marketing strategy.
Competitive advantage and value creation thus come from transferring core competencies and products to markets where these are lacking. Due to the duplication of manufacturing facilities, economies of scale may not be achieved and costs could become high, making this strategy inappropriate in markets with high pressures for cost reduction. 

2. Multidomestic or Multifocal Strategy
Is most appropriate when there are high pressures for local responsiveness and low pressures for cost reductions. Firms pursuing this strategy accordingly customise their products and marketing strategies from one national market to the next.
Key characteristics of a multidomestic or localisation strategy accordingly include the following:
· There is customisation or frequent adaptation of products for each separate foreign market.
· There are few system-wide opportunities to realise economies of scale.
· Value-creating and value-adding activities, production, marketing, R&D, are performed and duplicated in each market.
· Competition in each country is essentially independent of competition in other countries and competitive advantage is inherent in each separate national market
· Organisational decision making is decentralised, national subsidiaries function in a largely autonomous manner, and coordination of marketing and sales takes place within each national market.
· Limited organisational learning and no or minimal leveraging of core competencies occur within the MNE.
· Cost structures are high with higher- priced differentiated and customised products, and these firms therefore do not compete on the basis of cost and price.
Due to decentralised decision making, autonomous national markets, a worldwide area structure and a polycentric staffing policy that alleviates cultural myopia and enhances local host country.

3. Global Strategy
A global strategy makes most sense where there are strong pressures for cost reduction and where demands for local responsiveness are minimal. The focus is on increasing profitability by benefiting from economies of scale and location economies. The following are key characteristics of a global strategy:
· Mutually interdependent subsidiaries
· Marketing of standardised products worldwide to price-sensitive consumers
· Global economies of scale in key activities
· Leveraging of technology across many markets
· Global coordination of sales and branding
· Centralised decision making, control and reporting activities
· Production, marketing and R&D functions concentrated in a few favourable locations.

Transnational Strategy
Makes sense when a firm faces high pressures for cost reductions, high pressures for local responsiveness and where there are significant opportunities for leveraging valuable skills. Firms core competencies flow from parent firm to subsidiaries and also from subsidiaries to parent firm and between foreign subsidiaries, a process referred to as global learning. They require a strong organisational culture, effective coordination and a geocentric staffing. The following are key characteristics:
· Production facilities are established in a few favourable locations to attend to customisation where required, while pursuing low costs by using multipurpose, universal components across countries where possible. This has been successfully achieved by a transnational firm like Caterpillar.
· Decision making is both centralised and decentralised. Structures are complex and usually require a matrix organisation with a dual reporting system
Knowledge is exchanged between all organisational units and decision making takes place at several different levels in the organisation, for example the group level, national level and project level.

	
	International Strategy
	Global Strategy
	Multidomestic or Multifocal Strategy
	Transnational Strategy


	When is it appropriate?
	· unique resources or core competencies 
· Low cost pressure 
· Low demand for localisation

	· High cost pressure
· Low demand for localisation
	· Low cost pressure
· High demand for localisation

	· High cost pressure I High demand for localization
· Opportunities for leveraging valuable skills in network


	Key Characteristics
	· Centralised R&D and product development 
· Little or no localisation 
· Decentralised production and marketing

	· Mutually interdependent subsidiaries 
· Standardised products Global economies of scale and scope 
· Centralised sources of competitive advantage
	· Decentralised and duplicated key functions 
· High level of localisation 
· Localised competitive advantage
	· Both centralized and decentralised 
· Matrix structure
· Strong focus on knowledge sharing across all organisational units
· Paradigm ('state of mind') rather than an organisational form

	Advantages
	· Tight control over sources of competitive advantage
	· High efficiencies can be achieved
	· Highly localised and responsive
	· Benefits from scale and scope efficiencies
· Benefits from experience effects
· Benefits from local responsiveness

	Disadvantages
	· Potentially high cost structure 
· Lacks local responsiveness
	· Lacks local responsiveness
	· High cost structure due to functional 
· Few opportunities for economies of scale
	· Complex structure to manage
· Dependent on strong culture that may be difficult to achieve.

	Key organising principles
	· Tight HQ control over product and marketing strategy 
· Foreign operations build on and exploit parent company abilities 
· Knowledge developed at centre and transferred to national units

	· Sources of competitive advantage are centrally controlled 
· Foreign operations implement HQ strategy
· Knowledge developed at the centre
	· Duplication of key functions across national markets
· Decentralised decision making and exploiting local opportunities
· HQ role is to ensure optimal autonomous functioning of subsidiaries
· Knowledge developed in each national unit
	· Dispersed, but interdependent
· Complex matrix structure, dual reporting
· Decision making is both centralised and decentralised 
· Knowledge is developed jointly and shared worldwide
· Requires a strong culture

	Types of industries.
	· Wine
· High-end food products (e.g. specialty foods)
	· Microchips
· Personal Computers
· MP3 players
· Global fashion clothing
	· Fast-moving consumer goods
· Durable consumer goods
· Processed food 
· Mobile telephony
	· Management consulting



8.1.4 FOREIGN MARKET ENTRY (Pg 262)

The following important questions in deciding on the specifics of foreign market entry:
· Which markets to enter? This requires extensive international market research and an assessment of the attractiveness of international markets based on a comparison of their potential benefits and risks. 
· The timing of entry, based on an understanding of the firm's strategic priorities and availability of resources 
· The scale on which to enter the market, which relates to the envisaged foreign market scope and extent of resource commitments. 
· The specific mode of entry

Different Types of Entry Modes
Firms can use ten different modes to enter foreign markets. These include;
1. 
2. Exporting 
3. Turnkey projects, 
4. Licensing, franchising, 
5. Contract manufacturing
6. Service sector outsourcing,
7.  strategic alliances,
8. Management contracts
9. International joint ventures 
10. Fully owned subsidiaries.

1. Exporting - Exporting can be indirect or direct. With indirect exporting, the firm has a domestic export agent and has little control over the process. With direct exporting, the firm is in control of the exporting process and gains exporting experience through this involvement.
2. Turnkey projects - Found in engineering and processing industries. It allow firms to export their know-how to countries that may restrict foreign direct investment (FDI). A turnkey project typically involves a big engineering project where local knowledge is not available. 
3. Licensing - A licensor grants the rights to intangible property to a licensee (foreign licensed firm). The licensee is then in a position to produce and/or sell a product on behalf of the licensor.
4. Franchising - Franchising is somewhat similar to licensing.  
5. Contract manufacturing - is a means of taking advantage of location economies by gaining access to cheap labour in overseas markets. A foreign manufacturing concern is contracted to produce certain goods, which are then reimported and sold in the host country, or exported to other countries. 
6. Service sector outsourcing - The availability of highly skilled knowledge workers at comparatively low wages has made the outsourcing of white-collar jobs to developing countries. 
7. Strategic alliances - Strategic alliances are collaborative agreements between two firms, often in the same industry but not necessarily in the same country. They work toward some common purpose but retain its own identity
8. Management contracts - a foreign company gains the right to run a company from day-to-day, but it is not allowed to make decisions regarding ownership, financing or strategic changes. It is a low- risk entry strategy. 
9. Joint ventures - A joint venture involves establishing a new firm with a new identity that is jointly owned by two or more partners. 
10. Wholly owned subsidiaries - A wholly owned subsidiary means that the firm owns more than 50% of the shares and effectively has management control of a foreign subsidiary. Wholly owned subsidiaries in foreign markets can be established in two ways - a firm can set up a new venture, generally referred to as a greenfield venture, or it can acquire or take over an established firm in the foreign country. 

	
	Advantages
	Disadvantages
	Key success factors

	Exporting
	· low risk
· Little capital expenditure required
· Easy access and exit
	· Transportation costs
· Little control over agents or distributors
	· Choice of distributor
· Transportation costs
· Trade barriers

	Turnkey projects
	· Revenue from core competencies where FDI is restricted
	· Temporary arrangement 
· Could create a new competitor
	· Reliable infrastructure
· Availability of local supplies and labour
· Repatriable profits 
· Reliability of partners (e.g. government partners)

	Licensing
	· No asset ownership risk
· Fast market access
· Avoids trade barriers
	· Dissipation of intellectual capital and intellectual property
· Limited control over management and production quality
	· Choice of licensee
· Appropriability of intellectual property
· Host country royalty limits

	Franchising
	· Little investment or risk
· Fast market access
· Small business expansion
	· Difficult to control quality standards
· Dissipation of intellectual capital
	· Quality control of operations

	Contract manufacturing 
	· Limited cost and risk
· Short-term commitment 
	· Difficult to retain operational control 
· Human rights violations by contractors may have a negative impact
	· Reliability and quality of contractor Operational control 
· Human rights issues (e.g. sweat shops)
	

	service sector outsourcing
	· High-level skills at low I cost
	· Difficult to retain operational control May be difficult to bridge cultural differences
	· Reliability and quality of contractor 
· Operational control
	

	Strategic alliances
	· Firm retains its own identity
· Access to local knowledge
	· Can be difficult to cooperate with fundamentally different alliance partners Partnerships with multiple partners can be difficult to manage
	· Choice of alliance partners
· Management of alliance and alliance offerings
	

	Management contracts
	· Low risk
· Access to further strategies
	
	· opportunity to gain long-term position

	Joint ventures
	· insider access to markets
· Share costs and risk
· Leverage partner's technology, local knowledge and contacts
	· Requires relatively large capital outlay 
· Firm relinquishes own identity
	· Choice of the right JV partner
· Successful integration of JV partners
· Ability to protect key resources 
· Ability to share control

	
	Advantages
	Disadvantages
	Key success factors

	Wholly owned subsidiary
	· Realise all revenues 
· Full control
· Global economies of Scale
· Protect sources of competitive advantage
· Acquisition can provide rapid market access
	· Requires large capital outlay
· High risk
	· Ability to assess and control risk
· Ability to gain local acceptance
· Repatriability of profits




8.1.5 MANAGING THE GLOBAL FIRM (Pg 270)

The three generally accepted phases of the generic strategic management process involving strategy formulation, strategy implementation and strategy evaluation and control apply to both domestic and international firms, international involvement significantly adds to the complexity and includes various phases: 
· Step 1 - Evaluate the current profile of the firm in terms of its values, culture, mission, strategic intent and long-term objectives (LTOs) as a point of departure for international strategic planning.
· Step 2 - Align the strategic assumptions on which the current business strategy is based with the international involvement or expansion of existing international involvement. Also includes the alignment of the mission and long-term objectives of the enterprise.
· Step 3 - Analyse both the domestic and international external environments. Scanning the external environment involves identifying important and relevant political, economic, legal, sociocultural, technological, demographic and physical forces in both the domestic and international business environments as potential opportunities or threats. In addition, analyse the internal environment of the firm in terms of the strengths and weaknesses to identify its internal competitive advantage in terms of capabilities and resources, as well as to assess its readiness for internationalisation.
· Step 4 - After a SWOT analysis one needs to identify the impact that potential opportunities, threats, strengths and weaknesses may have on the achievement of the firm's envisaged domestic and international strategic objectives. It is important that the outcomes of the SWOT analysis serve to realign the mission and long-term objectives.
· Steps 5 and 6 - Strategy formulation and choice of strategy here is much more complex than for a domestic firm since the firm has to consider three distinct strategic decisions. These involve deciding on:
· the appropriate generic strategy (low cost, differentiation or focus)
· the appropriate 'international' strategy (international, multidomestic, global or transnational strategy)
· the mode of foreign market entry (exporting, turnkey project, licensing, franchising, forming a strategic alliance or joint venture, or establishing a wholly owned subsidiary in a foreign country). Based on revised long-term objectives, the strategy formulation (Step 5) thus involves the decisions outlined in Sections 3 and 4 above. 
· Steps 7 and 7a - Implementing the three distinct types of strategies is considerably more complex than implementation domestically. Country differences (political, legal, economic, cultural, technological, demographic, physical) and geographical distance are complicating factors in this regard. Revision of organisational structures, systems and procedures, including reporting procedures (7a), are required to facilitate strategy implementation.
· Step 8 - Once implemented, ongoing monitoring, evaluation and control of both the domestic and the international strategic processes are required to ensure satisfactory performance.













The International Strategic Management Process
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TOPIC 9 – MANAGING GLOBAL BUSINESS OPERATIONS
STUDY UNIT 9.1 – GLOBAL BUSINESS OPERATIONS

9.1.1 OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT: MODUS OPERANDI (Pg 279)
[image: ]

The Value Chain in Operations
Resources that are indicated as inputs are acquired internally as well as externally by means of the supply chain from internal and external suppliers. These resources are moved through the transformation process from inputs to transformation (manufacturing) to outputs by means of logistics processes. Inputs are also described as resources for operations and can be classified as transformed resources and transforming resources.






· Transformed resources - are those resources that are transformed in some way and that become part of the final output.
· Transforming resources - are those resources necessary to ensure that transformation takes place. However, they do not form part of the final output. 

9.1.2 OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT: STRATEGIES AND STRUCTURES (Pg 280)

Organisational strategy aims to establish what products or services an organisation should offer to which customers, considering existing and potential competition, in order to meet its overall objectives such as value adding, sustainability and financial profitability, the needs and buying behaviour of customers, as well as existing and potential competition.
The top management team of an organisation is responsible for developing and implementing organisational strategies. The strategic decisions that require attention should include the following strategic options:
· organisational goals, for example local versus global business 
· product and/or services to offer locally versus internationally
· organisation structure, for example considering the level of internationalization scope of business and level of diversity
· administrative systems used.

Successful manufacturing and production is dependent on the ability of the procurement function. These materials should be made available through effective logistics processes and the operations processes. The following three areas have a direct impact on this strategy:
1. Supply of resources - Management should decide where and how to acquire the resources needed.
2. Location - Management should decide where to build or obtain the various facilities.
3. Logistics - Management should decide how to distribute components and products, as well as control inventory.
Effective production (doing the right things) and efficient production (doing the right things right) ensure that an organisation will develop and sustain a competitive advantage. This can be the result of a variety of contributing scenarios where effective and efficient production can:
· Reduce the cost of products and services
· Increase revenue through increased customer satisfaction when acquiring quality goods
· Reduce the amount of investment resulting in:
· A higher return on investment (ROI) that, in turn, will determine investment decisions
· A higher return on assets (ROA) that will influence future investment in technology
· The utilisation of capital (for example machinery and infrastructure) to its optimal potential
· Provides the opportunity for continuous innovation through:
· Constantly reviewing business processes
· Designing new products and services from feedback received
· Designing new business processes to deliver the new products and services.

To ensure sustainable competitive advantage, the organisation needs to ensure that the objectives of operations and the required logistics are in alignment. These strategic objectives can be identified as:
· Minimising costs by ensuring that production, logistics and the required supply of materials are optimised in the region where it is based
· Increasing production quality through minimised defects that results in an increased level of reliability (products with no defects and that perform well).

The main motives driving the internationalisation of business and therefore affecting business operations such as supply, manufacturing and logistics are as follows:
· Organisations should consider their use of current resources and how to gain access to new resources for operations activities.
· Organisations need to develop core competencies resulting in new competitive advantage locally as well as globally. Continuous learning takes place by acquiring new skills and knowledge.
· Local and global competition demands that organisations seek international opportunities that will allow them to become more competitive in the future. 
· Market development opportunities exist for global business by establishing international operations. Developing a new international market allows for a further increase in profits as well as overall revenues.

In a nutshell, the strategic role and value of a foreign manufacturing facility allows for the:
· Acquisition of low-cost labour for labour-intensive production activities
· The development of expertise and capabilities in the foreign location that results over time from global learning.

A Global Manufacturing Strategy
If an organisation contemplates either a market-access strategy or a resource-seeking strategy, there are four key factors to consider:
1. Manufacturing compatibility refers to the extent to which an organisation's strategy is in line with its foreign investment decision. Strategies to consider in this case are:
a. Cost efficiency by reducing manufacturing costs
b. Innovation by developing new products or ways of production
c. Improved quality resulting in increased reliability
d. Flexibility to changes in markets, demands and trends
e. Ensuring dependability by delivering products at promised prices.
2. Manufacturing configuration refers to whether the manufacturing facilities are centralised in one country or decentralised in various countries or different regions. 
3. Coordination indicates the extent to which the operations activities can be integrated and linked as a uniform business entity.
4. Control focuses on control systems to ensure that managers implement the organisational strategies. This can be achieved by measuring the performance of the foreign manufacturing facility.
A global manufacturing strategy implies that the following functions need to be globalised:
· The manufacturing of components and products in a foreign location
· The procurement of suppliers and materials required by the manufacturing function
· Maintenance and monitoring of foreign facilities
· Logistics and distribution of components and final products
· Customer service and support to provide back-up and other support services
· Knowledge-based processes to obtain and distribute information and to ensure learning 
· Product development and innovation to develop and maintain a competitive advantage.

9.1.3 GLOBAL MANUFACTURING AND LOCATION DECISIONS (Pg 284)

A variety of factors needs to be considered when making the decision of where to manufacture products internationally. The key factors which should be investigated are:
1. Product factors
2. Country factors
3. Technological factors
Popular benchmarking exercises are based on a scoreboard and include a variety of criteria for consideration when comparing different countries and/or regions. Typical criteria could include government regulations and practice, labour costs, infrastructure availability, R&D capacity, industrial capability, export growth, skill base and investment costs, etc.

Product factors
When analysing the product an organisation manufactures or plans to manufacture at an international facility, it needs to consider two product features:
· Does the product serve a universal set of customer needs? - if a product can address a universal set of needs, less variation is required in the product and it becomes more attractive to consider one optimal location to manufacture it. Less diversity in taste and preferences drives a centralised location for production, whereas higher levels of diversity demand decentralisation of location.
· What is the product's value-to-weight ratio? - the objective is to decentralise lower value-to-weight products such as paint, chemicals and petroleum while centralising higher value-to-weight products, like cell phones and watches. The reasoning for this approach is based on the fact that the cost of low value-to-weight products is mainly made up of transport costs due to its high weight, while the opposite is true for high value-to-weight products.

Country factors
When analysing the country or region where an organisation plans to manufacture internationally, it needs to consider the country related aspects:
1. Political economy - Differences in the political economy indicate whether there is free international trade or not. A country or region's trade policy is based on certain policy instruments, including tariffs, government subsidies, local content requirements, administrative policies, voluntary export restraints, import quotas and anti-dumping duties. 
2. Culture - When establishing a manufacturing facility, a firm has to consider the implications of the head-office organisational culture, the home country culture as well as the organisational and national culture of the global destination under consideration. 
3. Factor costs - Differences in factor costs relate to the costs of the resources. The objective is to establish a manufacturing facility that is based in a country or region where the input costs, such as labour, materials and facilities, are on average much lower than the alternative destinations considered.
4. Trade barriers - Trade barriers are a result of the trade policies of a particular country or region. 
5. Exchange rate instability - Volatility in exchange rates affects the costs of various resources, the pricing strategy of goods manufactured in a foreign country and then distributed to different international markets. 
6. Location externalities - Include a variety of external factors that influence free trade between countries. One example is the existence or the lack of required skills, facilities and support industries in a particular country or region. In a country or region where skills for a particular activity are concentrated, the potential for free trade increases tremendously. 

Technological factors

In general, three types of technology can be identified:
1. Product technology includes the features and characteristics of a product or service.
2. Process technology includes methods, processes, procedures and equipment used to manufacture a product or provide a service.
3. Information technology refers to the collection, storing, processing and distribution of information by means of computer and electronic equipment.
All three types of technology are relevant to operations, although process technology dominates the manufacturing process. 
When analysing a product and the facilities required to manufacture it at in a foreign location, an organisation needs to consider the technological factors below:
1. Fixed costs - This cost must be evaluated as a high set-up cost would suggest one single plant, whereas lower fixed costs for setting up a new plant opens up opportunities to consider various plants in different locations. Such fixed costs would include the price of land and buildings.  
2. Minimum efficiency scale - The minimum efficiency scale indicates the efficient utilisation of an organisation's facilities and at what level of output a plant must function to ensure major economies of scale. The optimal level is therefore dictated not only internally by technology and equipment, but also externally by global demand for its products.
3. Lean production - Lean production is obtainable from flexible manufacturing technology. This results in:
a. Better scheduling to utilise equipment optimally
b. Minimising the time to set up equipment to ensure a quick response and less wasted time managing quality control optimally to minimise error and increase reliability.
This can be achieved through mass customisation. If a facility in a particular country under consideration cannot perform optimally with regard to the values of lean production, then it would probably negatively affect overall organisational performance and profitability.

Location Factors for Site Selection

While analysing alternatives for sites, an organisation needs to consider the different types of manufacturing facilities. The different global manufacturing facilities can be classified as follows:
· An offshore factory is established to manufacture specific components or products at a low cost. These are exported to foreign markets for further production or assembly, or for direct sales. A shoe factory.
· A source factory is established with the primary purpose of ensuring low-cost manufacturing, but with a broader strategy than that of the offshore factory. Managers therefore have a greater influence over their supply chain and outbound logistics. A shoe factory that sources raw materials.
· A server factory is established to serve national or regional markets in a foreign destination and thereby minimise hurdles such as tariffs, taxes, transportation and warehousing costs, as well as exchange rate fluctuations. 
· A contributor factory is similar to a server factory and is established to serve national or regional markets in a foreign destination, but with increased responsibilities such as product and process engineering, as well as extensive involvement of management in development and the supply chain
· An outpost factory is established to function as a server or offshore factory, but its main objective is to obtain information and knowledge from advanced suppliers, competitors and resource centres in the foreign destination.
· A lead factory is established in a foreign destination with the main objective of conducting new research on products, processes and technology for the whole organisation. An example is a factory that manufactures shoes with its main objective being to design new shoes and to use different materials to generate new or larger markets.









Location factors for manufacturing site selection
Labour factors
· Labour supply and availability 
· Labour costs and rates
· Labour-management relations
· Labour skills availability
· Labour retention
Demand factors
· Location of competition
· Volume of traffic and access around facility
Transportation factors
· Accessibility to suppliers 
· Accessibility to markets 
· Accessibility to different forms of transportation
· Cost of transportation
· General: visibility of facility, available parking; access for emergency services





Utilities Factor
· Power and water supply
· Waste disposal
· Fuel availability 
· Utilities costs
· Utility laws and regulations
Government; legal and political factors
· Taxation legislation, structure and incentives
· Zoning legislation 
· Health and safety legislation
· Regulatory agencies and policies	
Environment, climate, community and quality of life factors
· Climate and living conditions
· Access to schooling, universities and research facilities
· Cost of living and property
· Health care facilities and safety
· Community attitudes
































STUDY UNIT 9.2 – GLOBAL SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

9.1.1 GLOBALISING THE SUPPLY CHAIN (Pg 291)

· Logistics - aims to manage the distribution in the supply chain to satisfy customer needs while minimising the cost of these value- creation activities to ensure a competitive advantage.
· The supply chain - is a subsystem of the value chain that focuses primarily on the physical movement of goods and materials along with supporting information through the supply, production, and distribution processes.

The supply chain in a global manufacturing context
The key activities to support the structure include the following:
1. Planning and developing a strategy for the supply chain to ensure a balance in demand for products and the resources required to manufacture those products.
2. Sourcing of goods and services through procurement from suppliers to meet the planned or actual demand for products.
3. Manufacturing of products to meet demand delivering and transporting manufactured products to customers
4. Handling returned goods that are excess, damaged or malfunctioning 

We can thus identify two ways in which to design and manage a supply chain:
· A push system - considers markets trends and estimates sales before actual customer demand is established. Based on these figures, products are manufactured and distributed through the supply chain.
· A pull system - reacts to actual customer demand and, in response, manufactures goods and then distributes them through the supply chain


[image: ]







9.2.2 SUPPLIER NETWORKS (Pg 292)

In the case of a global manufacturing organisation, an important consideration is the process of how inputs (resources) are obtained from outside suppliers. This is better known as sourcing. 

· Local sourcing - Local sourcing for resources such as raw materials or components allows an organisation to eliminate proactively typical problems such as:
· Language differences
· Currency-related issues and exchange rate fluctuations 
· Extensive transportation distances
· Import tariffs
· Politics, political instability, strikes and even wars.

· Foreign sourcing - some of the following reasons could be drivers for such a strategy:
· Cost reduction based on a foreign location that has lower labour costs, less restrictive labour legislation or lower infrastructure costs for land and facilities.
· Increased quality of resources in comparison to what is available locally
· Accessing and exposure to the most current technology available globally 
· Obtaining and ensuring a global presence for future growth and sustainability 
· Improving supply reliability by supplementing local suppliers with foreign suppliers 
· Acquiring access to resources such as materials that are not locally available
· Improving the organisation's ability to manufacture products that will meet the specific requirements
· Ensuring a competitive advantage in the case of delivery of supplies 

Outsourcing
Outsourcing takes place when an organisation uses foreign suppliers for components required for assembly or for finished products. Some of the typical factors to consider which could affect an external entity's competitive advantage are where it manufactures:
· the component or product on a much larger scale
· the component or product at a much lower cost
· the component or product to a much higher level of quality.

Considering these general contributors to competitive advantage, the advantages of an organisation making the product itself, thus following a vertical integration strategy, are the following:
· Lower costs - The organisation has a competitive advantage in manufacturing a component or product more efficiently than any other business.
· Specialised investments - The organisation is dependent on a product that is highly specialised, the risk of an abusive relationship between itself and the supplier, where the supplier does not provide what is required.
· Improved scheduling - Where an organisation manufactures most or all of the components or the product itself, the advantage of manufacturing costs savings can be obtained due to the fact that all planning, scheduling and coordination of manufacturing and related activities are done centrally. 
· Protecting product technology - The technology used or designed can be a competitive advantage allows an organisation to ensure value-adding activities that will secure a competitive advantage over its competitors.

The following are the advantages of buying components or a product from an external entity:
· Flexibility - Flexibility gives an organisation a strategic advantage, it can change its suppliers or orders to optimise the impact of the change. 
· Lower costs - Manufacturing components and products in-house has additional responsibilities, the potential for limited negotiating power with suppliers of materials, as well as internal transportation costs. 
· Creating or expanding markets - The potential for developing and capturing new markets exists. Exposure of a business through this supply network can develop opportunities for growing its market share by entering foreign markets

Organisations should consider the following aspects of outsourcing:
· Make your outsourcing decisions based on your long-term strategic organisational goals.
· Refrain at all costs from quick, short- term solutions or hasty decisions.
· Always ensure that you retain critical knowledge and expertise to optimise outsourcing practices.
· Develop an exit strategy in case a change in long-term strategic goals makes outsourcing no longer viable.
· Develop joint teams to endure good relationships and effective implementation of your buyer-supplier agreement.
· Communicate the outsourcing strategy to all employees who are affected by it.
· Invest the necessary resources such as time, money and effort in your supplier selection process and do not make uninformed decisions.
· Set supplier performance criteria beforehand to make objective decisions
· Provide the relevant incentives to all stakeholders involved in outsourcing.
· Always minimise risk by obtaining the relevant insurance cover

The global sourcing process consists of the following eight basic steps:
· Step 1 - Analyse the operating and competitive business environments.
· Step 2 - Establish your global procurement (purchasing) effort.
· Step 3 - Identify and evaluate potential suppliers globally.
· Step 4 - Determine the required buyer-supplier relationship.
· Step 5 - Acquire and evaluate supplier proposals.
· Step 6 - Select the most suitable individual / list of suppliers, ships, requirements and capabilities.


9.2.3 INVENTORY MANAGEMENT (Pg 297)
An organisation needs to manage the flow and storage of inventory. Inventory to consider includes:
· All types of raw materials and components sourced from internal and external suppliers
· Work-in-progress and final products in the manufacturing facility
· Finished products stored at the distribution centre.

Just-in-time (JIT) inventory - is a requirement for manufacturing operations. It '... economizing on inventory holding costs by having materials arrive at a manufacturing plant just in time to enter the production process and not before. The application of is more complicated as it is difficult due to transport distance and time constraints. In many cases manufacturing operations ensure safety stock which defeats the purpose of a JIT manufacturing system.

Foreign trade zones (FTZs) – are special locations for storing domestic and imported inventory in order to avoid paying duties until the inventory is used in production or sold. These zones are in the form of a distribution centre or industrial park, and are generally located at border crossings, shipping ports and airports

Transportation - Documentation, choice of transportation and mode of transport are critical decisions to make. Transportation is a fundamental element in the logistics function and is a critical link between the organisation and its suppliers and customers. 

Supply chain technology - This allows organisations to be interconnected to ensure optimal procurement. Typical technology to be considered in the supply chain for a global manufacturing operation includes the following:
· Decision support systems are information systems that are used to analyse and present information for senior- management decision making.
· Network design applications are used to analyse long-term strategic questions relating to the manufacturing facility, such as size and location, as well as transportation issues.
· Warehouse and transportation planning systems are used to ensure optimal logistics capacity considering the organisational requirements at a point in time. 
· Warehouse and transportation management systems are used to manage, locate and control all movements and transactions between the different partners in an organisation's supply chain.

Global service operations
We can define a global service organisation as an organisation 'that transforms resources into intangible output that creates utility for its customers’. The key characteristics of international or global services are as follows:
· Services are intangible whereas products are tangible.
· Services are, in general, not storable whereas products are storable.
· Services often require customers to participate in the process, which is not generally the case with products.
· Services are often linked and provided in association with a product













































TOPIC 10 – GLOBAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
STUDY UNIT 10.1 – GLOBAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

10.1.1 THE GOAL OF GLOBAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT (Pg 304)

Financial management is understood to be concerned with the following three major areas of decision making:
· Capital budgeting - Determining what new production activities (investments) would add value to the firm's current wealth. 
· Capital structure - Determining the mix of financing sources (between debt and equity funding) that would be most efficient in funding the activities chosen as value-adding during capital budgeting. 
· Working capital management - How to manage the day-to-day (interim) non-capital funding needs of the firm in ways that permit it to remain a viable going concern as the capital activities yield fruit over staggered gestation periods.

Effective financial management can be a source of competitive advantage for the multinational enterprise. A competitive cost advantage could be attained for the MNE if astute international financial managers are successful in:
· Seeking external funds from capital market locations of their production where the cost of funds is relatively cheaper
· Making astute use of multilateral netting of liabilities and receivables.
· Leveraging, via transfer pricing for instance, opportunities provided by differences in tax and fiscal regimes across various national production locations of the MNE.
In fact, the scope of multinational business finance is distinguished from uni-national business finance by taking into consideration the cross-border dimension of the former. The international macroenvironment of an MNE:
· makes the consideration of foreign exchange rates of paramount importance
· broadens the MNE's access to finance I creates opportunities for diversification of operational and financial risks across distributed foreign subsidiaries, as well as leveraging of dissimilar tax (fiscal) jurisdictions.

The goal of multinational financial management
Some authors classify the goal of financial management into one of two models of wealth maximisation:
1. The shareholder wealth maximisation model - maximises shareholder return, which is seen as the sum of capital gains and dividends for a given level of risk. This model is based on the concept of efficient markets, where risk according to portfolio theory, is defined as 'systematic risk only’. This model is also based on the one-share-one-vote rule that is followed in Anglo-American markets.
2. The corporate wealth maximisation model -  Generally characterises European and Japanese equity markets where shareholders (owners) constitute only one of many of the company's interest groups or stakeholders such as management, labour, the community,  suppliers, creditors and, at times, even the government and is based on a long-term perspective. Corporate wealth furthermore includes aspects such as technological, market and human resources (intellectual capital). Lastly, this model is based on total risk and is not concerned with efficient markets

10.1.2 WORKING CAPITAL AND GLOBAL MONEY MANAGEMENT (Pg 305)

Rugman and Hodgetts summarised the effective management of global cash flows and money as including:
1. Minimising cash balances 
2. Centralising depositories
3. Reducing transaction costs
4. Making optimal use of internal funds 
5. Positioning funds optimally using transfer pricing, multilateral netting, tax havens and fronting loans.






Minimising Cash Balances 
When firms hold cash in excess of the minimum requirements, they incur an opportunity cost - the interest or return lost on the best available investment opportunity for the firm. Traditionally, three motives determine the cash and liquidity levels of any firm: 
1. The transactions motive - The need to hold cash to satisfy normal payments of the firm's ongoing operations
2. The precautionary motive - The need to hold cash as a safety margin to serve as a financial reserve
3. The speculative motive - The need to hold cash to take advantage of potentially beneficial opportunities.
The higher the cash and short-term investments are, the lower the overall rate of return is to the firm. 

Centralising Depositories
Centralised pooling of cash reserves gives MNEs larger amounts to deposit to earn higher rates of return, especially if they are located in major financial centres. By pooling cash reserves, MNEs can also reduce the total amount of overall cash-holding.

Reducing Transaction Costs
Transaction costs include commission fees paid to foreign exchange dealers and often also include a transfer fee for moving cash from one location to another. These costs, which are characteristic of intra-firm transactions and transfers, can be huge with networks of subsidiaries in different countries. Multilateral netting is an approach that MNEs can use to reduce transaction costs related to foreign exchange dealings. 

Optimising the Use of Internal Funds
MNEs use a number of techniques to transfer funds between countries, including dividend remittances, royalty payments, licensing fees, transfer prices and fronting loans. When MNEs expand their international operations, the best source of additional funds is the firm's net working capital - difference between current assets and current liabilities. 
For example, should SABMiller wish to expand their operations in Hungary, the capital required for this purpose could possibly be derived from funds generated internally by the subsidiary in Hungary. Other MNE internal funding could include a loan from a local Hungarian bank that is guaranteed by the parent company or a loan from one of SABMiller's other foreign subsidiaries, such as in Poland. A third possibility involves the parent company increasing its equity investment in the subsidiary

Positioning Funds Optimally
To the extent that home- and host-government regulatory authorities allow the unrestricted transfer of funds. These techniques include transfer pricing, multilateral netting, tax havens and fronting loans which are briefly below.

Transfer Pricing
It is common practice in MNEs to transfer goods and services between the parent company and foreign subsidiaries. The transfer price is the internal price at which goods and services are transferred between entities within the MNE. The way in which this is achieved is explained as follows. 
Funds can be moved out of Country A by setting high transfer prices for the production inputs supplied to the subsidiary in Country A and setting low transfer prices for the products sourced from the subsidiary in Country A. In other words, there is a large outflow of funds relative to a small inflow of funds. Funds can also be moved to a specific country by doing the opposite. Transfer pricing can be used to address matters of tax liabilities, adverse exchange rate movements and cross-border charges.
Although transfer pricing has obvious benefits, there are also problems associated with it and few governments are favourably disposed toward it. 
Despite these illustrated advantages of transfer pricing, economists have highlighted some of its inherent problems as follows:
· Where transfer prices are used to reduce taxes and import duties, governments do not take kindly to the loss of potential tax revenue and duties.
· Where transfer prices are used to circumvent government restrictions on the flow of funds, such as restrictions on dividend remittances from the host country, manipulative measures are frowned on.
· Where the management incentives for subsidiaries are based on performance, the contrived bottom-line effects of transfer pricing defeats that purpose



Tax Havens
MNEs can also use tax havens to minimise their tax liability. These tax havens have a low or non-existent income tax rate, which permits MNEs either to avoid or to defer income taxes, depending on the tax laws of the home country.
A firm accomplishes this tax saving by establishing a wholly owned, non-operating subsidiary. This subsidiary owns the ordinary shares of the MNE's operating foreign subsidiaries. All transfers of funds from foreign subsidiaries to the parent company are channelled through the tax haven subsidiary. The tax on the foreign source income by the parent company's home government can then be deferred until such time as a dividend is declared or paid over to the parent company by this tax haven subsidiary

Fronting Loans
A fronting loan is described as 'a parent-to-subsidiary loan that is channeled through a financial intermediary, which is usually a large international bank’. 
In fronting loans, the parent company deposits the loan amount in an international bank, which then lends the same amount to the borrowing foreign subsidiary. The loan is risk-free because of the 100% collateral in the form of the parent company's deposit. Fronting is done:
· To circumvent host-country restrictions on the remittance of funds from a foreign subsidiary to a parent company.
· To provide tax advantages.

10.1.3 FOREX RISK MANAGEMENT (Pg 310)

THE foreign exchange rate risks and the corresponding ways in which MNEs can go about mitigating these risks. First, three main types of foreign exchange risk are:
1. Translation exposure
2. Transaction exposure
3. Economic exposure

Translation Exposure
The effects on financial statements of translating business activities of variously distributed foreign subsidiaries expressed in foreign locations' currencies to the reporting home currency of the parent MNE.
Translation exposure basically arises because a parent company must consolidate the financial statements of all its foreign subsidiaries into the parent company statement. This foreign exchange rate risk is sometimes called accounting exposure.
Where exchange rates fluctuate the value of account balances will change and could producing a loss or gain. The translation gain or loss is treated in one of the following two ways:
1. It is added to or subtracted from the net income in the consolidated income statement.
2. It is carried over to the shareholders' equity section in the consolidated balance sheet.

The rules of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in the USA have required translation of foreign currency financial statements by using the current rate method. According to the current rate method:
· All balance sheet assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the date of the balance sheet assembly.
· Income statement accounts are normally translated either by using the actual exchange rate on the dates the various incomes, expenses, gains and losses were incurred, or by using an appropriately weighted average exchange rate for the reporting period concerned.
· Dividends are translated at the exchange rate on the date of payment.
· Equity accounts are all translated using the historical exchange rate in force at the time the accounts were first introduced in the balance sheet

Transaction Exposure
Foreign exchange entitlements and obligations are susceptible to eventual value uncertainty due to fluctuation in exchange rates of the currencies in which these receivables and liabilities are denominated. This kind of uncertainty affects the original cash flows agreed to when the transactions occurred.
Transaction exposure can occur to buyers and sellers, and a gain or a loss would occur depending on the relative strength of the currency in which the transaction is invoiced
Economic Exposure
The extent to which a change in the bilateral exchange rate between two currencies of an MNE's dealings affects the present value of expected future cash flows to the MNE. Economic exposure differs from transaction and translation exposure in two important respects:
1. First, economic exposure is a subjective concept that is not easily identified or measured. 
2. Second, because of its long-term implications compared to those of transaction and translation exposures, which are short-term exposures, recognising and dealing with economic exposure is far more important 
Economic exposure is a complex phenomenon and covers a wide spectrum of diverse risks, from the pricing of products, sourcing of supplies, future sales potential and cost trends in foreign markets, to the geographical location of foreign investments. 
A major problem is the causes or potential causes of either beneficial or adverse future trends are not readily apparent. These include the trends in exchange rates and developments in foreign countries. 

MANAGING TRANSACTION AND TRANSLATION EXPOSURES
International firms can use several strategies and tactics to minimise the risk of loss as a result of adverse changes in exchange rates. 

Operating Financial Strategies
The aim of operating financial strategies is to minimise the effect of changing exchange rates on the local firm's profitability. In economies with high inflation, where currencies are expected to depreciate and prices to rise, host-country local subsidiaries should:
· collect their debts as quickly as possible
· concentrate on and encourage cash sales relative to credit sales
· delay, as far as possible, paying obligations denominated in local currency
· pay all debts that are denominated in strong currencies as quickly as possible 
· take the opportunity to buy fixed assets that are most likely to have a beneficial effect on cash flows in inflationary conditions
Lead strategies - involve the collection of foreign currency debts before they fall due if the currency they are denominated in is expected to depreciate, and to remit foreign currency payables before they are due if the currency of invoice is expected to appreciate. 
Lag strategies - involve delaying the collection of foreign currency debts if the foreign currency is expected to appreciate against the domestic currency, and delaying payables in foreign currency if their currency is expected to depreciate. 
Although lead and lag strategies make economic sense, some of the problems which they entail include the firm's lack of control over terms of payment and its possible weak bargaining position

Currency Forward Contracts
A currency forward contract is a financial contract that entitles and obligates its holder to buy or sell a unit of currency at an exchange rate agreed to on the date of the contract for execution at a stipulated future date. The purpose of the forward exchange contract was to minimise the possible effect of unfavourable exchange rate fluctuations

Currency Swaps
A currency swap is a financial contract that permits parties exposed to currencies for which they do not hold their wealth to swap them for preferred currencies for predetermined notional values and at a stipulated future date. What is important here, is that this avoids both transaction and translation exposures, which means that neither a long- term receivable nor a long-term debt is created on the balance sheet

Currency Options
A foreign currency option is a contract that entitles, but not obligates, the holder (buyer) to buy or sell a given amount of foreign exchange at a fixed unit price called the strike or exercise price at a future date or until expiry of that date at a price called the option premium.
Options provide more flexibility than forward exchange contracts because the buyer is not obliged to exercise the option if it is out of the money. The buyer of an option cannot lose more than the premium paid for the option.
Other Tactics
The above techniques can help the firm to hedge transaction exposure in particular. Other tactics that could be considered to reduce transaction and translation exposure in some cases include:
· Using transfer prices to move funds out of countries where a decline in currency values is expected 
· Using local debt financing to hedge against foreign exchange risk 
· Accelerating dividend payments from subsidiaries based in countries with weak currencies 
· Adjusting capital budgeting techniques to reflect potential foreign exchange risk.
· A balance sheet hedge is created when an MNE matches its assets denominated in a given currency with its liabilities denominated in that same currency across the MNE's subsidiaries. It reduces translation exposure. 

Reducing Economic Exposure
Due to the long-term nature of economic exposure and the difficulty of timely recognition, reducing it requires strategic choices that often lie outside the domain of financial management.
Strategies for hedging economic exposure include the distribution of the firm s facilities and productive assets to various optimal international locations. This will reduce the effects of adverse changes in exchange rates on the MNE when compared to the exposure to individual single locations.
It is important to monitor regularly the underlying factors and trends that can influence exchange rates, these possible macroeconomic determinants of exchange rates include the following:
· Interest and inflation rates in those countries where the firm's subsidiaries are located or with whom the MNE deals.
· Balance of payments performance of locations of the MNE's business
· Cost of key production inputs such as labour, raw materials and other resources
· Overall productivity in locations of the MNE's business






























STUDY UNIT 10.2 – INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

10.2.1 CAPITAL BUDGETING (Pg 318)

Capital budgeting for foreign investments uses the same theoretical framework as domestic capital budgeting. This means estimating all relevant (current and future) after-tax net cash flows of the prospective investment, and discounting these net cash flows to their total current value (present value) to ascertain by how much the investment would change the wealth of the MNE. This sum of all discounted net cash flows of the investment is termed net present value (NPV) of the investment. Because capital budgeting is considerably more complex for international investments than for purely domestic projects Eiteman et al. highlight the following as being vital considerations:
· A distinction must be made between cash flows to the project and cash flows to the parent company since a different view of value emanates from each of these two types of cash flow.
· Cash flows to the parent company often depend on the form or source of financing for the project. 
· The remittance of funds to the parent company must be recognised explicitly because of differing tax systems between countries, as well as political or legal constraints which could affect the international movement of funds.
· Differing rates of inflation between countries could affect competitive positions and thus the extent and value of cash flows over time.
· Unanticipated foreign exchange rate changes affect the value to the parent company of local project cash flows and accordingly have to be kept in mind in the capital budgeting analysis.
· Capital structure decisions and calculation of the cost of capital (as the discount rate), especially where host-country subsidised loans are used for project financing, are complicated.
· Political risk that arises from adverse political events could have a negative effect on the availability and extent of expected cash flows from a project. 
· Terminal value is more difficult to estimate because purchases from the host, parent or third countries, or from the private or public sector, may have widely divergent perspectives on the value of the project to them

10.2.1.1 PARENT AND PROJECT CASH FLOWS (Pg 319)

The arguments as to why foreign investments might be better analysed from a parent company viewpoint. The reasons why the parent company is primarily interested in the cash flows it will receive are the following:
· Subsidiaries (project) may not be able to remit all their cash flows to the parent company because cash flows may be blocked by the host-country government, they may be taxed at an unfavourable rate or part of the cash flows generated by the project may have to be reinvested in the host country.
· Cash flows to the parent company ultimately form the basis for dividend payments to parent-company shareholders, for reinvestment at home or in other foreign countries, and for the repayment of company debt.

	Cash flows
	Derivation of cash flow
	Impact on foreign tax liability

	Dividends
(financial cash flow)
	Distributed profits arise only from a foreign project with pos.-tve net income in the period.
	No impact on foreign tax liability because dividends are distributed after tax, but there may be dividend withholding tax.

	Intrafirm debt
(financial cash flow)
	Principal and interest payments flow back to the parent as scheduled in the loan agreement.
	Interest payments on debt (doth intra- and extrafirm) are deductable expenses of the project and therefore lower foreign tax liability

	Intrafirm sales
(operating cash flow)
	Purchases of products or services from the parent firm arise from the operating needs of the project.
	Intrafirm purchases or transfers are an operating cost of the foreign project and therefore Lower foreign tax liability.

	Royalties and license fees (operating cash flow)
	Royalties and other license fees are normally calculated as a percentage of the project's sales revenue or volume.
	Royalties and license fees are expenses of the foreign project and therefore lower foreign tax liability.






10.2.1.2 RISK AND CAPITAL BUDGETING (Pg321)
When analysing potential international capital investments, all relevant political and economic risks associated with these investments need to be considered

Political Risk
Political risks of relevance to foreign investments include the imposition of foreign trade and investment barriers, exchange controls, regulations blocking the remittance of earnings to parent companies, new tax regimes and increased tax rates. In extreme cases, expropriation of assets and the nationalisation of firms or an entire industry pose serious threats to subsidiaries of MNEs in particular.

Economic Risk
Economic risk relates to the possible mismanagement of a country's economy that could adversely affect the profitability, growth and survival of business enterprises located in that country. For instance, an expansionary monetary policy can heighten inflation usually leading to depreciation, with serious consequences for foreign investments in that country. Reliable information on macroeconomic trends, including interest rates, money supply, inflation rates, balance of payments data, foreign debt and long-term exchange rate forecasts, have to be evaluated with a view to their possible impact on cash flows.

Approaches to Risk Adjustment
The additional risk that stems from the location of a foreign project can be dealt with in one of the two following ways:
· First, treat all foreign risk as a single issue by increasing the discount rate applicable to foreign projects relative to the rate used for domestic projects. This will reflect the increased risk due to political, foreign exchange rate and other relevant risks.
· Second, adjust all relevant individual cash flow forecasts of the investment or project to reflect pertinent foreign risks

International capital budgeting analysis requires much more extensive information inputs, including economic, financial and risk characteristics forecasts of an investment in the context of its foreign location:
· The initial outlay of a foreign investment is more likely to be spread over several years than the initial outlay of a domestic investment.
· Working capital requirements, with consideration for their recoverability at investment's life end, can be sourced from diverse locations.
· Variable costs, fixed costs and inflation effects relating to a foreign investment are more involved than those of a domestic investment.
· The salvage value on termination of the project could be a net cash inflow or a net cash outflow.
· Tax implications relating to aspects such as operating income, depreciation, amortisation and salvage values, can be more flexible and amenable to higher cost savings in the international context.
· Cost of capital or required rate of return (adjusted for foreign risks where the risk-adjusted discount rate is used) can also be more flexible, due largely to MNEs' wider access to external finance

102.1.3 CAPITAL BUDGETING APPLICATIONS (Pg 322)

Assume that a South African company, Delphi Enterprises Limited, manufactures electronic components and has been exporting these products to a number of countries in the EU. Because of a recent demand for this product in Austria, the company is now thinking of establishing an operating facility in Austria to manufacture and market the product. The relevant information for a capital budgeting analysis has been obtained from various internal and external sources, and is summarised below:
· Initial investment - An estimated that an amount of €3.5 million, would be needed as an initial investment outlay. Assuming a spot rate of R10.00 per euro, the South African company's equity investment would currently be R35 million. No debt capital will be included in the financial structure of this venture. 
· Project life - The project life is estimated at four years, after which the Austrian government will take over the plant for a predetermined amount in accordance with certain provisions of their industrial development policy. 

· Demand and product price - Based on previous experience and recent market research data, the following price and demand schedules have been developed.
	Year
	Price per unit Austria (euro)
	Demand in units

	1
	€76
	40 000

	2
	€80
	50 000

	3
	€84
	70000

	4
	€88
	90 000



· Costs - These include variable costs per unit, leasing and fixed overheads:
· Total variable costs per unit (materials, direct labour and variable consumables) have been estimated as follows:
	Year
	Variable cost (VC) per unit

	1
	€46

	2
	€48

	3
	€50

	4
	€53



· Leasing of additional office and warehouse space is estimated at €80 000 per year.
· All other fixed overhead expenses are expected to be €400 000 per year. 
· Exchange rates - The spot exchange rate of the euro is R10.00. Delphi regards this spot rate as the best forecast for the exchange rate in future, which would be R10 for all relevant future periods - an extreme over-simplification.
· Host-country taxes on income earned by the Austrian subsidiary - The Austrian tax rate on income is assumed to be 30% and the withholding tax on dividends, interest and royalties remitted to Delphi in South Africa 10%, 0% and 20% respectively. 
· South African tax rate on income earned by the Austrian subsidiary - The South African Revenue Service will grant a tax credit on taxes paid in Austria, which means that the above remittances - in this case, dividends - will not be taxed further in South Africa (the South African corporate tax rate is 30%).
· Cash flows from Austrian subsidiary to South Africa parent company - The Austrian authorities will not restrict any cash flows sent to the parent company apart from the withholding taxes referred to above. The plan is that the subsidiary will send all net cash flow earnings received as dividends to the South African parent company at the end of each year.
· Depreciation - The Austrian authorities will allow depreciation of the cost of plant and equipment, including working capital, to a maximum rate of 10% (€350 000) per year, which rate will be used by the subsidiary.
· Salvage value - The Austrian government will make a payment of €500 000 to the parent company when it takes ownership at the end of the fourth year. No capital gains tax or withholding taxes are applicable in this case.
· Cost of capital or required rate of return (discount rate) - Delphi requires a 10% rate of return on projects of this kind, which includes an adjustment for risk.

The evaluation is done from the perspective of the parent company since it finances the entire subsidiary, receives all net cash flows at each year-end and will also receive the amount of €500 000 from the Austrian authorities when Delphi terminates its operation in Austria at the end of four years. If the present value of all relevant cash inflows exceeds the present value of all relevant cash outflows, the potential investment should be of benefit to Delphi. The analysis of this potential investment appears below and is calculated as follows:
1. The first step in the cash flow analysis is to use the price and demand data to estimate total income (lines 1 to 3).
2. Next, all expenses are calculated to estimate total expenses (lines 4 to 9).
3. Earnings before interest and taxes are calculated in the next step (line 10) by subtracting total expenses from total revenues (interest is not applicable to this example).
4. Host-government taxes (line 11) are deducted from before tax earnings to determine earnings after tax (line 12).
5. To calculate after-tax cash flow, depreciation is added back to after-tax earnings (line 13). This also constitutes remitted funds and line 14 therefore remains unchanged. All cash flows can be sent to the parent since the initial investment made provision for the subsidiary's ongoing working capital requirements.
6. The 10% withholding tax on dividends is now subtracted (line 15), resulting in the net amount to be remitted to the parent (line 16).
7. The salvage value appears in line 17.
8. The funds to be remitted are converted to rands at the prevailing exchange rate for each of the four years (line 18) and the parent company's cash flow from the subsidiary appears in line 19. The annual cash flows received from the Austrian subsidiary are not taxed in South Africa since the tax paid in Austria offsets any South African tax liability.
9. Given its superior theoretical soundness as a capital budgeting technique, the net present value (NPV) is chosen, and is mathematically represented as follows:
[image: ]
Where:
 	= investment outlay at time (period) t 
 	= after-tax net cash flow at time (period) t
k 	= required rate of return (discount rate)
n 	= expected life of the project (number of periods)
The present value of net cash flows for each period (or year) is calculated, using a discount rate of 10% (line 20).
10. The cumulative NPV is calculated (line 22) by subtracting the initial investment (line 21), while adding successive present values of net cash flows.

The critical end result of the entire capital budgeting analysis is the last figure of R1 846 473, a positive NPV for the project. This resultant positive NPV suggests that if Delphi Enterprises Limited embarks on this foreign investment, it would increase its current value by R1 846 473. Therefore, it is an attractive investment that the company should accept


	
	Year 0
	Year 1
	Year 2
	Year 3
	Year 4

	1. Demand (units)
	
	40 000
	
	70 000
	90 000

	2. Price per unit (€)
	
	76
	80
	84
	88

	3. Total revenue = (1) x (2) (€)
	
	3 040 000
	4 000 000
	5 880 000
	7 920 000

	4 Variable cost per unit (€)
	
	46
	48
	50
	53

	5. Total variable cost = (1) x (4) (€)
	
	1 840 000
	2400 000
	3500000
	4 770 000

	6. Annual lease expense (€)
	
	80 000
	80 000
	80 000
	80 000

	7. Other fixed annual expenses (€)
	
	400 000
	400 000
	400 000
	400 000

	8. Non-cash expense (depreciation) (€)
	
	350 000
	350 000
	350 000
	350 000

	9. Total expenses = (5) + (6) + (7) + (8) (€)
	
	2 670 000
	3 230 000
	4330 000
	5600 000

	10. Before-tax earnings of subsidiary = (3)- (9) (€)
	
	370 000
	770 000
	1 550 000
	2320 000

	11. Host-government tax (30%) (€)
	
	111 000
	231 000
	465 000
	690 000

	12. After-tax earnings of j§ subsidiary (€)
	
	259 000
	539 000
	1085 000
	1624 000

	13. Net cash flow to subsidiary - (12) + (8) (€)
	
	609 000
	889 000
	1435 000
	1 974 000

	14. Remitted by subsidiary
	
	609000
	889000
	1435000
	1974 000

	15. Withholding tax in remittance (10%)(€)
	
	60 900
	88 900
	143 500
	197 400

	16. Remitted after withholding tax
	
	548100
	800100
	1291 500
	1 776 600

	17. Salvage value (€)
	
	-
	-
	_
	500 000

	18. Exchange rate of €
	
	R10.00
	R10.00
	R10.00
	R10.00

	19. Cash flows to parent (R)
	
	5 481 000
	8 001 000
	12 915000
	22 766 000

	20. PV of parent cash flows (10% discount rate*) (R)
	
	4 982229
	6 612 026
	9 703 040
	15 549178

	21. Initial investment by parent (R)
	3 5000 000
	
	
	
	

	22. Cumulative NPV (R)
	
	-3 0017 771
	-2 3405 745
	-1 3702 705
	+1 846 473




10.2.2 INTERNATIONAL FINANCING DECISIONS (Pg 326)
The firm considers, first, the forms and sources of finance, and second, the capital structure to be achieved through an optimal combination of debt and equity capital that would minimise its cost of capital. The two main sources available to MNEs can be summed up as:
· Internal sources of funds - Figure 12.6 illustrates internal sources of funds and investment capital, as well as the various possibilities of internal financing, for a multinational enterprise., these include:
· Retained earning
· Equity investment
· Cash loans
· Leads and lags in paying intracompany accounts
· Subsidiary borrowing with parent company guarantee.
· External sources of funds - Many alternative sources of funds external to the MNE are available to finance foreign investments (subsidiaries). Figure 12.7 summarises the main categories of these sources, including:
· borrowing from sources in the home country of the MNE (parent company), mainly from banks, other financial institutions and from securities or money markets
· borrowing from outside the parent company's home country, which can include local currency (host-country) loans, third-country loans and Eurocurrency loans
· obtaining host-country equity from individual shareholders in the host country or from joint-venture partners where the subsidiary is not wholly owned.

10.2.2.1 FINANCIAL STRUCTURES AND COST OF CAPITAL (Pg 327)

International financing decisions should be based on a financial structure that minimises the cost of capital. However the financial manager has to consider a number of issues simultaneously for an optimal financial structure. These include:
· Minimising the cost of external funds after adjusting for foreign exchange rate and political risks
· Selecting internal financing sources that minimise political risk and tax liabilities worldwide
· Minimising the MNE’s worldwide consolidated cost of capital
· Positioning funds in an optimal way in the parent company and all its subsidiaries.
The MNE should choose a financial structure that minimises its own consolidated cost of capital, rather than that of its foreign subsidiary, despite a great variety of diverse practices in this regard which prevail in the international business environment

10.2.2.2 FINANCING INTERNATIONAL TRADE (Pg 328)

International Trade Relationships
The nature of the relationship between exporters and importers is vital to understanding the various approaches to import-export financing, the following three types of relationship:
1. Unaffiliated unknown - This is the case where the importer is a new customer with which the exporter has no previous relationship, the two parties will need to enter into a contract and seek protection against non-payment.
2. Unaffiliated known - The importer is a long-standing customer with which the exporter has an established relationship. 
3. Affiliated - This is where the importer is a foreign subsidiary of the exporting parent company. This is an intrafirm trade where business is generally conducted without a contract or protection against non-completion or non-payment

Trade Dilemma and Import/Export Financing
This fundamental dilemma of not trusting a stranger in a foreign country is solved by using reputable banks on both sides of the transaction as intermediaries. The following sections are the standard financial terms used in addressing the dilemma 
· Letter of credit (L/C) - are also known as commercial L/Cs or import/ export L/Cs. L/Cs can be revocable, i.e. cancelled, at any time without prior notification to the beneficiary. An irrevocable L/C cannot be cancelled or amended without the consent of the beneficiary. The bank issuing the L/C on request of the importer makes payment to the beneficiary (exporter) on presentation of documents that meet the requirements and conditions contained in the L/C. L/Cs are payable either on sight (on presentation) or at a specified future date.


· Draft or bill of exchange - is an instrument normally used in international trade to effect payment. It is an unconditional order by an exporter instructing an importer, or the importer's agent, to pay the face amount of the draft on sight or at a specified future date (time draft). When presented under an L/C, the draft represents the exporter's formal demand for payment. The time period or tenor could vary from 30 to 180 days.
· Bill of lading - is issued to the exporter by the common carrier transporting the product and serves as a receipt, a contract and a document of title. As a receipt, it confirms that the carrier has received the product. As a contract, it specifies the obligation of the carrier to transport the product at a cost. As a document of title, it can be used to obtain payment before release of the product to the importer.
· Commercial invoice - A commercial invoice is the exporter's description of the product being shipped to the importer. It normally contains:
· names and addresses of the seller and buyer 
· date 
· terms of payment 
· price, including freight, handling and insurance as applicable
· quantity 
· weight,	packaging and shipping information.
It is important that the description of the product in invoice corresponds exactly with that contained in the L/C.

10.2.2.3 FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE (Pg 331)

ESSENCE OF DISCLOSURE
Disclosure is broadly defined as the release of relevant information. It is commonly used in the field of accounting and finance. In accounting, the term refers to the release of financial and non-financial information about a company enabling its users to make important decisions. A company's annual report serves as a mode for the release of this information. From a financial perspective, such information should enable the users of the financial statements to make informed financial decisions. 

Mandatory Disclosure  - refers to information that is required by statute, stock exchanges or prescribers of accounting standards and is accomplished through company financial statements, which comprise mainly the income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements. These financial statements should contain information that will allow users to make decisions and the efficient use of scarce resources.

Voluntary Disclosure - Is the disclosure of information in excess of that required by accounting standards. In this case, company management provides additional accounting and other information it deems relevant to the decision-making needs of stakeholders.
One of the reasons is to control the conflict of interest and to provide stakeholders with non-financial information. Useful corporate information is considered to be the first step in alleviating the problems encountered with traditional financial reporting.
Two main benefits of voluntary disclosure are the offsetting of the shortcomings of capital-market-oriented traditional financial reporting, as well as the reduction in share-price volatility and insider trading. This decreases the cost of equity capital. 

Disclosing company information through financial statements
Companies disclose information about themselves by means of financial statements. These firms also voluntarily publish additional information to be used by stakeholders such as financial analysts, creditors and investors.
· Income statement and statement of comprehensive income - Total comprehensive income can be presented in a single statement of comprehensive income in which all items of income and expenses are recognised in the period. A statement of comprehensive income indicates how shareholders' wealth has increased through both trading and non-trading activities. 
· Balance sheet - or statement of financial position shows the company's assets and liabilities. These are further classified into non-current assets and liabilities, and current assets and liabilities. The assets of the company are either purchased by the firm or are generated through operations. 
· Statement of cash flows - reports cash receipts and payments for the period in which they occurred. These receipts and payments are classified in terms of operating, investing and financing activities. The cash flow information explains the changes in the balance sheet and supplements the information provided in the income statement
· Statement of changes in equity - reports the amounts and sources of changes in equity from capital transactions by the owners. It includes items such as shares, additional paid-in capital retained, earnings and repurchased equity. 

10.2.2.5 HARMONISATION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Pg 333)

Accounting standards are set by the Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) and augmented by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). These standards are called the US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). Internationally, accounting standards are set by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB), to harmonise the accounting standards of different nations. These standards are called the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The two main advantages of the harmonisation process are comparability and consistency. 

Role of the Auditor
An auditor is an independent accountant responsible for examining the financial statements prepared by management to determine if they are fairly presented and are in compliance with the IFRS or US GAAP. The auditor attests to the proper disclosure of the company's financial performance and position.
· An unqualified opinion of an auditor is not a method of disclosure but that may be viewed as an indication that the level of disclosure by a company is adequate. 
· A qualified opinion indicates that the financial statements are presented fairly except for those aspects to which the qualification relates. An auditor issues this type of report when circumstances prevent the auditor from performing all audit procedures necessary to comply or when the financial statements contain a material departure or when the financial statements are incomplete.
· A disclaimer opinion states that the auditor cannot express an opinion on the financial statements because there is a concern about the viability of the company as a going concern in the foreseeable future or the auditor has not been able to gather all the necessary evidence to support some line items appearing in the financial statements.
· An adverse opinion is expressed when the financial statements are not prepared according to the IFRS or US GAAP
























TOPIC 11 – AFRICA AND THE GLOBAL BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT
STUDY UNIT 11.1 – AFRICA’S GROWTH PERFORMANCE

11.1.1 AFRICA’S GROWTH PERFORMANCE (Pg 349)

The New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) has been Africa's response to its challenge of underdevelopment.
NEPAD recognises the key areas that the countries of Africa need to address. It deals with issues of political governance, democracy and security, economic and corporate governance and regional approaches to development. NEPAD declares Africa open for business. This is a deep-seated paradigm shift from the inward- looking statism of the past. Instead of resisting globalisation, Africa is embracing it.
NEPAD emphasises the importance of markets and of providing an environment conducive to foreign direct investment. It is primarily concerned with the reduction of risk attached to doing business - political, economic and social risk. As such, NEPAD seeks to provide international business with an environment with which it is more familiar. As a result, the reasons for doing business in Africa are growing and it is the right time for us to explore the dynamics of doing business on the continent

The Economic Growth Performance of Africa over the past few decades has confounded economists. Real growth per capita for SSA hovered just under 1% for the period 1965-2008. 
· Post-war, or old, growth theory believed that by mobilising the right quantity of savings and investment, an increase in the rate of aggregate growth would be generated. This would lead to a higher equilibrium growth path, in which a higher level of per capita GDP and capital stock. The net result was that the theory predicted that conditional convergence would occur between low- and high-income countries. 
· New, or endogenous, growth theory has provided some of the answers as to why Africa has not experienced convergence with the industrialised world. The focus is on the impact of globalisation on Africa's economic development by factors relevant to growth such as its institutions and human capital, and its ability to participate in and affect the very process of globalisation.

Africa's Participation in Globalisation
Sub Saharan Africa (SSA) performs consistently below the world average in terms of average annual growth rates of exports and those of developed countries. Since 1970, it has also lagged those of developing countries. Since 2000, SSA has been experiencing more rapid export growth led largely by an increase in demand for primary commodities. The relatively slow growth in exports since 1950 in SSA means that its share of world exports has also been on the decline. 
Worldwide FDI inflows rose dramatically from 1980 to 2000 although they have subsequently fallen. However, SSA's share of these international inflows on average remained around 1%. Four countries within this group accounted for almost half these inflows. The developed world accounted for 85% of these flows. Inflows for the developing world rose from 15% to almost 30% over the same period. This is largely accounted for by East Asia.
The lack of FDI has both an external and internal dimension. Investment is not forthcoming is that the risk of doing business on the continent is seen as too high due to high levels of political and policy instability. The very fact that Africa has been ignored economically implies that there are a myriad untapped opportunities awaiting business and investment with higher returns.
Africa's lack of success is to be seen at the corporate level. Transnational corporations (TNCs) play an important role in applying advanced technology, managerial practices, stimulating international trade and capital flows. Of the 80 largest TNCs, not one came from a developing country. Of the 50 largest TNCs from the developing world, only four came from Africa (35 were Asian) and all of these were from South Africa. 

11.1.2 AFRICA’SINSTITUTIONAL PERFORMACE (Pg 350)

Living Standards
Living standards in Africa have by and large improved, they have not kept pace with improvements elsewhere. The result is that living standards are falling relatively further behind in the quality of life dimension.
Income levels in SSA worsened dramatically with the per capita income ratio falling from a ninth of that in OECD countries in 1960 to an eighteenth by 2008.
Poverty rose during the 1990s. While 71% of the poor live in South and East Asia, as one would expect given the sheer size of the population, SSA has the second largest share with 17%. Poverty has increased more rapidly in SSA, namely by 22%. Also, just over 48% of the population in SSA live on less than $1 a day, more than double that for the developing world as a whole. 
These poverty and inequality measures translate into relatively poor human development indicators. The most telling reality is that related to life expectancy of 51.5 in SSA is around 28 years lower than that in the OECD. No region has a life expectancy below 64. SSA scores the worst in educational enrolment, GDP per capita and the overall human development index

Health
Almost a third of the population in SSA is undernourished compared to an average of 16% in developing countries. Under-five mortality rates (per 1 000 live births) in SSA is 179, which is double that for developing countries. The incidence of tuberculosis in SSA is 70% higher than that of developing countries. We are not just talking about numbers, which are easy to dismiss, but rather the very nature and quality of human life.
Statistics on HIV/AIDS infections are almost seven times the average for developing countries. In no other region is this proportion above 1.3%. By the end of 2000, 70% of the people living with HIV/AIDS and 80% of the children were in SSA. Three quarters of people worldwide who have died of AIDS lived in Africa. 
SSA already suffers from acute shortages of skilled people and this disease decimates the working-age populace. Life expectancy is falling rapidly. AIDS orphans have become a serious problem. The direct impact of this disease on health budgets with the cost of treating all infected people with antiretroviral drugs at global market prices
Then there are the losses from absenteeism, in labour productivity and income. This, in turn, affects savings, slows down investment rates and lowers economic growth. There are signs in a number of African countries that this scourge has now been contained and that the rate of infection has begun to slow down.

Governance
Blame regarding Africa's marginalisation can be laid at the door of poor governance, political instability and kleptocratic dictatorships that led to economic mismanagement. Luiz highlights archetypical predatory states in Africa where 'governance' is based on a system of patronage and personal accumulation with devastating economic consequences. The differences in economic growth rates can be traced back to the capacity of the state and its ability to provide a political environment conducive to the growth process.
New growth theory has emphasised the importance of political stability and good institutions that protect property rights, enforce contracts and provide transparent, accountable government. These conditions have, by and large, not been met in Africa.
Only 7% were removed from office by election. African leaders are notorious for their long tenure. The mean tenure for all African leaders is 7.2 years compared to the European average of 3.2 years over the past four decades. The African Development Bank points out that a correlation exists between the hazards of leadership and the degree of economic freedom. 
Democracy leads to legitimacy and hence a more secure power base which, in turn, promotes sound economic policy. While we cannot go so far as to claim that good governance is the panacea for African development, it is surely a vitally important element of an overall strategy. It is getting better - since the early 1990s, direct multiparty elections have been held in more than 40 sub- Saharan African countries. 

Civil War and Conflict
Cross-country differences in public policies, political instability and other factors associated with long-term growth. They further assert that not only does ethnic diversity have economic importance, but that it helps account for Africa's growth tragedy. Centrally is the issue that the level of ethnic fractionalisation has a bearing on the potential for distributional conflict. 26 African conflicts took place between 1963 and 1998, affecting some 474 million Africans or 61% of the population. The reasons for these conflicts relate to ethnicity, power sharing, factional rivalries, destabilisation by mercenaries, human rights violations and geopolitics. The costs associated are impossible to calculate, but Collier identified five effects:
1. The destruction of physical and human capital 
2. A reduction in savings
3. Diversion of portfolios from domestic investment to capital flight
4. Disruption of economic transactions
5. Distortion of government expenditure from the provision of public services to military expenditure.

Corruption
Corruption undermines development, raises transaction costs, increases insecurity and uncertainty, and undermines government actions. It is more problematic in developing countries because its cost is relatively higher and it is often borne disproportionately by the poor who have to pay bribes to obtain services due to them and who suffer the most when the economy declines as a result. Corruption also results in capital outflows as these moneys are siphoned off into foreign bank accounts. In Africa, corruption is generally the rule rather than the exception. Developing countries rank at the bottom of the list. The perception is enough to yield negative consequences.
The cost of corruption in Africa has been substantial, the cost manifests in ways in:
· It increases the price tag of development programmes.
· it has raised the cost of doing business on the continent 
· Acted as a disincentive to foreign investment
· It undermines revenue collection and contributes to macroeconomic imbalance.
· It leads to a diversion of resources from their intended purposes and distorts public policy.
· It encourages public officials to spawn projects of little economic merit and subverts essential public regulatory frameworks.

Democracy
Good governance is a necessary but insufficient condition for economic development. Government accountability is a condition of good governance. Democracy provides one such avenue of accountability. 
Democracy must include checks and balances on government power, freedom of the press, freedom of association and expression, the rule of law and respect for the constitution, access to information, and other such criteria. It is an essential component of fundamental development and the freedom of choice, freedom from servitude and freedom from need.






























STUDY UNIT 11.2 – AFRICA’S TECHNOLOGICAL PERFORMANCE

11.2.1 AFRICA’S TECHNOLOGICAL CHALLENGES (Pg 357)

Economists have recognised technological advances as a key driving force in the economic growth process. Technology has, on average, improved everyone's quality of life. Technological progress accounted for 40-50% of mortality reductions between 1960 and 1990. It increased food production and reduced food prices, the cost of transmitting information has been slashed, and biotechnology holds the promise of enormous benefits. While we have all gained from technology, some have gained a whole lot more than others and this gap is widening all the time
Technology hubs
In 2000, Wired magazine set out to find the locations that mattered the most in the new digital geography. Locations were rated in four areas:
· The ability of area universities and research facilities to train skilled workers or develop new technologies
· The presence of established companies and mnes to provide expertise and economic stability
· The population's entrepreneurial drive to start new ventures
· The availability of venture capital to ensure that the ideas make it to market.

11.2.2 AFRICA’S TECHNOLOGICAL INFRASTRUCTURE (Pg 357)

While high-technology exports make up about a quarter of total manufactured exports in industrialised countries, this lies well below 10% in SSA. SSA does not feature at all when it comes to patents granted to residents per million. Even when it comes down to something as basic as per capita electricity consumption, SSA consumes about a tenth of that in industrialised countries.

Investment in Technology
Technological outcomes are the result of long-term investments made in the area of human capital creation and research development. Africa will not become part of this knowledge economy unless it corrects for these investment deficiencies that prevent it from participating in the fruits of technology.
Technology can either cause Africa to leapfrog development stages and catch up or it can be the cause of its ultimate marginalisation. There are some real advantages to not being the front-runner as followers do not face the same risks, can avoid mistakes and can adapt technologies appropriately. New technologies destroy old technologies and since Africa has little existing technology, this could be a boon. The falling price of communications and transport means that they can borrow knowledge and technology from rich countries. He says that the 'new' economy is a two-edged sword:
· It could leave behind Third World places that are too unskilled, too backward technologically, or too hostile to enterprise, but it could mean the decentralization of production to other Third World centers leapfrogging to the frontier.30
To be a player, Africa is going to have to address the underlying conditions that will allow its people to participate and this begins with education. This does not negate the importance of various institutional factors and the myriad other factors likely to affect participation in technological progress.













STUDY UNIT 11.3 – AFRICA’S DEVELOPMENT PROSPECTS

11.3.1 AFRICA IN THE GLOBAL ECONOMY (Pg 359)

While the rich countries in their rhetoric emphasise their commitment to global poverty reduction and economic upliftment, the reality portrays a very different scenario. When developing countries export to industrialised countries, they face tariff barriers that are four times higher than those encountered by rich countries. The rich countries are thus giving with the one hand and taking with the other
While the developing countries were given a commitment from the developed world during the Uruguay Round to open up market access to those products in which they were competitive, this has not been realised. Among industrial products, this means primarily textiles, clothing and leather products. A second area where developing countries have a comparative advantage is agriculture, but here again a fair trading system does not exist despite the fact that the preamble to the Uruguay Round promises the establishment of a fair, market-oriented agricultural system.
Giving aid and then shutting off markets is hypocrisy and if the developed world is serious about addressing underdevelopment, then they need to act decisively:
· Rich countries must open their markets to exports from developing countries and slash their enormous agricultural subsidies which currently exceed $350 billion.
· Wealthy countries should increase their foreign aid. The OECD's target for development assistance is 0.7% of GDP, but this fell from 0.33% to 0.22% between 1987 and 2000 - its smallest proportion since it was institutionalised with the Marshall Plan in 1947.
· They should support debt relief for reformers which will allow Africa to participate more In the process of globalisation.
· They need to promote fairer patent rules that ensure that poor countries can afford new technologies and basic medicines.

11.3.2 AFRICA’S DEVELOPMENT PROSPECTS (Pg 363)

Africa has to accept much of the blame for its economic marginalisation. At the time that the rest of the world opened up their economies and adopted more market-oriented policies, Africa turned inward and isolationist. Africa was seen as a high-risk investment and, as a result, the average expected rate of return was higher than anywhere else. Investors expected a much higher return to compensate them for the higher risk and this was not forthcoming. The cost of doing business is also too high. African currencies are often not tradeable which means the US dollar has become the de facto African currency. This drives up costs. Steep costs are further fuelled by a lack of infrastructure, a lack of decent roads make it necessary to use charter planes, and ports are among the most expensive in the world.
Developing countries need to adopt a programme of action that addresses both the domestic and international features of their underdevelopment, suffice to say that the key principles on which NEPAD is based are:
· African ownership and responsibility for the continent's development
· The promotion and advancement of democracy, human rights, good governance and accountable leadership
· Self-reliant development to reduce dependency on aid
· Building capacity in African institutions
· Promoting intra-Africa trade and investment
· Accelerating regional economic integration
· Advancing women
· Strengthening Africa's voice in international forums
· Forging partnerships with African civil society, the private sector, other African countries and the international community




There are still a number of challenges facing the continent that need to be addressed to ensure sustainable economic progress. These include the following:
1. The first challenge is to strengthen and sustain progressive political leadership. 
2. The second is to build the capacity of African institutions - national governments, regional economic communities and the African Union (AU).
3. The third is to address the heavy burden of diseases, particularly AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria, place on the continent's socioeconomic development.
4. The fourth is to speed up the integration of NEPAD indicative plans into national development programmes which enable the realisation of the Millennium Development Goals and sustainable development.
5. The fifth is to change the manner in which the multilateral development- finance institutions, in particular the African Development Bank, World Bank and the EU Commission, support infrastructure development in Africa.
6. The sixth is to strengthen the private sector and attract more foreign direct investment.
7. The seventh is to speed up the implementation of the African Peer Review Mechanism to foster political, economic and corporate good governance.
8. The eighth is to address the impediments to the effectiveness of development assistance so as to increase its capacity to absorb and efficiently use increased funds.
9. The ninth is to convert the promises of the highly industrialised countries into concrete actions such as significant increases in development assistance flows, harmonisation and simplification of aid procedures, 100% cancellation of debt and phasing out of trade-distorting agricultural subsidies

11.3.3 AFRICA’S BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT (Pg 365)

The World Bank report on doing business outlines the regulatory environment that businesses face around the world and highlights the relatively higher costs of doing business in developing versus developed economies. It concludes the following:
· Businesses in poor countries face much larger regulatory burdens than those in rich countries. 
· Heavy regulation and weak property rights exclude the poor from doing business. 
· The payoffs from reform appear large. A hypothetical improvement to the top quartile of countries on the ease of doing business is associated with up to 2% more annual economic growth

If we look at the Rigidity of Employment Index, we see that African countries score among the worst in terms of this labour market flexibility. This Index is the average of three sub-indices:
1. A difficulty-of-hiring index that includes information on the ratio of the mandated minimum wage to the average value-added per working population and the maximum duration of term contracts
2. A rigidity-of-hours index that includes whether night and weekend work is allowed, the length of the work week and the number of paid vacation days
3. A difficulty-of-firing index that includes whether redundancy is grounds for dismissal and the procedures concerning firing redundant workers

The impact of regulatory reform is highly significant. Countries that have reformed the most have attracted more investment and higher growth, and also have better human development indicators. The gains come from two sources: 
1. Businesses spend less time and money on dealing with regulations and chasing after scarce sources of finance and instead spend their energies on producing and marketing their goods. 
2. The government spends fewer resources regulating and more providing basic social services. The benefits of regulatory reform are likely to be even greater in developing countries which regulate more






Why do business in Africa?
Recent work highlight the following positive aspects related to business development in Africa:
· Africa offers the highest return on FDI in the world, far exceeding all other regions. It is also not as competitive as the BRICS countries. 
· If Africa were a single country, it would be the tenth largest economy ahead of India, Brazil and Russia.
· Africa offers a consumer base of more than 900 million people. While more than half of Africa lives on $1 or less a day, the other half does not, and they are hungry for products and services.

In terms of business opportunities, they underscore the following:
· Ironically, Africa's very poverty creates opportunities in education, health care, infrastructure, banking the unbanked and middle-class aspirational consumer goods.
· One of the fastest growth areas is telecommunications. Between 1999 and 2004, cell phone use in Africa grew at an annual rate of 58%, whereas in Asia, the region with the next highest growth, cell phone use grew at 35%.
· Africa is of increasing strategic interest to the global economy. The continent is expected to provide the USA with more petroleum than the Middle East. 
· The risks of investing in Africa remain high, just as they are for most emerging markets, but the perceived risk is much greater than the real risk. Once the risk goes down, the returns will not be as good. The key is the management of that risk.
· It is a large, complex continent, but the good news is that there is increasing regional integration. The intention is to create a single unified market by 2025 which will make it even more attractive and simpler to do business
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